### DISSERTATION

## DETECTION OF UNHEALTY COMMUNICATION PATTERNS IN ROMANTIC RELATIONSHIPS

Submitted by

Amy D. Smith

Department of Human Development and Family Studies

In partial fulfillment of the requirements

For the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Colorado State University

Fort Collins, Colorado

Spring 2020

Doctoral Committee:

Advisor: Kelley Quirk

Meara Faw Ashley Harvey Rachel Lucas-Thompson Copyright by Amy Danielle Smith 2020

All Rights Reserved

#### ABSTRACT

# DETECTION OF UNHEALTHY COMMUNICATION PATTERNS IN ROMANTIC RELATIONSHIPS

Unhealthy communication expressions are predictive of distress and poor functioning in romantic relationships yet the ability to detect these expressions is understudied. Study 1 presents the validation of a new procedure allowing for the objective assessment of detection abilities producing a final set of 15 videos (11 unhealthy interactions and 4 neutral conflict interactions). Six real-life couples volunteered to film four two-minute videos each for the creation of this procedure. Each couple was asked to portray three interactions including an assigned unhealthy communication expression and one neutral interaction on topics of their choice. The total sample of 24 videos were viewed by Gottman Couple Therapy Level 1 or Level 2 certified couples' therapists currently enrolled in or recently graduated from a COAMFTE-accredited Marriage and Family Therapy graduate program. Each therapist rated the videos on whether the video showed unhealthy communication expressions, their concern for the relationship based on the interaction, and the level of satisfaction they perceived the couple had with their relationship. Nine videos failed to be validated with two videos having contradictory ratings in their portrayal of unhealthy communication patterns from what was intended, two for having low levels of internal reliability related to concern for the relationship, two for ratings of level of concern inconsistent with the hypothesis, and three for ratings of level of satisfaction inconsistent with the hypothesis. Implications for the use of this procedure in future research are provided.

ii

In Study 2, binary logistic regression models were used to explore individual level predictors of observed detection abilities based on four of the videos validated in Study 1. Participants were asked to view the series of four videos, two of which portrayed unhealthy communication patterns and two of which portrayed neutral conflict interactions. Based on Social Learning Theory and documented errors in directed attention, three early childhood variables (attachment, interparental conflict, and betrayal trauma) and two attention related variables (dissociation and mindfulness) were tested. Results revealed that self-blame related to interparental conflict predicted lower detection abilities, including both over- and under-detection and trait dissociation predicted under-detection. Attachment anxiety, attachment avoidance, betrayal trauma, and trait mindfulness were not significant predictors of detection ability. A discussion of the findings and implications for future research are provided.

Study 3 was designed to evaluate the effectiveness of a mindfulness-based relationship education program for individuals at improving the ability to form healthy relationships including the ability to detect early warning signs of unhealthy relationships, confidence in making decisions in relationships, use of skillful communication, and relationship satisfaction. . Participants were undergraduate students currently enrolled in a college course on intervention and prevention programs and were randomly assigned to two conditions: (1) relationship education program with a mindfulness component or (2) standard relationship education program. Repeated-measures ANOVAs revealed significant pre-/post-test differences related to confidence in the ability to detect early warning signs of unhealthy relationship functioning and trend level differences in confidence in decision making and skillful communication. No

iii

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my sincere thanks and deep appreciation to the following people, without whom I would not have been able to complete this dissertation project and would not have completed my doctoral degree. As this is not a conclusive list, and I would first like to thank everyone who has helped contribute to my success in this program and the completion of this dissertation.

I am very grateful to my faculty adviser, Dr. Kelley Quirk, who has provided me with many opportunities, as well as the freedom to explore many different interests. From you, I have learned so much, including things that I did not think to ask, which I firmly believe will provide me with a solid foundation for my future endeavors. Your unwavering confidence in me combined with your willingness to challenge me has been instrumental in my development. You took a risk accepting me as your first doctoral student and I am very grateful.

Next, I would like to extend my sincerest thanks to my committee, Dr. Rachel Lucas-Thompson, Dr. Ashley Harvey, and Dr. Meara Faw for your continued support throughout this project, your thoughtful feedback, and your willingness to meet with me to brainstorm, offer guidance and advice, and sincere encouragement. You have each provided me with motivation, reassurance, valuable insight, and numerous helpful suggestions throughout the completion of this project and my degree.

iv

I would also like to thank the following faculty members who, through providing me with additional opportunities to work with them on research or in the classroom, have been instrumental in my skill development: Dr. Jennifer Aberle, Dr. Lauren Shomaker, Dr. Toni Zimmerman, Dr. Jennifer Krafchick, Dr. Shelley Haddock, and Dr. Samantha Brown. Not only have each of you provided me with unique opportunities that have helped to shape me as a teacher and as a researcher, but in your own, unique ways, each of you has stood by me, supported me, and given me confidence when my own was lacking.

I cannot begin to express my thanks to my parents for always believing in me, always encouraging me, and always reminding me that I am enough. You have shown your love and support for me in more ways than I can count. Your unwavering belief in me means more than I can ever put into words. And to M. K. and H. P., thank you for your motivation and company throughout the writing of this project and for reminding me to enjoy the simple moments in life.

Lastly, I would like to thank God, who I have seen work all things for good. I thank you for your promises, your faithfulness, and for the plans you have for my future.

### DEDICATION

To Lisa,

For clapping when I jumped rope with an imaginary rope (and all the other times).

Thank you for your unwavering confidence in me.

Love always, "Bearykins"

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
DEDICATION	vi
LIST OF TABLES	X
LIST OF KEYWORDS	xiii
Chapter 1 – Introduction	1
Chapter 2 – Study 1 Literature Review	5
Existing Measurement of Unhealthy Romantic Relationship Communication Pattern	
Assessment of Awareness of Warning Signs	
Rationale for New Procedure	9
Hypotheses for Study 1	10
Chapter 3 – Study 1 Methods	13
Participants	13
Procedure	13
Video Development Procedure	
Validation Procedure	
Data Analysis	15
Descriptive Statistic Tables for Study 1	
Chapter 4 – Study 1 Results	
Concern for the Relationship	
Relationship Satisfaction	
Differences Between Unhealthy Communication Patterns and Neutral Videos	
Data Analytic Tables for Study 1	
Chapter 5 – Study 1 Discussion	
Limitations	
Implications	
Chapter 6 – Study 2 Literature Review.	40
Defining Detection	40
Childhood Experiences and Variation in Detection Abilities	
Attachment	43
Exposure to Interparental Conflict	
Betrayal Trauma	48
Directed Attention	50
Dissociation	
Mindfulness	
Hypotheses for Study 2	
Chapter 7 – Study 2 Methods	
Participants	
Procedure	
Measures	
Detection of Unhealthy Communication Patterns	
Attachment	

Interparental Conflict	
Betrayal Trauma	
Dissociation	
Mindfulness	
Data Analysis	
Descriptive Statistic Tables for Study 2	
Chapter 8 – Study 2 Results	
Data Analytic Tables for Study 2	
Chapter 9 – Study 2 Discussion	
Early Childhood Experiences	
Attachment	
Betrayal Trauma	
Exposure to Interparental Conflict	
Directed Attention	
Dissociation	
Mindfulness	
Limitations	
Implications	
Chapter 10 – Study 3 Literature Review	
Relationship Education	
Within My Reach	
Anticipated Outcomes	
Mindfulness	
Study 3 Hypotheses	
Chapter 11 – Study 3 Methods	
Participants	
Procedure	
Measures	
Detection and Decision Making	
Skillful Communication	
Relationship Satisfaction	
Mindful Partnering	
Data Analysis	
Descriptive Statistic Tables for Study 3	
Chapter 12 – Study 3 Results	
Within Group Differences	
Between Group Differences	
Data Analytic Table for Study 3	114
Chapter 13 – Study 3 Discussion	
Confidence in Detecting Warning Signs of Unhealthy Relationships	
Confidence in Decision Making and Positive Communication Skills	117
Relationship Satisfaction	
Mindfulness	
Limitations	
Power	
Characteristics of Sample	

Missing Data	
Implications	
Chapter 14 – Conclusion	
Future Directions	
References	
	150

LIST	OF	TAE	BLES
------	----	-----	------

Table 1.1	7
Descriptive Information of Video Content and Couple Demographic Information	
Table 1.2	20
Descriptive Statistics for Unhealthy Communication Pattern Video Ratings	
Table 1.32	1
Descriptive Statistics for Neutral Video Ratings	
Table 1.42	27
One-Sample t-Test for Presence of Unhealthy Communication Patterns in Unhealthy Communication Patterns Videos	
-	28
One-Sample t-Test for Presence of Unhealthy Communication Patterns in Neutral Video	
	.9
One-Sample t-Test for Concern for Relationship in Unhealthy Communication Patterns Videos	
	0
One-Sample t-Test for Concern for Relationship in Neutral Videos	
Table 1.83	1
One-Sample t-Test for Future Violence in Unhealthy Communication Patterns Videos	_
	2
One-Sample t-Test for Relationship Satisfaction in Unhealthy Communication Patterns Videos	
	3
One-Sample t-Test for Relationship Satisfaction in Neutral Videos	
Table 1.11	
Paired-Samples t-Test Comparisons of Presence of Unhealthy Communication Patterns, Concern for Relationship, and Relationship Satisfaction between Video Types	
Table 2.1	2
Key Participant Demographics for Study 2	
Table 2.2	3
Descriptive Statistics for Key Variables in Study 2	
Table 2.3	7
Multinomial Logistic Regression Coefficients for Attachment Style on Detection Abilities in Videos Portraying Unhealthy Communication Patterns	1
Table 2.4	8
Multinomial Logistic Regression Coefficients for Attachment Style on Detection Abilities in Videos Portraying Neutral Conflict Interactions	1
Table 2.5	9
Multinomial Logistic Regression Coefficients for Exposure to Interparental Conflict on Detection Abilities in Videos Portraying Unhealthy Communication Patterns	

Table 2.6	70
Multinomial Logistic Regression Coefficients for Exposure to Interparental Conflict on Detection Abilities in Videos Portraying Natural Conflict Interaction	
	71
Multinomial Logistic Regression Coefficients for Betrayal Trauma on Detection Abilitie in Videos Portraying Unhealthy Communication Patterns	25
Table 2.8	72
Multinomial Logistic Regression Coefficients for Betrayal Trauma on Detection Abilitie in Videos Portraying Neutral Conflict Interactions	?S
Table 2.9	73
Multinomial Logistic Regression Coefficients for Dissociation on Detection Abilities in Videos Portraying Unhealthy Communication Patterns	
Table 2.10	74
Multinomial Logistic Regression Coefficients for Dissociation on Detection Abilities in Videos Portraying Neutral Conflict Interactions	
Table 2.11	75
Multinomial Logistic Regression Coefficients for Mindfulness on Detection Abilities in Videos Portraying Unhealthy Communication Patterns	
	76
Multinomial Logistic Regression Coefficients for Mindfulness on Detection Abilities in Videos Portraying Neutral Conflict Interactions	
Table 2.13	77
Binary Logistic Regression Coefficients for Attachment Style on Detection Abilities in Videos Portraying Unhealthy Communication Patterns	
Table 2.14	78
Binary Logistic Regression Coefficients for Attachment Style on Detection Abilities in Videos Portraying Neutral Conflict Interactions	
	79
Binary Logistic Regression Coefficients for Exposure to Interparental Conflict on Detection Abilities in Videos Portraying Unhealthy Communication Patterns	
	80
Binary Logistic Regression Coefficients for Exposure to Interparental Conflict on Detection Abilities in Videos Portraying Natural Conflict Interaction	
Table 2.1.7	81
Binary Logistic Regression Coefficients for Betrayal Trauma on Detection Abilities in Videos Portraying Unhealthy Communication Patterns	
Table 2.18	82
Binary Logistic Regression Coefficients for Betrayal Trauma on Detection Abilities in Videos Portraying Neutral Conflict Interactions	
	83
Binary Logistic Regression Coefficients for Dissociation on Detection Abilities in Video Portraying Unhealthy Communication Patterns	) <i>S</i>
	84
Binary Logistic Regression Coefficients for Dissociation on Detection Abilities in Video Portraying Neutral Conflict Interactions	) <i>S</i>

Table 2.21	
Binary Logistic Regression Coefficients for Mindfulness on Detection Abili	ties in Videos
Portraying Unhealthy Communication Patterns	
Table 2.22	
Binary Logistic Regression Coefficients for Mindfulness on Detection Abilit Portraying Neutral Conflict Interactions	
Table 3.1	
Key Participant Demographics for Study 3	
Table 3.2	
Descriptive Statistics for Key Variables in Study 3 – Time 1	
Table 3.3	
Descriptive Statistics for Key Variables in Study 3 – Time 2	
Table 3.4	
Means, Standard Deviations, and Repeated Measures ANOVAs for Within I Outcomes	

### LIST OF KEYWORDS

*Keywords:* unhealthy communication patterns, romantic relationships, four horsemen, danger signs, relationship education, mindfulness

#### INTRODUCTION

Healthy romantic relationships have been well documented to be associated with positive physical health indicators and general well-being (Kiecolt-Glaser & Newton, 2001; Proulx et al., 2007; Robles et al., 2014). However, not all romantic relationships function positively, and poor relationship functioning indicators, such as conflict and dissatisfaction with the relationship, have been shown to be related to individual distress and negative well-being (Choi & Marks, 2008; Kiecolt-Glaser & Newton, 2001; Lehnart et al., 2010; Robles & Kiecolt-Glaser, 2003). Due to the association between poor relationship functioning and individual distress, it is important to understand the factors within relationships that predict poor functioning as well as ways to intervene to support positive relationship functioning.

Broadly, unhealthy relationship patterns are behaviors or communication expressions that have been consistently empirically linked to current or future negative relationship functioning. Unhealthy relationship behaviors can be operationalized in many ways including negative relationship maintenance behaviors (Dainton & Gross, 2008), such as jealousy or allowing control, physical aggression or violence, and the expression of unhealthy communication patterns. The current study will focus on the expression of unhealthy communication patterns. Verbal and nonverbal communication patterns have been found to be predictive of relationship distress or termination (Bradbury et al., 2000; Christensen & Shenk, 1991; Gottman, 1994; Gottman & Levenson, 2000; Markman et al., 1994). This research suggests that unhealthy communication patterns may lead to larger relationship problems and impede healthy relational behaviors such as problem solving.

The first set of commonly studied unhealthy romantic relationship communication patterns, identified by John Gottman, are collectively referred to as the "four horsemen of the apocalypse" and have been found to be predictive of relational distress and divorce as well as to reduce connection and commitment within the relationship (Gottman, 1994; Gottman et al., 1998; Gottman & Gottman, 2015; Gottman & Levenson, 2000). The four communication expressions that comprise the four horsemen are contempt, criticism, defensiveness and stonewalling (Gottman, 1994; Gottman & Gottman, 2015). Contempt refers to verbal or nonverbal expressions such as eye-rolling, name-calling, or mocking which convey feelings of disgust and hostility towards one's partner. Criticism refers to a specific type of complaint which points out a perceived deficit in their partner's character. Defensiveness often occurs in response to criticism and is characterized by an unwillingness to accept responsibility for one's contributions to a conflict and the placing of blame onto one's partner. Lastly, stonewalling, which may occur in response to contempt, refers to disengagement from the conflict which can appear as engaging in distracting behaviors, not responding to one's partner, or physically leaving a conversation.

Another commonly studied set of unhealthy romantic relationship communication expressions, referred to as "danger signs", include escalation, invalidation, withdrawal, and negative interpretation of one's partner (Markman et al., 1994; Stanley & Markman, 1997). Proposed by Scott Stanley and Howard Markman, these communication danger signs have also been found to be associated with relational distress and disillusionment (Julien et al., 2003; Markman et al., 2010; Stanley et al., 2004). Escalation describes an increase in the negative emotional intensity of an interaction characterized by a back and forth dynamic between partners. Invalidation occurs when one partner, either implicitly or explicitly, disregards the

point of view or feelings of their partner. Negative interpretation can be described as a lack of giving one's partner the "benefit of doubt" or automatically assuming malicious intent behind an action or statement made by one's partner. Lastly, withdrawal, which is similar to the fourth horseman of stonewalling, refers to physically or emotionally disengaging from the conversation or conflict.

Unhealthy communication patterns can range in severity, but conflict patterns typically escalate within relationships (Winstock et al., 2008) suggesting that even small unhealthy communication patterns may be predictive of more severe and consistent unhealthy communication patterns in the future. Further, as unhealthy communication expressions are related to poor relational outcomes, it is possible for couples to change by learning positive communication approaches (Gottman & Gottman, 2015; Markman et al., 1988). The ability to detect these communication patterns is an important first step in the process of improving communication and relationship functioning as it is difficult to address a problem when one is not aware that it exists. The detection of these small expressions of unhealthy communication patterns in ways that would prevent the development of more severe unhealthy communication patterns leading to future relationship distress, undesired termination, or possibly relational violence.

This pathway is supported as meta-analytic research on romantic relationships which has found that conflict within relationships is a common precursor to violence within intimate relationships (Fincham & Beach, 2010). Similarly, relationship education programs designed to address and improve unhealthy communication patterns have been used to prevent intimate partner violence by effectively reducing physical and psychological aggression (Braithwaite & Fincham, 2014). Despite the importance of this area of study, limited research has been

conducted on objective awareness of unhealthy communication patterns in romantic relationships.

To address this gap in the current literature, it is important to examine factors that are associated with lower levels of detection as well as ways in which the ability to detect unhealthy communication patterns can be improved. This dissertation consists of three studies: the first will focus on the validation of a procedure to assess detection ability beyond self-report, the second will focus on individual predictors of variation in detection, and the third will focus on an intervention designed to improve detection abilities.

#### STUDY 1 LITERATURE REVIEW

Unhealthy communication patterns are predictive of increased distress and reduced relational satisfaction (Bradbury et al., 2000; Christensen & Shenk, 1991; Gottman, 1994; Gottman & Levenson, 2000; Markman et al., 1994). Two of the most commonly used sets of unhealthy communication patterns are Gottman's four horsemen, criticism, contempt, defensiveness, and stonewalling (Gottman, 1994; Gottman & Gottman, 2015), and Stanley and Markman's danger signs, escalation, invalidation, withdraw, and negative interpretation (Markman et al., 1994; Stanley & Markman, 1997; Stanley et al., 2004). Although much research has been conducted about the impact of these communication patterns, little research has been conducted on the ability of individuals to recognize or detect these patterns. Current tools used in research about unhealthy communication patterns include those which assess the occurrence of unhealthy communication patterns in a current relationship and self-report measures related to the degree to which individuals are aware of their ability to identify these patterns within their relationships. Currently no procedure exists which allows for the assessment of the ability to detect these unhealthy patterns in an objective measure beyond current relationship dynamics or self-reports on awareness.

#### **Existing Measurements of Unhealthy Romantic Relationship Communication Patterns**

The current available body of research focused on unhealthy romantic relationship communication patterns is centered on one's current romantic relationship. To assess the four horsemen grouping of unhealthy communication patterns the Specific Affect Coding System (SPAFF; Gottman et al., 1995) and items taken from the self-assessments provided in Gotttman's (1994) book for individuals to assess the strengths and weaknesses within their relationships

have been most frequently used (e.g., Cornelius et al., 2010; Fowler & Dillow, 2011; Holman & Jarvis, 2003; Sommer et al., 2019). The SPAFF is a coding scheme that is used to assess positive affect such as affection, humor, and validation, as well as negative affect, which includes codes for the four horsemen based on verbal and non-verbal behaviors and expressions. Gottman's self-assessments ask participants to rate whether they engage in specific behaviors using a yes/no answer format. Sample items include "In arguments, sometimes my response is to sigh or roll my eyes" and "At times, during an argument, I think it is best just not to respond at all."

To assess the second set of unhealthy communication expressions (referred to as "danger signs"), the Relationship Dynamics Scale (RDS; Stanley & Markman, 1997) and the Communication Skills Test (Saiz & Jenkins, 1996) have frequently been used (e.g., Beach et al., 2011; Einhorn et al., 2008; Owen et al., 2013; Stanley et al., 2005). The RDS asks participants to rate items pertaining to the frequency that each of the danger signs are expressed in their relationships, rated on a 3-point Likert scale ranging from "almost never or never" to "frequently". Items include "Little arguments escalate into ugly fights with accusations, criticisms, name-calling, and bringing up past hurts" and "My partner seems to view my words or actions more negatively than I mean them to be". Similarly, the Communication Skills Test asks participants to rate items pertaining to the degree to which specific communication patterns occur in their current romantic relationship on a 7-point Likert scale from "strongly disagree" to "strongly agree". Sample items include "I clam up when we disagree" and "It is hard to discuss issues without getting into a heated argument".

Though these measurements assess the occurrence of unhealthy communication patterns within a current romantic relationship, there are several limitations to these measures. First, these measures only assess expressions within a current romantic relationship and therefore only

provide insight into that specific relationship dynamic. Though this is valuable information that can be used to better understand the functioning of individual relationships, these measures do not assess the degree to which individuals can identify that unhealthy communication patterns are occurring. Additionally, these measures only assess the degree to which the individual perceives that these patterns occur and not whether the individual can detect that these patterns are unhealthy. Individuals may be able to report that communication patterns occur within their romantic relationships but for a variety of reasons, including the desensitization of such patterns, conclude that these patterns are not unhealthy. This is consistent with the finding that destructive beliefs about conflict are negatively associated with verbal aggression in romantic relationships (Aloia, 2017) suggesting that when individuals have more negative perceptions of conflict, they are less likely to engage in aggressive conflict behaviors. Though these measures provide valuable insight into the occurrence of unhealthy communication patterns within current romantic relationships, they do not provide information about the degree to which individuals are able to detect these patterns in an objective manner.

#### Assessment of Awareness of Warning Signs

There are a limited number of measures which focus on levels of awareness of unhealthy patterns within a relationship. The Relationship Deciding Scale (RDS; Vennum & Fincham, 2011) and the Awareness of Danger Signs scale (AoDS, Quirk et al., 2020) assess the ability of individuals to detect unhealthy patterns within relationships. The RDS asks participants to rate the degree to which they can detect warning signs of an unhealthy relationship on a 7-point Likert scale from "strongly disagree" to "strongly agree". Sample items from this measure include "I am able to recognize early on the warning signs in a bad relationship" and "I am quickly able to see warning signals in a romantic relationship". As such, the RDS provides

valuable information regarding confidence in ability to detect unhealthy dynamics within relationships but not provide insight into the actual, objective detection abilities.

The AoDS varies from the RDS in that it attempts to assess the outcomes of low detection abilities. As such, participants are asked a series of questions which about experiences they would likely have as outcomes of low ability to detect unhealthy patterns within relationships, such as unwanted relationship termination or difficulty choosing partners. Items include "I end up in bad relationships without knowing why" and "It is hard for me to know what partners are best for me". This measure was designed to assess the limitations of asking individuals about their level of awareness, as asking about awareness inherently brings awareness to topics, by focusing on outcomes instead of the actual communication patterns (Quirk et al., 2020).

Though these measures ask participants to report on levels of awareness of unhealthy communication patterns within relationships, they both rely upon participant self-report. This limitation is significant as participants may not be able to accurately represent their detection abilities due to social desirability bias. Social desirability bias describes the tendency to report answers based on something other than the content of the question (Krumpal, 2013; Paulhus, 1984; Saunders, 1991). Social desirability bias typically occurs in two ways. The first, self-deception, is an unconscious process by which individuals rate responses about themselves more favorably then would be accurate but believe these answers to be true (Paulhus, 1984; Nederhof, 1985). In the case of detection of unhealthy communication patterns in romantic relationships, self-deception could occur when participants inadvertently over or underestimate their abilities. The second type of social desirability bias is known as other-deception or impression management and occurs when participants consciously responds to questions in a way that the

participant believes would create a favorable impression of themselves (Paulhus, 1984; Nederhof, 1985). In the case of detection of unhealthy communication patterns, this could occur when individuals report better detection abilities to communicate that they are successful at romantic relationships.

There are multiple ways of handling social desirability bias. One method is by controlling for this bias using questionnaires of social desirability (Saunders, 1991; Nederhof, 1985) such as the Marlowe-Crowne Social Desirability Scale (Crowne & Marlowe, 1960), short forms of the Marlowe-Crowne Social Desirability Scale (Reynolds, 1982; Stahan & Gerbasi, 1972), the Other-Deception and Self-Deception Questionnaires (ODSDQ; Sackeim & Gur, 1979), the Social Desirability Response Set (Hays et al., 1989), and the Social Desirability Scale-17 (SDS-17; Stober, 2001). This is a technique that is commonly used in research across topics related to romantic relationships (ex: Aviram & Amichai-Hamburger, 2017; Craig et al., 2006; Fincham et al., 2008; Olmstead et al., 2013). Structure of surveys, such as self-administration of questions, using forced-choice response questions, using a "bogus pipeline" which communicates that in some way the researcher would know if the participant was lying, and reducing discomfort of participants in the phrasing of questions can also be used to mitigate the effects of social desirability (Krumpal, 2013; Saunders, 1991; Nederhof, 1985). However, none of these methodologies completely controls for the effects of social desirability bias (Nederhof, 1985).

#### **Rationale for New Procedure**

Though the previously described measures provide important information regarding current relationship functioning and confidence in their ability to detect unhealthy communication patterns, no procedures or tools currently exist that are designed to assess objective detection of romantic relationship unhealthy communication expressions. Objectively

measuring the degree to which individuals can detect that an interaction includes unhealthy communication patterns or is a neutral conflict interaction helps to address many of the limitations involved in self-report procedures. The novel procedure and assessment outlined in this paper is centered on asking participants to view a series of videos which portray couples interacting in a conflict discussion that include unhealthy communication expressions or neutral interactions.

Validation of these videos by experts in couple communication would allow researchers to be confident that the videos accurately portray the specific empirically supported unhealthy communication expressions. These videos could be used to assess detection abilities by asking individuals to report whether they see unhealthy communication expressions within the interaction, demonstrating either accurate detection, over-detection (detecting unhealthy communication patterns in a neutral video), or under-detection (detecting no unhealthy communication patterns in a video which portrays unhealthy patterns). By directly testing the degree to which individuals could detect the presence of unhealthy communication patterns, a new procedure would contribute to the extension of this area of literature by moving from the confidence an individual has that they can detect unhealthy communication patterns to whether or not they actually can detect these behaviors.

#### Hypotheses for Study 1

Study 1 is designed to validate a set of videos portraying empirically supported danger signs. Establishing a validated set of videos which participants could watch and rate for the presence of unhealthy communication patterns would provide researchers with a way to assess objective detection abilities of participants. This new procedure could be used to provide a more

complete understanding of variables which influence the ability to detect unhealthy communication patterns in relationship beyond the self-report measures that currently exist.

For the videos to be a valid procedure to use, it is important that they meet two criteria. First, it is important that they accurately demonstrate either unhealthy communication patterns or a neutral communication pattern so that accurate, over-, or under-detection can be tested. Second, it is important that the videos accurately invoke the real-life correlates of unhealthy communication patterns, such concern for the future of the relationship (as unhealthy communication predicts future relationship distress and termination, as previously described) and relationship satisfaction (as unhealthy communication patterns are linked with lower relationship satisfaction as previously described). Ensuring that the videos accurately portray real-life correlates will help to make these videos as naturalistic as possible, thus supporting the ability of this tool to make some conclusions related to the ability of individuals to detect unhealthy communication patterns in the real world.

Specifically, it is predicted that the videos designed to display either one of the four horsemen or danger sign communication patterns will be rated by experts in detecting unhealthy communication patterns as adequately representing these unhealthy communication patterns (Hypothesis 1a), and the videos designed to portray neutral conflict interactions will be rated as not including any unhealthy communication patterns (Hypothesis 1b). Additionally, it is predicted that raters will report concern for the future of the relationship in the unhealthy communication pattern videos (Hypothesis 2a) and will report no concern for the future of the relationship in the neutral videos (Hypothesis 2b). Similarly, it is predicted that the raters will report perceived dissatisfaction for the relationship in the unhealthy communication pattern videos (Hypothesis 3a), and the neutral videos will be rated as portraying satisfaction with the

relationship (Hypothesis 3b). Rating for each video will be determined through asking experts in identifying unhealthy communication patterns and the outcomes associated with these patterns to watch the videos and rate on 5-point scales their concern for the relationship and their perceptions of the satisfaction within each relationship.

Lastly, it is predicted that the videos in which the couples engaged in unhealthy communication patterns will vary significantly from the neutral interaction videos. In other words, it is not just that the neutral videos will show no unhealthy communication patterns, low levels of concern, and high levels of relationship satisfaction while the unhealthy communication patterns demonstrate the opposite, but that there will be significant differences between the videos. Specifically, we hypothesize that the neutral videos will portray significantly fewer unhealthy communication patterns compared to the videos intended to include such patterns (Hypothesis 4a). Additionally, the videos intended to include unhealthy communication patterns will be rated as having greater concern for the future of the relationship (Hypothesis 4b) and less satisfaction with the relationship (Hypothesis 4c) compared to the neutral videos.

#### STUDY 1 METHODS

#### **Participants**

Recent graduates and second-year students at a Commission on Accreditation for Marriage and Family Therapy Education (COAMFTE) accredited Marriage and Family Therapy master's program who are registered psychotherapists were recruited for participation in this study. As part of the program requirements, all students complete the Gottman Couple Therapy Level One Training, which includes training in the ability to recognize and intervene in unhealthy communication patterns such as Gottman's four horsemen. As this training specifically targets developing the ability of therapists to detect unhealthy communication patterns, the outcomes associated with these unhealthy communication patterns, and interventions to improve relationship functioning through improving communication, the completion of the training establishes the participants as experts in this area. All participants reported completion of the Gottman Couple Therapy Level One Training, and three participants reported completion of the Gottman Couple Level Therapy Two Training. The completion of this specialized training combined with the training in relational therapy in a COAMFTE-accredited program establishes the participants as experts for the detection and severity of unhealthy couple communication patterns. A total of 11 participants completed the procedures. No identifying or demographic information was collected from participants.

#### Procedure

#### **Video Development Procedure**

The videos used in this study were created using real-life couples engaging in a conflict discussion who volunteered to be recorded for the creation of this procedure. Of the six volunteer

couples, two are interracial couples and one couple is a same-sex couple. Ages of the volunteers range from early-20s to mid-60s. Prior to recording the videos, the volunteer couples were assigned to either engage in a neutral (i.e., no unhealthy communication patterns) conflict discussion or to use an assigned unhealthy communication pattern that was either one of the four horsemen or one of the danger signs. The prompts for each unhealthy communication pattern were reviewed by three experts in unhealthy communication patterns at the University of Denver for adherence to the definitions of each term. The volunteer couples were directed to self-select a topic for the discussions in order to increase the degree to which the interactions felt natural. Six couples participated in the recording of the videos, and each couple recorded four interactions, resulting in a total of 24 videos. Each video was approximately 2 minutes in length. Information about the couples, the video prompts, and their discussion topics in each video are provided in Table 1.1.

#### **Validation Procedure**

After obtaining institutional review board (IRB) approval, participants for the validation procedure were contacted through email or Facebook Messenger inviting them to participate in the study online or complete an availability poll to attend an in-person data collection event. Participants completed the same procedure whether they completed the survey in-person or online. After completing the informed consent document, participants were asked to watch the series of 24, two-minute videos of couples portraying a conflict interaction. Participants were instructed that the couples in the videos were actors asked to portray either a neutral conflict interaction or a conflict interaction with unhealthy communication patterns. Of the total 24 videos, six showed neutral interactions and 18 included unhealthy communication patterns. As

each couple was shown in multiple videos, participants were also instructed to rate each video independently.

After watching each video, participants were asked to indicate which unhealthy communication pattern they saw in the video from a list of containing the eight previously described unhealthy communication patterns (contempt, criticism, defensiveness, stonewalling, escalation, invalidation, negative interpretation, and withdrawal) or none/neutral. Participants were not limited in the number of options that they selected. Following each video, participants were also asked to rate a series of three questions about their concern for the relationship (i.e., "How concerned are you for the future of this relationship?"; "How worried are you that these behaviors you see in this interaction may escalate and get worse over time?"; "How worried are you about this couple becoming violent towards each other, if they were to stay together?") and one question about the couple's level of satisfaction (i.e. "How satisfied do you think this couple is with their relationship?). Each question about concern/satisfaction was rated on a five-point Likert scale. Descriptive statistics about responses are provided in Table 1.2 (unhealthy communication pattern videos) and Table 2.2 (neutral videos).

#### **Data Analysis**

One-sample *t*-tests were used to assess whether the neutral videos were neutral (i.e. no unhealthy communication patterns present) and that they showed minimal levels of concern and high levels of satisfaction. One-sample *t*-tests were used to assess whether the unhealthy communication pattern videos accurately portrayed these patterns in the interactions, that they indicated concern for the relationship, and demonstrated low levels of relationship satisfaction. Specifically, one-sample *t*-tests were used to determine whether each interaction displayed unhealthy communication patterns using a test value of 1 (indicating the presence of one or more

unhealthy communication patterns was identified) for the unhealthy communication pattern videos and 0 (indicating that the interaction was rated as having no unhealthy communication patterns) for the neutral videos. To test concern for the relationship, unhealthy communication videos were compared to the test values of 4, 3.5, 3, and 2.5 (indicating a range of concern for the relationship) using a series of one-sample *t*-tests, and neutral videos were compared to the test value of 1 (indicating no concern for the future of the relationship). To test relationship satisfaction, unhealthy communication patterns were compared to the test values 4, 3.5, and 3 (indicating neutral to negative levels of satisfaction), and neutral videos were compared to the values of 1 and 1.5 (indicating high levels of satisfaction. Different test values were utilized as it is expected that the videos may represent a range of levels of concern and satisfaction. Using multiple test values which indicate various levels of concern and satisfaction allow videos to be validated at varying levels of satisfaction between the neutral and unhealthy communication pattern videos.

## **Descriptive Statistic Tables for Study 1**

Table 1.1

Descriptive Information o	of Video Content and	Couple Demographic Information
1 2 .	J	

Video	Assigned Communication Pattern	Couple ID	Approx. Age	Sexual Orientation	Race/ Ethnicity	Brief Description of Conversation Topic
1	Stonewalling	1	Early to Mid 40s	Same-Sex (Male)	Caucasian and Asian	Reducing spending
2	Invalidation	2	Early 20s	Heterosexual	Hispanic and Caucasian	Deciding whether to move
3	Contempt	3	Mid-60s	Heterosexual	Caucasian	Responsibility for planning all events/outings
4	Neutral	4	Mid 20s-30s	Heterosexual	Caucasian	Deciding on wedding venues
5	Defensiveness	5	Mid 20s	Heterosexual	Caucasian	Work-life balance and taking new opportunities at work
6	Criticism	6	Mid to Late 30s	Heterosexual	Caucasian	Holding child accountable for completing chores
7	Contempt	1	Early to Mid 40s	Same-Sex (Male)	Caucasian and Asian	Missing friend's birthday party due to work obligation
8	Escalation	2	Early 20s	Heterosexual	Hispanic and Caucasian	Planning for future and if to have children
9	Invalidation	3	Mid-60s	Heterosexual	Caucasian	Feeling overwhelmed at work

Video	Assigned Communication Pattern	Couple ID	Approx. Age	Sexual Orientation	Race/ Ethnicity	Brief Description of Conversation Topic
10	Withdrawal	4	Mid 20s-30s	Heterosexual	Caucasian	Parent coming to live with the couple temporarily
11	Negative Interpretation	5	Mid 20s	Heterosexual	Caucasian	Making plans with others vs spending time as a couple on the weekend
12	Neutral	6	Mid to Late 30s	Heterosexual	Caucasian	How much to allow teenage daughter to drive their car
13	Defensiveness	1	Early to Mid 40s	Same-Sex (Male)	Caucasian and Asian	Missing family experiences due to work
14	Negative Interpretation	2	Early 20s	Heterosexual	Hispanic and Caucasian	Expressing need for more alone time
15	Neutral	3	Mid-60s	Heterosexual	Caucasian	Planning holiday events and navigating in-law relationships
16	Escalation	4	Mid 20s-30s	Heterosexual	Caucasian	Budgeting and how to spend money
17	Criticism	5	Mid 20s	Heterosexual	Caucasian	Being late to a wedding due to error in directions
18	Withdraw	6	Mid to Late 30s	Heterosexual	Caucasian	Expressing desire for partner to help child with homework more often

Video	Assigned Communication Pattern	Couple ID	Approx. Age	Sexual Orientation	Race/ Ethnicity	Brief Description of Conversation Topic
19	Neutral	1	Early to Mid 40s	Same-Sex (Male)	Caucasian and Asian	What activities to enroll child in
20	Neutral	2	Early 20s	Heterosexual	Hispanic and Caucasian	Navigating in- law/family relationships
21	Withdraw	3	Mid-60s	Heterosexual	Caucasian	Responsibility for chores and desire for more help
22	Contempt	4	Mid 20s-30s	Heterosexual	Caucasian	Saving money and planning budget
23	Neutral	5	Mid 20s	Heterosexual	Caucasian	Planning rehearsal dinner location and budget
24	Defensiveness	6	Mid to Late 30s	Heterosexual	Caucasian	Request for partner to come home from work earlier

### Table 1.2

	Concern for Relationship		Concern for Relationship Concern for Future Violence		Relationship Satisfaction	
Video	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD
1	2.39	0.61	1.36	0.51	3.00	0.89
2	2.73	0.88	1.73	1.01	3.00	1.00
3	1.64	0.53	1.00	0.00	2.55	0.93
5	1.52	0.52	1.09	0.30	2.18	0.60
6	1.82	0.62	1.18	0.41	2.27	1.01
7	2.67	0.42	1.36	0.51	3.55	0.69
8	3.15	0.52	1.73	0.79	3.55	0.69
9	2.00	0.39	1.09	0.30	3.09	0.83
10	2.15	0.40	1.09	0.30	2.73	0.79
11	1.91	0.40	1.09	0.30	2.45	0.69
13	2.76	0.70	1.18	0.41	3.55	1.21
14	2.64	0.43	1.18	0.41	3.27	0.79
16	2.73	0.66	1.55	0.69	3.55	0.82
17	1.73	0.49	1.09	0.30	2.27	0.65
18	2.45	0.52	1.09	0.30	3.45	0.93
21	2.21	0.45	1.18	0.41	2.82	0.98
22	2.85	0.69	1.55	0.69	3.36	0.92
24	2.00	0.56	1.09	0.30	2.73	0.79

Descriptive Statistics for Unhealthy Communication Pattern Video Ratings

### Table 1.3

	Concern for Relationship		Concern for Future Violence		Relationship Satisfaction	
Video	М	SD	М	SD	М	SD
4	1.00	0.00	1.00	0.00	1.45	0.69
12	1.00	0.00	1.00	0.00	1.36	0.67
15	2.06	0.59	1.09	0.30	2.91	0.83
19	1.27	0.42	1.18	0.41	2.18	1.08
20	1.03	0.10	1.00	0.00	1.55	0.69
23	1.00	0.00	1.00	0.00	1.55	0.69

Descriptive Statistics for Neutral Video Ratings

#### STUDY 1 RESULTS

Hypothesis 1a was supported for all but one unhealthy communication pattern video and Hypothesis 1b was supported for all but one neutral video. Of the 18 total videos, 17 videos were not significantly different (p > .05) from the test value, indicating the presence of unhealthy communication patterns in the videos. One video, Video 5, was significantly different from the test value, t(10) = -2.39, p = .04. As this video did not meet the validation criteria of consistently showing unhealthy communication patterns, it was dropped from the final group of videos and further analyses. See Table 1.4 for results of Hypothesis 1a. Of the six neutral videos, five videos were not significantly different (p > .05) from the test value, indicating that the interactions were neutral and did not contain unhealthy communication patterns. One video, Video 15, was significantly different from the test value, t(10) = 6.71, p < .001. Video 15 was rated by two participants as neutral, as showing criticism by two participants, as showing contempt by four participants, as showing defensiveness by three participants, as showing negative interpretation by two participants, as showing escalation by one participant, and as showing invalidation by three participants. As this video did not meet the validation criteria for consistently showing neutral communication patterns, it was dropped from the final group of videos and further analyses. See Table 1.5 for results of Hypothesis 1b.

#### **Concern for the Relationship**

To test Hypotheses 2a and 2b, further one-sample t-tests were used. As three questions were used which related to concern for the relationship, an overall concern scale was computed. The three items pertained to different types of concern for the relationship (concern for the relationship broadly, escalation of the conflict, and future violence), an assessment of the

reliability of these items was necessary to determine that the questions were targeting an overall concern level and not conceptually different factors. When all three items were included, Cronbach's alphas ranged from .22 to .78, with one video (Video 20) having a Cronbach's alpha of 1.76 due to several items with no variance. To improve the reliability of the scale, the item pertaining to violence (i.e. "How worried are you about this couple becoming violent towards each other, if they were to stay together?") was dropped. When computed for the two-item scale, reliability was assessed using the Spearman-Brown coefficient which is the best reliability statistic to report with two item scales (Eisinga et al., 2013). Two videos, both portraying unhealthy communication patterns, had Spearman-Brown coefficients below the acceptable threshold  $\alpha < .70$ , (Video 10:  $\rho = .61$  and Video 21:  $\rho = .54$ ). Due to the low levels of internal reliability, these two videos were dropped from the sample and further analyses. The remaining videos had Spearman-Brown statistics as ranging from .73 to .95 (note: Spearman-Brown coefficients could not be computed for four of the neutral videos due to no variation indicating 100% interrater agreement).

Hypothesis 2a was supported for all videos portraying unhealthy communication patterns except one. The 5-point Likert scale used for the items in the concern scale is labeled such that a rating of 4 indicates a moderate level of concern, a rating of 3 indicates some concern, and a rating of 2 indicates a little concern. Two videos were not significantly different (p > .05) from the test value of 4; seven videos were not significantly different from the test value of 3.5; two videos were not significantly different from the test value of 3.5; two videos were not significantly different from the test value of 2.5. One video (Video 3) was significantly lower compared to 2.5, t(10) = -5.45, p < .001. As this indicates that only minimal levels of concern were reported

for this interaction, the video was dropped from the final sample and further analyses. See Table 1.6 for results of Hypothesis 2a.

Hypothesis 2b was supported for all but one video. One-sample *t*-tests for three of the five remaining videos were not able to be computed as the standard deviation was equal to 0 (M = 1.0) indicating 100% agreement between participants that they expressed no concern for each video. Of the remaining two videos, one was not significantly different (p > .05 level) from the test value. One video (Video 19) was significantly different from the test value t(10) = 2.28, p = .046, indicating that participants endorsed some concern based on the interaction. As this did not meet the validation criteria of having no concern for the relationship in the neutral interactions, the video was dropped from the final sample and future analyses. See Table 1.7 for results of Hypothesis 2b.

To further explore level of concern, one-sample *t*-tests were used to examine the level of concern for violence reported in each video which was excluded from the overall concern scale. The 5-point Likert scale used to assess concern for violence is labeled such that that a rating of 2 indicates a little concern and a rating of 1 indicates no concern. Of the videos portraying unhealthy communication patterns, four were not significantly different from 2 (p > .05), and three were not significantly different from 1.5 (p > .05). No videos were dropped from the final sample or further analyses for lack of concern related to future violence. See Table 1.8 for results. One-sample *t*-tests were not able to be computed for concern related to future violence for any neutral videos as the standard deviation was equal to 0 (M = 1.0) indicating 100% agreement between participants that they felt no concern for each video.

#### **Relationship Satisfaction**

Hypothesis 3a was supported for all but three videos. The 5-point Likert scale used to assess relationship satisfaction was labeled such that a rating of 4 indicates moderate dissatisfaction and a score of 3 indicates neither satisfaction nor dissatisfaction. Four videos were not significantly different (p > .05) from 4, five were not significantly different (p > .05) from 3.5, and two were not significantly different (p > .05) from 3. Three videos were significantly different from 3, t(10) = -2.39, p = .04 (Video 6), t(10) = -2.63, p = .03 (Video 11), and t(10) = -3.73, p = .004 (Video 17). As these results indicate that participants reported at least moderate satisfaction for the relationship, these videos were dropped from the final sample and further analysis. See Table 1.9 for results of Hypothesis 3a.

Hypothesis 3b was supported for all the remaining neutral videos. The 5-point Likert scale used to assess relationship satisfaction was further labeled such at a rating of 1 indicates high levels of satisfaction and a score of 2 indicates moderate levels of satisfaction. All the remaining neutral videos were validated for satisfaction, as two videos were not significantly different (p > .05) from 1, and two videos were not significantly different (p > .05 level) from 1.5. See Table 1.10 for results of Hypothesis 3b.

#### **Differences Between Unhealthy Communication Patterns and Neutral Videos**

To test Hypotheses 4a, 4b, and 4c, paired-samples *t*-tests were used to compare the average ratings for the final set of unhealthy communication pattern videos and neutral videos. There was a significant differences between the unhealthy communication pattern videos and neutral videos such that the unhealthy communication pattern videos were significantly higher in the occurrence of unhealthy communication patterns, t(10) = 17.89, p < .001, and the level of concern for the future of the relationship, t(10) = 14.15, p < .001, compared to the neutral videos.

The unhealthy communication pattern videos were also significantly lower in the level of relationship satisfaction, t(10) = 8.46, p < .001, compared to the neutral videos. See Table 1.11 for results of Hypothesis 4.

# **Data Analytic Tables for Study 1**

Table 1.4

One-Sample t-Tests for Presence of Unhealthy Communication Patterns in Unhealthy

1         1         0         NA           2         1         0         NA           3         0.91         0.30         -1.0           5         0.64         0.51         -2.39*           6         0.91         0.30         -1.0           7         1         0         NA           8         1         0         NA           9         1         0         NA           10         1         0         NA           11         1         0         NA           13         1         0         NA           14         1         0         NA           15         1         0         NA           16         1         0         NA           17         0.91         0.30         -1.0           18         1         0         NA           21         1         0         NA           22         1         0         NA           24         1         0         NA	Video	М	SD	Т
30.910.30-1.050.640.51-2.39*60.910.30-1.0710NA810NA910NA1010NA1110NA1310NA1410NA1510NA1610NA170.910.30-1.01810NA2110NA2210NA	1	1	0	NA
5         0.64         0.51         -2.39*           6         0.91         0.30         -1.0           7         1         0         NA           8         1         0         NA           9         1         0         NA           10         1         0         NA           11         1         0         NA           13         1         0         NA           14         1         0         NA           15         1         0         NA           16         1         0         NA           17         0.91         0.30         -1.0           18         1         0         NA           21         1         0         NA           22         1         0         NA	2	1	0	NA
6         0.91         0.30         -1.0           7         1         0         NA           8         1         0         NA           9         1         0         NA           10         1         0         NA           11         1         0         NA           13         1         0         NA           14         1         0         NA           15         1         0         NA           14         1         0         NA           15         1         0         NA           16         1         0         NA           17         0.91         0.30         -1.0           18         1         0         NA           21         1         0         NA           22         1         0         NA	3	0.91	0.30	-1.0
7       1       0       NA         8       1       0       NA         9       1       0       NA         10       1       0       NA         11       1       0       NA         13       1       0       NA         14       1       0       NA         15       1       0       NA         16       1       0       NA         17       0.91       0.30       -1.0         18       1       0       NA         21       1       0       NA         22       1       0       NA	5	0.64	0.51	-2.39*
8       1       0       NA         9       1       0       NA         10       1       0       NA         11       1       0       NA         13       1       0       NA         14       1       0       NA         15       1       0       NA         16       1       0       NA         17       0.91       0.30       -1.0         18       1       0       NA         21       1       0       NA         22       1       0       NA	6	0.91	0.30	-1.0
910NA1010NA1110NA1310NA1410NA1610NA170.910.30-1.01810NA2110NA2210NA	7	1	0	NA
1010NA1110NA1310NA1410NA1610NA170.910.30-1.01810NA2110NA2210NA	8	1	0	NA
1110NA1310NA1410NA1610NA170.910.30-1.01810NA2110NA2210NA	9	1	0	NA
1310NA1410NA1610NA170.910.30-1.01810NA2110NA2210NA	10	1	0	NA
1410NA1610NA170.910.30-1.01810NA2110NA2210NA	11	1	0	NA
1610NA170.910.30-1.01810NA2110NA2210NA	13	1	0	NA
170.910.30-1.01810NA2110NA2210NA	14	1	0	NA
18       1       0       NA         21       1       0       NA         22       1       0       NA	16	1	0	NA
21       1       0       NA         22       1       0       NA	17	0.91	0.30	-1.0
22 1 0 NA	18	1	0	NA
	21	1	0	NA
24 1 0 NA	22	1	0	NA
	24	1	0	NA

Note: \*p < .05; gray indicates dropped from the final sample of videos

Video	М	SD	Т
4	0	0	NA
12	0	0	NA
15	9.82	9.41	6.71***
19	0.27	0.47	1.94
20	0.09	0.30	1.0
23	0	0	NA

One-Sample t-Tests for Presence of Unhealthy Communication Patterns in Neutral Videos

Note: \*\*\*p < .001; gray indicates dropped from the final sample of videos

Video	М	SD	Т
Test Value = 4			
8	3.86	0.64	-0.71
13	3.54	0.99	-1.53
Test Value = 3.5			
2	3.23	1.03	-0.88
7	3.32	0.64	-0.94
14	3.36	0.60	-0.76
16	3.32	.82	-0.74
18	3.14	0.78	-1.56
22	3.5	1.03	0.00
Test Value = 3			
1	2.91	0.74	-0.41
24	2.45	0.82	-2.21
Test Value = 2.5			
3	1.64	0.53	-5.45***
6	2.14	0.87	-1.39
9	2.45	0.61	-0.25
11	2.32	0.51	-1.17
17	2.05	0.72	-2.09

One-Sample t-Tests for Concern for Relationship in Unhealthy Communication Patterns Videos

Note: \*\*\*p < .001; gray indicates dropped from the final sample of videos

Video	М	SD	t
Test Value = 1			
4	1.0	0	NA
12	1.0	0	NA
19	1.32	0.46	2.28*
20	1.05	0.15	1.0
23	1.0	0	NA

One-Sample t-Tests for Concern for Relationship in Neutral Videos

Note: p < .05; gray indicates dropped from the final sample of videos

One-Sample t-Tests for Concern for Future Violence in Unhealthy Communication Patterns

Video	M	SD	t
Test Value = 2			
2	1.73	1.01	-0.90
8	1.73	0.79	-1.15
16	1.55	0.69	-2.19
22	1.55	0.69	-2.19
Test Value = 1.5			
1	1.36	0.51	-0.90
6	1.18	0.41	-2.61*
7	1.36	0.51	-0.90
9	1.73	0.79	-4.5**
11	1.09	0.30	-4.5**
13	1.18	0.41	-2.61*
14	1.18	0.41	-2.61*
17	1.09	0.30	-4.5**
18	1.09	0.30	-4.5**
24	1.55	0.69	-0.22

Videos

Note: \**p* < .05, \*\**p* < .01

Video	M	SD	t
Test Value = 4			
7	3.55	0.69	-2.19
8	3.55	0.69	-2.19
13	3.55	1.21	-1.24
16	3.55	0.82	-1.84
18	3.45	0.93	-1.94
Test Value = 3.5			
1	3.0	0.90	-1.85
2	3.0	1.0	-1.66
9	3.09	0.83	-1.63
14	3.27	0.79	-0.96
22	3.36	0.92	-0.49
Test Value = 3			
6	2.27	1.00	-2.39*
11	2.45	0.69	-2.63*
17	2.27	0.65	-3.73**
24	2.73	0.79	-1.15

One-Sample t-Tests for Relationship Satisfaction in Unhealthy Communication Patterns Videos

Note: \*p < .05, \*\*p < .01; gray indicates dropped from the final sample of videos

Video	M	SD	t
Test Value = 1			
4	1.45	0.69	2.19
12	1.36	0.67	1.79
Test Value = 1.5			
20	1.55	0.69	0.22
23	1.55	0.69	0.22

One-Sample t-Tests for Relationship Satisfaction in Neutral Videos

# Paired-Samples t-Test Comparisons of Presence of Unhealthy Communication Patterns,

Variable	Unhealthy Communication Pattern Videos		Neutral Videos			
	М	SD	М	SD	t	
Presence of Unhealthy Communication Patterns	1.0	0.0	0.27	0.13	17.89***	
Concern for Relationship	2.58	0.38	1.01	0.03	14.15***	
Relationship Satisfaction	3.28	0.52	1.62	0.64	8.46***	

Concern for Relationship, and Relationship Satisfaction Between Video Types

Note: \*\*\* p < .001

# STUDY 1 DISCUSSION

Study 1 was designed to validate a set of developed videos of couples displaying empirically supported unhealthy communication patterns signs. Of the 24 initial videos, 15 videos were validated based on correct expression of either the unhealthy communication patterns or neutral interactions, level of concern for the future of the relationship, and level of satisfaction within the relationship. Of these 15 videos, 11 videos portray unhealthy communication patterns and four videos portray neutral conflict interactions.

Of the videos that were not validated, two videos were dropped for not accurately portraying unhealthy communication patterns or the neutral condition. Two videos were dropped for poor interrater reliability between the measures of concern, and two more videos were dropped due to levels of concern inconsistent with the hypothesis. Specifically, one video was dropped for showing lower than expected concern for the future of the relationship when portraying unhealthy communication patterns, and one video was dropped for showing higher than expected levels of concern for the future of the relationship when portraying a neutral interaction. Lastly, three videos were dropped for showing higher than expected levels of satisfaction when portraying unhealthy communication patterns.

In the final set of videos, the videos portraying unhealthy communication patterns were rated as portraying significantly more unhealthy communication patterns than the neutral videos. Additionally, the unhealthy communication pattern videos were rated significantly higher for levels of concern for the relationship and significantly lower for relationship satisfaction compared to the neutral videos. Together, these findings suggest that the final set of videos accurately portray the correct condition.

The videos that were dropped were assigned a variety of unhealthy communication patterns to express. Two videos (Video 6 and Video 17) were assigned criticism, two videos (Video 10 and Video 21) were assigned withdraw, Video 3 was assigned contempt, Video 5 was assigned defensiveness, and Video 11 was assigned negative interpretation. This suggests that the reason the videos failed to be validated was not due to the specific unhealthy communication pattern that was supposed to be expressed. Further, three videos that were dropped were from a variety of couples with one video of Couple 1 (Video 19), three videos of Couple 3 (Video 3, Video 21, and Video 19), three videos of Couple 5 (Video 5, Video 11, and Video 17), and two videos of Couple 6 (Video 6 and Video 10) being dropped.

Interestingly, Video 19 was designed to be a neutral video but failed the validation related to concern for the relationship. This video was the only video of Couple 1 to be dropped. It is possible that implicit bias related to LGBT relationships may have increased the level of concern for the relationship that was reported. Contrary to empirical findings, stereotypes of gay and lesbian relationship state that these relationships are less healthy or positive compared to heterosexual relationships (Peplau & Fingerhut, 2006). It is possible that internalized stigma of LGBT relationships contributed to the neutral video of the only same-sex couple being rated having higher levels of concern for the relationship compared to the other neutral videos.

Gender roles may influence the validation of the videos. Relational aggression by a female partner has been found to be rated as less severe compared to that by a male partner (Williams et al., 2012). Similarly, the seriousness of the incident is rated as more severe when the victim of relational violence is female compared to when the victim is male (Seelau et al., 2003). Across the eight videos which were dropped and portrayed a heterosexual, six included the female partner portraying the unhealthy communication pattern. The two remaining videos

showed the male partner portraying defensiveness and withdrawal, which while unhealthy, are not aggressive in nature. It is possible that gendered bias around the severity of unhealthy relationship dynamics may have influenced the ratings of these videos.

Further, the topic of discussion in the videos may influence the validation of the video beyond the dynamic of the unhealthy communication pattern. For example, Video 3 was validated as showing unhealthy communication patterns but not for concern for the future of the relationship. The conversation topic of this video was the couple talking about how they enjoyed spending time together and wanting to spend more time together, but that the female partner felt the male partner did not put effort into helping plan the event. It may be that this video was not validated as though unhealthy communication patterns were occurring, the couple was also communicating an intent to continue the relationship through wanting to do more events together. Future research should further examine the possibility of implicit bias related to the demographics of the couples and the validation of the video. Qualitative studies asking individuals to explain their perceptions of the couple may help to illuminate additional factors that influence the ratings of these interactions.

## Limitations

Despite the promising findings of this study, there are several limitations which should be noted. First, a relatively small sample of 11 participants was used to validate these videos. Additionally, no demographic information was collected about the raters which prevented for the control of any factors such as sexual orientation, gender, personal romantic relationship status, or age which could influence the way in which they perceived the interactions. Second, six couples were portrayed across the videos, resulting in some couples being portrayed in multiple videos. In the final sample, one couple is portrayed in four videos, three couples are portrayed in three videos each, and two couples are portrayed in one video each. As such, in future studies it is important to carefully select which videos are used together as showing participants of the same couple may potentially bias results.

None of the validated videos showed high levels of concern for the future of the relationship and only low levels of concern for violence were reported. While this allows the tool to be useful for identifying somewhat mild unhealthy communication patterns, the overall sample is limited related to variation in severity. This tool may benefit from the creation and validation of further videos which demonstrate greater concern for the relationship or future relationship dynamics.

#### Implications

Despite these limitations, this study provides for a promising new method that will provide a way to address a significant gap in the literature. The validation of these videos provides a useful, novel procedure to assess in-the-moment detection abilities of unhealthy communication patterns in romantic relationships that do not rely on self-report. Current methodologies for assessing unhealthy communication patterns either focus on communication patterns within a current romantic relationship, such as the Specific Affect Coding System (SPAFF; Gottman et al., 1995), self-assessments of engagement in the four-horsemen (Gottman, 1994), the Relationship Dynamics Scale (RDS; Stanley & Markman, 1997), and the Communication Skills Test (Saiz & Jenkins, 1996), or rely upon self-report of detection abilities, such as the Relationship Deciding Scale (RDS; Vennum & Fincham, 2011) or the Awareness of Danger Signs scale (AoDS; Quirk et al., 2020). The measures which focus on the current relationship do not provide information more broadly about whether the individual can perceive that they dynamics that are occurring are unhealthy or damaging to their relationship but only that specific patterns exist. The two measures which focus on elements of self-reported detection have limitations related to potential social desirability bias. While social desirability bias can be mitigated through neutral worded questionnaires, self-administration of surveys (as compared to an interview format), and controlling for responses on social desirability measures, these approaches do not entirely eliminate the potential effects of social desirability (Krumpal, 2013; Saunders, 1991; Nederhof, 1985).

This procedure should be used in future research to assess variables which predict differences in levels of awareness to better understand which individuals may be at greatest risk for experiencing a lack of detection abilities, and thus allowing for interventions to target higher risk individuals. Additionally, this procedure may be used to assess the effectiveness of intervention programs at improving detection skills versus relying on the self-report of the participants. Further, these videos may be beneficial to use in the context of therapist training programs, helping new therapists learn to successfully differentiate unhealthy communication patterns from neutral conflict interactions.

# STUDY 2 LITERATURE REVIEW

Little is known about the experiences and traits that predict variation in detection of unhealthy communication patterns. As Study 1 provided the first validation of an objective measure to assess detection of unhealthy communication patterns within romantic relationships, there is no research yet about factors which influence objective detection. Understanding which factors influence objective detection abilities may be useful in developing prevention or intervention programs which support improved detection abilities. Based on the principles of social learning theory (Bandura et al., 1961; Bandura et al., 1963; Bandura, 1977) and research in the area of errors in noticing stimuli in directed attention tasks (Jenson et al., 2011; Mack & Rock, 1998; Nelsser, 1979; Rensink et al., 1997; Simons & Chabris, 1999; Simons & Levin, 1998) it is hypothesized that experiences during childhood (such as attachment style, exposure to interparental conflict, and betrayal trauma) as well as individual traits associated with attention (such as dissociation and mindfulness) may predict variation in detection abilities.

### **Defining Detection**

To be able to assess how childhood experiences and individual trait-like differences influence variation in detection abilities, detection must first be defined. As the investigation into observed detection is a novel area of research in the field, to our knowledge, detection abilities have not been previously operationalized within this field. Related areas of research which look at responses in situations which portray conflict or violence have focused on assessing the degree to which individuals have increase attention or increased avoidance of stimuli (ex: DePrince, 2005; Lucas-Thompson et al., 2017; McCoy et al., 2015; Shackman et al., 2007). Following these methodologies where individuals are assessed as either being over-aware or under-aware of

the stimuli, detection in this study will be defined using similar logic of over-detection or underdetection.

Specifically, in this study, detection is defined in three categories. Accurate detection refers to the ability of individuals to accurately indicate that there are unhealthy communication patterns occurring in situations where these patterns are present and, alternatively, to indicate that there are no unhealthy communication patterns in situations where these patterns are not present. Inaccurate detection occurs when individuals are not able to accurately indicate the presence of unhealthy communication patterns. This occurs in two ways. First, individuals may experience over-detection, which refers to situations in which an individual assesses that unhealthy communication patterns are present in an interaction that lacks these patterns. In other words, over-detection includes identifying unhealthy communication patterns when they are not actually present. Alternatively, under-detection refers to situations in which a person does not report seeing the presence of unhealthy communication patterns and not identifying that these patterns are occurring.

## **Childhood Experiences and Variation in Detection Abilities**

To understand how individuals can detect and identify the expression of unhealthy communication patterns, it is first important to understand how individuals learn to interact with others. Social learning theory posits that from a young age, individuals learn ways of interacting by experiencing the outcomes and relative success of specific behaviors, with those behaviors that solicit a preferred response being reinforced (Bandura, 1977). Through these experiences and observations, individuals begin to learn which behaviors will elicit desired results, allowing them to make predictions about the outcomes of future behaviors. Individuals engage in this type of observational learning through both direct experience and through observation of models. In indirect learning, individuals watch the behaviors of a model, observe the outcomes of the behavior, and imitate successful behaviors. Though a combination of both direct and indirect learning occurs, learning using a model expedites learning new information, such as what behaviors are appropriate in a given context (Bandura, 1977). For example, this type of learning has been demonstrated to be linked to the transmission of aggressive behaviors in children in the well-known Bobo doll experiments. These studies found that children who observed an adult playing aggressively with a Bobo doll toy were more likely to play aggressively with the toy, and children who were rewarded for aggressive behavior were also more likely to play aggressively (Bandura et al., 1961; Bandura et al., 1963).

The concept that conflict patterns can be modeled by parents and transmitted into how their children engage in their own adult relationships is supported by social learning theory (Baptist et al., 2012; Bandura, 1977) Parents often provide children with the earliest example of the functioning of a romantic relationship. Several studies have utilized social learning theory to examine how individuals learn about romantic relationships through the observation during childhood (Rhoades et al., 2012; Whitton et al., 2008). Family of origin functioning, including parenting behaviors and interparental behaviors, have been found to be associated with later romantic relationship functioning, suggesting that the ways in which individuals learn about relationship during childhood are associated the ways in which they engage in romantic relationships (Conger et al., 2000; Cui et al., 2010; Rhoades et al., 2012; Whitton et al., 2008). Family of origin functioning and child experiences include many different types of experiences. In this study, the area of focus will be on attachment style, exposure to interparental conflict, and betrayal trauma which are described more in depth below.

#### Attachment

Romantic attachment styles may act as a filter that interferes with or promotes the ability to detect unhealthy communication expressions within intimate relationships. According to attachment theory, the early relational experiences between an infant and primary caregiver shape the internal working models, which guide later interactions and relationships (Bowlby, 1969; Bowlby, 1982). In early childhood, there are three predicable and observable styles of attachment: secure, anxious, and avoidant (Ainsworth et al., 1978; Harms, 2011). Infants who have a secure attachment style are observed to use their primary caregiver as a secure base and seek connection to their caregiver following a separation (Ainsworth et al., 1978; Harms, 2011). In contrast, anxious infants tended to both seek comfort from their caregiver while also demonstrating signs of anger or distress while avoidant infants tended to avoid or create distance between themselves and their caregiver (Ainsworth et al., 1978; Harms, 2011). Though the attachment system develops early in life, it remains important throughout life and prescribes the ways in which individuals seek proximity with others (Bowlby, 1988). Though Bowlby's theory described attachment styles in early childhood, adult attachment theory is an extension from this framework.

Adults form bonds with a romantic partner through a similar biosocial process between infants and their parents (Hazan & Shaver, 1987). In contrast to infant attachment, attachment classifications are based on feelings about emotional closeness as compared to stress-induced behaviors (such as the actual separation from a caregiver in the assessment of infant attachment) (Hazan & Shaver, 1987). In other words, adult attachment can be characterized by the degree of avoidance and anxiety individuals feel related to emotional intimacy (Brennan et al., 1998;

Shaver & Mikulincer, 2009). From this, three adult attachment groupings were identified: secure, avoidant and anxious (Hazan & Shaver, 1987).

Secure attachment, which is the most common attachment style, is characterized by low anxiety and avoidance, which appears as comfort with emotional intimacy, a willingness to depend on a partner, and acceptance and responsiveness to others (Bartholomew & Horowitz, 1991; Hazan & Shaver, 1987; Mickelson & Kessler, 1997; Shaver & Mikulincer, 2009). Secure attachment style has been related to many positive outcomes such as higher relationship satisfaction, trust, commitment, psychological well-being, and more constructive communication patterns such as active problem solving and willingness to compromise (Brennan & Shaver, 1995; Hadden et al., 2014; Holland & Roisman, 2010; Feeney & Noller, 1990; Karreman & Vingerhoets, 2012; Shi, 2003; Simpson, 1990).

In contrast, avoidant attachment style is characterized by discomfort with emotional intimacy, which may lead to intentional emotional distance and resistance towards dependency upon a partner (Bartholomew & Horowitz, 1991; Hazan & Shaver, 1987; Shaver & Mikulincer, 2009). Avoidant attachment features an avoidance of close relationships due to a fear of rejection, a desire for independence, and engagement in behavior which provide protection against potential disappointment from close relationships (Bartholomew & Horowitz, 1991). In contrast, the anxious attachment style is characterized by a desire for emotional connection and intimacy accompanied by fear of rejection or the unavailability of one's partner and increased attention towards negative cues within the relationships to avoid feelings of abandonment (Bartholomew & Horowitz, 1991; Campbell et al., 2005; Hazan & Shaver, 1987; Shaver & Mikulincer, 2009).

Meta-analytic research has found that both attachment avoidance and anxiety are associated with decreases in relationship satisfaction, constructive interactions (which include factors which support mutual understanding and conflict resolution), general support, positive emotions associated with the relationship (Li & Chan, 2012). Both attachment avoidance and anxiety were also found to be associated with increases in destructive interactions (which includes factors such as unhealthy communication patterns within conflict), negative emotions associated with the relations, and conflict in romantic relationships (Li & Chan, 2012). Attachment anxiety was found to be more strongly associated with increased conflict within the relationship compared to avoidance whereas avoidance was more strongly related to lowered relationship satisfaction, connection and support (Li & Chan, 2012).

As described here, individuals' attachment styles are associated with the way that they perceive romantic partners and their own needs in romantic relationships. These perceptions, in turn, help to move individuals towards or away from current or potential partners, and may operate as a filter through which the individual conceptualizes and makes decisions pertaining to their close relationships. This idea is supported as all styles of attachment have been found to be related to the ability and processes through which individuals make decisions (Deniz, 2011). As attachment style filters the ways in which interactions with romantic relationships and romantic partners relationships are (Li & Chan, 2012; Tougas et al., 2016; Young & Acitelli ,1998), it is possible that attachment style may also influence the ability of individuals to accurately perceive unhealthy communication expressions. Both attachment avoidance and anxiety have previously been found to be related to a lack of awareness of unhealthy communication patterns in romantic relationships (Quirk, 2020), which suggests that they are also related to the ability of individuals to detect unhealthy communication patterns.

As avoidant attachment is related to a discomfort with emotional intimacy and a tendency to distance from romantic partners (Bartholomew & Horowitz, 1991; Hazan & Shaver, 1987; Shaver & Mikulincer, 2009), it is likely that individuals with this style of attachment may be prone to under-detection of unhealthy communication patterns. The distance that individuals create within their relationships in an attempt to protect themselves from feeling overwhelmed may also lead to a lowered ability to focus on interactions, particularly when there is conflict, which may increase these feelings of being overwhelmed, thus leading individuals to miss that unhealthy behaviors are occurring. In contrast, as attachment anxiety is related to a fear of rejection hyperattention to negative ques in relationships (Bartholomew & Horowitz, 1991; Campbell et al., 2005; Hazan & Shaver, 1987; Shaver & Mikulincer, 2009), it is likely that this style of attachment would be related to over-detection of unhealthy communication patterns

#### **Exposure to Interparental Conflict**

As children learn about behavior in romantic relationships from observing their parents' or caregivers' relationship, it is possible that witnessing conflict between one's parents may influence the ability of an individual to detect unhealthy communication expressions within romantic relationships. Importantly, experiencing aggression and hostility during childhood is associated with reduced perceptions of conflict negativity, lower physiological responsiveness to conflict, and increased hostility in romantic relationships during adulthood (Aloia & Solomon, 2015; Conger et al., 2000; Cui et al., 2010). Additionally, witnessing interparental conflict during childhood has been found to be associated with higher levels of attachment insecurity, relational aggression and hostility, and conflict in romantic relationships in adolescence and adulthood (Cui & Fincham, 2010; Cusimano & Riggs, 2013; Kinsfogel & Grych, 2004; Simon & Furman, 2010; Stocker & Richmond, 2007). Overall, exposure to interparental conflict are associated can

children's perceptions of romantic relationships and reactions to negative expressions of emotions; thus, such experiences may also be associated the ability to detect unhealthy communication patterns within romantic relationships.

Individuals exposed to unhealthy relationship communication patterns during childhood may struggle to determine whether a communication pattern is unhealthy, even if they notice that the communication pattern is occurring. This process of transmission is described by the developmental-interactional model which asserts that through the processes described in social learning theory, observing how parents act with each other in the family of origin can inform the way that individuals engage in their own romantic relationships (Cui et al., 2010; Capaldi & Gorman-Smith, 2003). In other words, early exposure to interparental conflict may influence the way that individuals learn about communication and, therefore, what they have learned is an accepted or normal way to interact with a romantic partner. Empirical research supports this perspective documenting parental marital conflict has been associated with conflict during romantic relationships in young adulthood (Braithwaite et al., 2016; Cui & Fincham, 2010; Cui et al., 2008), suggesting that children may replicate the patterns of conflict within their parents' relationship within their own romantic relationship. Intergenerational transmission of romantic relationship functioning, including areas such as conflict and violence, is further supported in the findings of several longitudinal studies (Cui et al., 2010; Ehrensaft et al., 2003; Ehrensaft et al., 2011; Story et al., 2004).

Theoretically, it is not only the exposure to interparental conflict, but also characteristics of the conflict such as the frequency, intensity, and content of the interaction are related to how children will perceive this conflict (Grynch & Fincham, 1990; Grynch & Fincham, 1993). This is supported empirically studies which highlight differential outcomes for children depending upon

conflict characteristics (Cummings et al., 2003; Davies et al., 2008). Self-blame related to interparental conflict has been documented to increase attention to angry emotional interactions and both self-blame and perceived threat related to interparental conflict decreased attention to happy emotional interactions (Lucas-Thompson et al., 2017). Similarly, self-blame related to interparental conflict predicted coping by overinvolvement in the conflict whereas perceived threat predicted coping through avoidance of the conflict (Shelton & Harold, 2008). Further, both self-blame and perceived threat related to interparental conflict have been found to mediate the association between interparental conflict and child internalizing problems (Grynch et al., 2000).

Exposure to interparental conflict continues to have associations with child functioning during young adulthood, particularly related to romantic relationship functioning (Cui & Fincham, 2010; Cusimano & Riggs, 2013; Kinsfogel & Grych, 2004; Simon & Furman, 2010; Stocker & Richmond, 2007). Therefore, exposure to interparental conflict may also influence the ability of individuals to detect unhealthy communication patterns within romantic relationships. As self-blame is related to coping heightened involvement in conflict (Shelton & Harold, 2008) and heighted attention to negative emotions (Lucas-Thompson et al., 2017) it is likely that self-blame would be associated with over-detection through increased focus on negative conflict. Similarly, as perceived threat related to interparental conflict is related to avoidance of positive emotions (Lucas-Thompson et al., 2017) and coping through avoidance of conflict (Shelton & Harold, 2008), it is likely that individuals may avoid negative interactions thus leading to under-detection of unhealthy communication patterns.

## **Betrayal Trauma**

Social learning theory states that in addition to learning through modeling, individuals learn through their direct experiences (Bandura, 1977). Experiencing any form of trauma has

potentially severe outcomes for children, but betrayal trauma, or trauma where a child is dependent upon the perpetrator of abuse (such as a caregiver or trusted other), may be related to more severe outcomes (Freyd et al., 2005; Goldsmith et al., 2012). When a child experiences betrayal trauma, the child must find a way to cope with the abuse while continuing to depend on the perpetrator of abuse, as they are often reliant upon the perpetrator to meet their basic needs (Freyd, 1994). To cope with this dichotomy, children commonly experience dissociation or avoidance of the trauma (DePrince et al., 2012; Freyd, 1994). Although these responses can be related to many types of abuse, individuals who experienced childhood physical or sexual abuse and had trouble with memory related to the abuse retrospectively reported closer relationships with their perpetrator than those with no memory disturbances (DePrince et al., 2012). More simply stated, individuals who reported difficulty remembering traumatic experiences were more likely to report close relationships with their perpetrator. Similarly, clinical/pathological dissociation scores have been found to be related to abuse by family members but not from other individuals, even after accounting for age of experience and duration of the abuse (Plattner et al., 2003).

Individuals who experienced betrayal trauma during childhood are more likely to experience relational trauma later in life (Classen et al.,2005; DePrince, 2005; Gobin & Freyd, 2009). Similarly, individuals who experienced betrayal trauma have been found to be more likely to report high levels of partner disrespect, but there were no significant differences based on the experience of betrayal trauma related to relationship dedication or adjustment (Owen et al., 2012). These findings suggest that individuals who have experienced betrayal trauma may have difficulty in identifying relationship patterns which are unhealthy. The idea that betrayal trauma is linked to a lower ability to detect unhealthy patterns is supported by the findings that

individuals who have experienced betrayal trauma both before and after age 18 are more likely to have trouble detecting violations in social contract (situations related to rules of social exchange) and precautionary situations (situations related to rules of safety) (DePrince, 2005). These difficulties with detecting violations to social rules may have been adaptive in the context of betrayal trauma, as the child must still be able to depend on and interact with the caregiver with whom they are reliant for survival, and conscious recognition of the trauma would likely make this more difficult (DePrince, 2005; Freyd, 1994). The experience of betrayal trauma may function similarly for individuals tasked with detecting unhealthy communication patterns. In these situations, individuals may be less able to identify when communication patterns are unhealthy as they may have learned to accept or normalize such patterns of communication when they were exposed to betrayal trauma.

# **Directed Attention**

In addition to variables related to how individuals learn to interact with others in intimate relationship, variables related to attention may influence the ability of individuals to detect unhealthy communication patterns. In attention tasks, even when individuals are instructed to pay attention to something specific, different factors can influence the degree to which individuals are successful in their attention. Two common forms of attention bias that occur are inattentional blindness, the failure to notice something unexpected when engaged in an attention task, and change blindness, the failure to notice an obvious change during an attention task (Jensen et al., 2011; Mack & Rock, 1998; Rensink et al., 1997).

The classic example of inattention bias comes from studies in which participants were directed to watch a video, paying attention to the number of times a ball is passed in a group of people. During this video, an unexpected figure such as a woman with an umbrella or a gorilla

walk through the group, which often goes unnoticed by the participants (Neisser, 1979; Simons & Chabris, 1999). This lack of noticing what one was not directed to pay attention to is inattention blindness. One example of a procedure that has been used to illustrate change blindness is engaging a participant in a conversation with a researcher during which someone carrying a door walks between the participant and researcher, obscuring the participants view of the researcher and allowing the researcher to be replaced with another individual (Simons & Levin, 1998). Change blindness occurs when participants do not notice that the researcher was replaced indicating a lack of attention to a change.

Experiences in romantic relationships have been shown to influence attentional biases, such as individuals who experienced dating violence being more likely to allocate attention to more dysphoric stimuli or angry faces compared to more neutral stimuli/faces (Lee & Lee, 2012; Lee & Lee, 2014). Additionally, individuals who had experienced dating violence and symptoms of PTSD were more likely to pay more attention to violent images (Lee & Lee, 2012). Conversely, individuals that experienced interpersonal violence, such as sexual abuse, during childhood are at greater risk for sexual or physical victimization during adulthood (Nishith et al., 2010). One explanation that has been given for revictimization is that symptoms of trauma such as dissociation and other stress symptoms influence the ability of individuals to appraise risk (Iverson et al., 2013; Nishith et al., 2010). This research establishes that attention is susceptible to bias. As the detection procedure of watching videos and assessing whether unhealthy communication patterns occurred within an interaction is an attention task, it is therefore likely that variation in the ability to provide focused attention may influence detection abilities.

# Dissociation

One way that attention may be altered is through dissociation. Dissociation refers to a lack of awareness or memory for what is occurring in the environment and may include disturbances in physical sensations (Diseth, 2005; Wieland, 2015). According to the American Psychiatric Association (APA, 2013), dissociation is "characterized by a disruption of and/or discontinuity in the normal integration of consciousness, memory, identity, emotion, perception, body representation, motor control, and behavior" (p. 291). Further, dissociative symptoms may be experienced as either intrusions into the awareness leading to continuity losses or the inability to access information or control the mental processes to access information that is typically easily accessible (APA, 2013).

Experiencing dissociation is associated with disconnectedness in relationships, fear of relationships, and preoccupation with intimate relationships (Dorahy, 2010; Dorahy et al., 2013; Dorahy et al., 2015). Dissociation was also found to predict revictimization in those who have experienced interpersonal violence (Iverson et al., 2013). Furthermore, when shown videotape segments of rape scenarios, women with high levels of trait dissociation rated the situations as less dangerous compared to women with lower levels of trait dissociation (Sandberg et al., 2001). This rating of dangerous situations as less dangerous may occur because individuals who experience dissociation when exposed to a violent situation may be more likely to be more emotionally removed from the distressing content compared to individuals who experienced less dissociation. In combination, these findings suggest that dissociation may be related to a lower ability to detect unhealthy or dangerous social situations. As such, dissociation may reduce the ability of individuals to detect unhealthy communication patterns and increase the degree to which they under detect these patterns.

# Mindfulness

In contrast to dissociation, mindfulness is a form of focused attention that increases awareness of the present moment and promotes qualities such as compassion, acceptance, and non-judgement (Siegel et al., 2009). In relation to attention, mindfulness can be thought of as the opposite of dissociation, drawing focus to the present instead of away from the current situation. Mindfulness is associated with increases in emotion regulation (the ability to differentiate and identify emotions), confidence, mental health, and life satisfaction as well as decreases in anxiety and depression (Hill & Updegraff, 2012; Mesmer-Magnus et al., 2017; Wachs & Cordova, 2007). Mindfulness also has direct benefits to romantic relationship functioning, with more mindful individuals being likely to have lower levels of emotional stress responses from conflict within a romantic relationship, to have better communication quality with their partner during conflict, and to experience higher relationship satisfaction (Barnes et al., 2007; Kozlowski, 2013; Laurent et al., 2016). Furthermore, mindfulness is related to reduced defensiveness to social threats and greater empathy for others (Brown et al., 2008; Wachs & Cordova, 2007). Combined, these findings show that mindfulness helps individuals to identify emotions in themselves and others and regulate their emotions even when exposed to conflict. These skills may translate to the ability to accurately detect unhealthy communication patterns.

# **Hypotheses for Study 2**

The present study will focus on examining predictors of the variation in the detection of unhealthy communication patterns within romantic relationships. Specifically, it is predicted that higher levels of self-reported anxious attachment tendencies (Hypothesis 1a) and self-reported avoidant attachment tendencies (Hypothesis 1b) will be associated with lower ability to accurately detect unhealthy communication patterns. Specifically, it is hypothesized that anxious

attachment tendencies will predict over-detection and that avoidant attachment tendencies will predict under-detection of unhealthy communication patterns. It is predicted that greater exposure to interparental conflict during childhood (Hypothesis 2a), greater perceived threat from interparental conflict (Hypothesis 2b), and greater self-blame for interparental conflict (Hypothesis 2c) as well as experiences of betrayal trauma during childhood (Hypothesis 3) will be associated with over-detection of unhealthy communication expressions. Additionally, it is predicted that greater levels of self-reported dissociation (Hypothesis 4) will be associated with under-detection less accurate detection and, in contrast, greater levels of trait mindfulness will be associated with more accurate detection (Hypothesis 5).

# **STUDY 2 METHODS**

## **Participants**

Participants were recruited from an undergraduate research pool at a large western university. A total of 139 participants provided informed consent and completed the study procedures. The participants were 92.8% female, 68.8% identified as Caucasian/White, and ranged in age from 18-27 (M = 20.10, SD = 1.44). Additionally, 51.8% of participants reported a current romantic relationship, 94.9% reported having had at least one romantic relationship, and 15.8% reported having experienced domestic violence. Participants were given the opportunity to earn 3 points of extra credit if enrolled in a Human Development and Family Studies course after completion of the study. No other incentives or payment were provided to participants. See Table 2.1 for key descriptive statistics of the sample.

## Procedure

Participants were asked to complete the study remotely via an electronic Qualtrics survey link. After providing informed consent, participants were instructed to watch a series of four two-minute videos depicting couples engaging in a conversation task. Two videos (Video 8 and Video 13) portrayed couples engaging in unhealthy communication patterns and two videos (Video 4 and Video 12) portrayed neutral conflict discussions. As described in Study 1, Video 8 portrayed a mixed-race (Hispanic and Caucasian), heterosexual couple in their early-20s discussing the decision to start a family. In this video the female partner describes the male partner as being selfish for not wanting to have a child. Video 13 portrayed a mixed-race (Asian and Caucasian), same-sex male couple in their early to mid-40s discussing managing pickup/drop-off from a child from school and balancing the family obligations with work obligations. Video 4 portrayed a Caucasian, heterosexual couple in their mid-20s-30s discussing their selection of a wedding venue. Video 12 portrayed a Caucasian, heterosexual couple in their early to mid-40s discussing the amount they should allow their teenage daughter to drive a car.

These videos were selected based on the results from Study 1, with the neutral videos having been validated as having no concern and high relationship satisfaction. Similarly, the unhealthy videos were selected for having shown the highest levels of concern compared to the rest of the sample and low levels of satisfaction. No significant differences were found between the ratings of the two unhealthy communication pattern videos. Significant differences (p = .001) were found between the ratings of the two neutral videos such that the mean rating for Video 12 was lower compared to Video 4 indicating that the ratings of Video 12 were more accurate.

Prior to watching the videos, participants were informed that the videos may portray unhealthy communication patterns or neutral conflict interactions and that the individuals shown in the videos were actors. Following the videos, participants were asked to complete an online survey relating to their experiences. No identifying information was obtained from participants. IRB approval was obtained for all study procedures. See Table 2.2 for descriptive statistics of participant detection as well as for the following measures.

#### Measures

# **Detection of Unhealthy Communication Patterns**

After watching each of the four videos, participants were asked to report if they saw the couple engage in unhealthy communication patterns (Y/N). As videos were previously validated for the presence of unhealthy communication patterns in Study 1, accuracy rating was based on whether the score matched with the validated response by experts in detecting unhealthy communication patterns. Specifically, correct identification for Video 8 and Video 13 was that

the interaction portrayed unhealthy communication patterns and correct identification for Video 4 and Video 12 was that the interaction did not portray unhealthy communication patterns. Responses for the two neutral videos were combined resulting in a scale of 1 = over-detection (i.e., over-detection in both videos), 0.5 = partial over-detection (i.e., accurate detection on one video, over-detection on the other video), and 0 = accurate detection (i.e., accurate detection in both videos). Similarly, responses for the two unhealthy communication pattern videos were combined resulting in a scale of 1 = accurate detection (i.e., accurate detection in both videos), 0.5 = partial under-detection (i.e., accurate detection in both videos), 0.5 = partial under-detection (i.e., accurate detection in both videos), 0.5 = partial under-detection (i.e., accurate detection on one video, under-detection on the other), and 0 = under-detection (i.e., under-detection in both videos). This resulted in 3 detection categories for each video type.

Next, a dichotomous scale was created by combining the partial under-/over-detection scales (0.5) with the respective over and under detection scales (0). In the new dichotomous variable for unhealthy communication pattern videos 0 = under-detection and 1 = accurate detection. In the new dichotomous variable for neutral interaction videos 0 = accurate detection and 1 = over-detection. This was done as only 5.8% (N = 8) of the unhealthy communication pattern videos and 12.2% (N = 17) of the neutral videos had complete over or under detection.

# Attachment

The Experiences in Close Relationship Short-Form (ECR-S; Wei et al., 2007) is a 15item measure developed from the Experiences in Close Relationship Scale (ECR; Brennan et al., 1998). Participants are asked to rate items (e.g. "It helps to turn to my romantic partner in times of need") on a 7-point Likert scale from "strongly disagree" to "strongly agree". The scale is scored on two dimensions: *Avoidance* and *Anxiety*. The scales are highly correlated with the original subscales by the same name (.95 and .94, respectively). Test-retest reliability for the

scales, across multiple studies ranged from .80 to .89 (Wei et al., 2007). For this sample, reliabilities were moderate to acceptable for both scales (*Avoidance*, Cronbach alpha = .74 and *Anxiety*, Cronbach alpha = .67).

# **Interparental Conflict**

The Children's Perception of Interparental Conflict Scale (CPIC; Grych et al., 1992) consists of several subscales pertaining to the ways that children perceive conflict between their parents. Participants are asked to rate how true a statement is on a 3-point scale of "true", "sort of true", and "false" (e.g. "when my parents argue I worry about what will happen to me"). The measure contains three scales with good internal validity across two samples of *Conflict Properties* (19 items; Cronbach alpha = .90 and .89), *Threat* (12 items; Cronbach alpha = .83 and .83) and *Self-Blame* (9 items; Cronbach alpha = .78 and .84). Each scale includes two or three subscales creating a total of seven subscales: *Frequency, Intensity,* and *Resolution* (combining to create *Conflict Properties*), *Perceived Threat*, and *Coping Efficacy* (combining to create *Threat*), and *Content* and *Self-Blame* (combining to create *Self-Blame*). Each scale has been found to have adequate test-retest reliability ranging from .68 to .76 over a two-week period (Grych et al., 1992). Two additional subscales of *Triangulation* and *Stability* did not consistently map onto any of the three factors in the original scale development and were viewed as additional separate scales (Gyrch et al., 1992).

This factor structure has been replicated in adolescents with consistency across younger adolescent (as young as 9 years-old) and older adolescent (up to 25 years-old) samples (Moura et al., 2010; Reese-Weber & Hesson-McInnis, 2008). The CPIC scale has previously been demonstrated to be a valid measure for use in older adolescent/emerging adult (age 17-21) populations (Bickham & Fiese, 1997; Lucas-Thompson & Hostinar, 2013). For this study, questions were phrased retrospectively (e.g. "when my parents argued I worried about what would happen to me") and participants were asked to answer based on their experiences while growing up, as the focus of the study is on early perceptions of parent conflict versus current conflict in a college-aged sample.

The three subscales of *Conflict Properties*, *Perceived Threat*, and *Self-Blame* were used in the current study. Unfortunately, due to an error during data collection, one item ("Even if they don't say it, I know I'm to blame when my parents argue") from the *Self-Blame* subscale could not be used in the final scale creation. However, as the internal reliability of the scale remained consistent with what has been found in prior samples, the scale was used minus the one item. The internal reliability for the subscales in this sample ranged from good to excellent (*Conflict Properties*, Cronbach alpha = .94; *Perceived Threat*, Cronbach alpha = .86, *Self-Blame*, Cronbach alpha = .80).

### **Betrayal Trauma**

The Brief Betrayal Trauma Scale (BBTS; Goldberg & Freyd, 2006) is a 12-item scale used to assess the experiences of trauma. Participants are asked to rate the number of times a traumatic event occurred to them on a scale of "never", "1 or 2 times", and "More than that" before age 18 and at age 18 or older. Items are categorized into two subscales, *Trauma with High Betrayal* and *Trauma with Low Betrayal*. The first, *Trauma with High Betrayal* focusing only on experience before the age of 18, were for this study given the focus of the hypothesis. This subscale is comprised of five items (e.g. "you were made to have some form of sexual contact, such as touching or penetration, by someone with whom you were very close (such as a parent or lover)" or "you witnessed someone with whom you were very close deliberately attack another family member so severely as to result in marks, bruises, blood, broken bones, or broken teeth").

The measure is reported to have good convergent validity and to have a 3-year test-retest reliability of 83% for childhood events and 75% for events that occurred during adulthood (Goldberg & Freyd, 2006). The internal reliability for this sample was adequate (Cronbach alpha = .72).

### Dissociation

The Dissociative Experiences Scale (DES; Bernstein & Putnam, 1986) is a 28-item selfreport measure of the degree to which participants experience dissociation. Participants are asked to indicate what percentage of the time they have a particular experience that people sometimes have (e.g. "some people find that sometimes they are listening to someone talk and they suddenly realize that they did not hear all or part of what was said") on an 11-point scale from "never – 0%" to "always – 100%". Scores are computed by summing the results with a minimum score of 0 and a maximum score of 280. A meta-analysis on the DES reported a high level of internal validity (average Cronbach's alpha = .93), high convergent validity with other questionnaires and interviews of dissociation, and predictive validity related to PTSD and other psychological disorders (van IJzendoorn & Schungel, 1996). The internal reliability for this sample was excellent (Cronbach alpha = .97).

### Mindfulness

The Mindful Attention Awareness Scale (MAAS; Brown & Ryan, 2003) is a 15-item measure of trait mindful attention. Participants are asked to rate how frequently an experience occurs to them on a 6-point Likert scale ranging from "almost always" to "almost never" (e.g. "I tend to walk quickly to get where I'm going without paying attention to what I experience along the way". Good internal reliability was found across multiple studies (Cronbach alpha = .81 and .89) (Brown & Ryan, 2003; MacKillop & Anderson, 2007). No significant gender differences

were found between men and women (MacKillop & Anderson, 2007). The internal reliability for this sample was good (Cronbach alpha = .87).

### **Data Analysis**

To analyze the hypotheses, binary logistic regressions were used to predict the ability to detect unhealthy communication patterns in either the unhealthy communication pattern videos or the neutral videos. In each model, experience of domestic violence (Y/N), whether the participant had ever been in a romantic relationship (Y/N), and whether the participant was in a current romantic relationship (Y/N) were included in the first test. As the sample was rather homogeneous related to age and gender, these were not included as controls in any of the models. The test variables of attachment (avoidance and anxiety), experience of interparental conflict (exposure, threat, and self-blame), experience of betrayal trauma, trait dissociation, and trait mindfulness were then entered independently in the second step of each respective model.

Originally, multinomial logistic regressions were planned as this would allow for the use of the three categories described in the measures section. However, multiple models reported either unexpected singularities in the Hessian matrix or quasi-complete separation in the data. This occurs when complete or almost complete separation occurs which allows for complete distinction between the outcome groups. Using cross-tabulations, it was determined that the low numbers of participants in the under and over detection groups contributed to this problem. When performing the binary logistic regressions, these errors did not occur confirming this issue. *Post hoc* power analyses using the GPower software (Faul et al., 2007), revealed that with the given sample size and data analytic plan, there was adequate power (actual power > .80) to detect medium (power = 1.0) and large (power = 1.0) effect sizes but not to detect small effect sizes (power = .66).

# Descriptive Statistic Tables for Study 2

# Table 2.1

Demographic	М	SD	%
Age	20.10	1.44	
Gender			
Female			92.8
Male			5.0
Non-Binary or Gender Queer			0.7
Other Gender Identity			0.7
Prefer Not to Respond			0.7
Race/Ethnicity			
Caucasian/White			69.8
Latinx/Hispanic			12.2
Mixed Race/Ethnicity			3.6
African American/Black			5.8
Asian/Pacific Islander			5.8
Middle Eastern			0.7
Did Not Respond			2.2
Ever Experienced a Romantic Relationship			92.8
Ever Experienced Domestic Violence			15.8
Currently in a Romantic Relationship			51.8

Key Participant Demographics for Study 2

*Note: N* = 139

Descriptive Statistics for Key Variables in Study 2

Variable	Ν	%	М	SD	Range	α
Detection in Unhealthy Communication Pattern Videos	139		0.80	0.30	0-1.0	.20
Correct Detection (score = 1)	90	64.7				
Partial Under Detection (score = $0.5$ )	41	29.5				
Under Detection (score = $0$ )	8	5.8				
Detection in Neutral Videos	138		0.27	0.35	0-1.0	.44
Correct Detection (score = 0)	81	58.7				
Partial Over Detection (score = $0.5$ )	40	29.0				
Over Detection (score = 1)	17	12.3				
Attachment Anxiety (ECR-Anxiety)	131		4.17	1.03	1.5-6.67	.67
Attachment Avoidance (ECR- Avoidance)	133		3.04	1.05	1-5.50	.74
Exposure to Interparental Conflict (CPIC-Conflict Properties)	130		1.97	0.48	1.11-2.89	.94
Threat of Interparental Conflict (CPIC- Perceived Threat)	135		1.79	0.46	1.0-2.83	.86
Self-Blame for Interparental Conflict ( <i>CPIC-Self-Blame</i> )	132		1.35	0.38	1.0-2.5	.80
Betrayal Trauma (BBTS)	126		2.02	2.91	0-13.0	.72
Dissociation (DES)	135		54.15	44.66	2.0-240.0	.97
Mindfulness (MAAS)	134		3.77	0.78	2.20-6.00	.87

### **STUDY 2 RESULTS**

Based on the original data analytic plan, a series of multinomial logistic regressions were computed with each model controlling for experience in a romantic relationship, experience of domestic violence, and whether the participant was currently in a romantic relationship. Model 1 included attachment avoidance and anxiety as predictors in the second step. Model 2 included exposure to interparental conflict, threat of interparental conflict interparental conflict, and selfblame related to interparental conflict. Model 3 included experience of betrayal trauma. Model 4 included trait dissociation, and Model 5 included trait mindfulness. Each model was performed with the presence of unhealthy communication patterns in a) unhealthy communication pattern videos and b) neutral videos. No models were significant at the p < .05 level. See Tables 2.3-2.12 for results.

As explained in the data analytic section, the multinomial models experienced unexpected singularities in the Hessian matrix or quasi-complete separation in the data leading to a series of binary logistic regressions being performed and reported as the main results in this study. Results of the multinomial models are still reported as control variables in the binary logistic models were selected based on these results. Models were first performed with the same three control variables as the multinomial regressions, but no model was significant. As the control variable of exposure to domestic violence was not significant in any model it was removed. The control variables of current relationship status and experience in a romantic relationship (Y/N) were removed from the models following patterns of non-significance in the multinomial models (no significance was found for either in any binomial model).

Hypothesis 1 was not supported, as the model examining the prediction of attachment anxiety and avoidance on detection ability in videos portraying unhealthy communication patterns while controlling for experience in a romantic relationship was not significant,  $\chi^2(3) =$ 1.68, p = .64. Similarly, the model examining the prediction of attachment avoidance and anxiety on detection ability (controlling for current romantic relationship status) was not significant,  $\chi^2$ (3) = 5.78, p = .12. See Table 2.13 and 2.14 for regression coefficients.

Hypothesis 2 was partially supported (Hypothesis 2a and 2b were not supported while Hypothesis 2c was fully supported), as the model examining the prediction of exposure to interparental conflict, perceived threat from interparental conflict, and self-blame for interparental conflict on detection ability in videos portraying unhealthy communication patterns (while controlling for experience in a romantic relationship) was not significant, though it trended towards significance,  $\chi^2(4) = 8.53$ , p = .07. Self-blame for interparental conflict was the only significant predictor of ability to detect unhealthy communication patterns at the p < .05level, such that those who reported higher levels of self-blame were at an increased likelihood to experience under detection (OR = 0.24). See Table 2.15 for regression coefficients. The model examining the prediction of exposure to interparental conflict, perceived threat from interparental conflict, and self-blame for interparental conflict on detection ability in the neutral videos (controlling for current romantic relationship status) was significant,  $\chi^2(4) = 11.00$ , p = .03. Selfblame for interparental conflict was a significant predictor at the p < .05 level, such that those who reported higher levels of self-blame were at an increased likelihood to experience over detection (OR = 3.75). See Table 2.16 for regression coefficients.

Hypothesis 3 was not supported, as the model examining the prediction detection ability by betrayal trauma in videos portraying unhealthy communication patterns (while controlling for experience in a romantic relationship) was not significant,  $\chi^2(2) = 1.50$ , p = .47. Similarly, the model examining the prediction of detection ability by betrayal trauma in videos portraying neutral conflict interactions (while controlling for current romantic relationship status) was not significant,  $\chi^2(2) = 0.07$ , p = .97. See Tables 2.17 and 2.18 for regression coefficients.

Hypothesis 4 was supported, as the model examining the prediction of dissociation in videos portraying unhealthy communication patterns (while controlling for experience in a romantic relationship) to predict detection ability was significant,  $\chi^2(2) = 6.91$ , p = .03. Trait dissociation was a significant predictor of ability to detect unhealthy communication patterns at the p < .05 level, meaning that those who reported dissociative traits tended to under-detect unhealthy patterns. Conversely, having been in a romantic relationship also predicted more accurate detection of unhealthy communication patterns (OR = 0.99). See Table 2.19 for regression coefficients. The model predicting detection abilities in the neutral videos was not significant based on dissociation (while controlling for current romantic relationship status),  $\chi^2$  (2) = 3.54, p = .17. See Table 2.20 for regression coefficients.

Hypothesis 5 was not supported, as the model examining the role of mindfulness in videos portraying unhealthy communication patterns (while controlling for experience in a romantic relationship) to predict detection ability was not significant,  $\chi^2(2) = 4.65$ , p = .09. Similarly, the model predicting detection ability in the neutral videos by mindfulness (controlling for current romantic relationship status) was not significant,  $\chi^2(2) = 2.43$ , p = .30. See Tables 2.21 and 2.22 for regression coefficients.

# Data Analytic Tables for Study 2

Table 2.3

Multinomial Logistic Regression Coefficients for Attachment Style on Detection Abilities in

# Videos Portraying Unhealthy Communication Patterns

	Detection of Unhealthy Communi Patterns			
Predictor Variable	В	SE B	Wald	Exp(B)
Compared to Under Detection (=0)				
Intercept	-0.60	2.20	0.07	
Ever Experienced a Romantic Relationship (=0)	22.00	0.00		
Ever Experienced Domestic Violence (=0)	-0.90	1.29	0.49	0.41
Currently in a Romantic Relationship (=0)	-19.56	1.30	227.48	3.21***
Avoidance	0.12	0.52	0.05	1.22
Anxiety	-0.45	0.55	0.67	0.64
Compared to Partial Under Detection (=0.5)				
Intercept	-1.00	1.13	0.78	
Ever Experienced a Romantic Relationship (=0)	0.43	0.97	0.19	1.54
Ever Experienced Domestic Violence (=0)	0.01	0.55	0.00	1.01
Currently in a Romantic Relationship (=0)	-0.05	0.42	0.01	0.95
Avoidance	-0.03	0.20	0.02	0.98
Anxiety	0.07	0.19	0.15	1.08

*Note.* Nagelkerke  $R^2 = .102$ \*p < .05; \*\*p < .01; \*\*\*p < .001

# Multinomial Logistic Regression Coefficients for Attachment Style on Detection Abilities in

	Detection of Unhealthy Communic Patterns			
Predictor Variable	В	SE B	Wald	Exp(B)
Compared to Under Detection (=0)				
Intercept	1.94	1.67	1.35	
Ever Experienced a Romantic Relationship (=0)	-0.38	0.98	0.15	0.68
Ever Experienced Domestic Violence (=0)	0.61	0.78	0.62	1.84
Currently in a Romantic Relationship (=0)	-1.00	0.69	2.11	0.37
Avoidance	-0.36	0.32	1.27	0.70
Anxiety	0.23	0.30	0.58	1.26
Compared to Partial Under Detection (=0.5)				
Intercept	-0.42	1.89	0.05	
Ever Experienced a Romantic Relationship (=0)	-1.08	1.33	0.65	0.34
Ever Experienced Domestic Violence (=0)	0.70	0.85	0.69	2.02
Currently in a Romantic Relationship (=0)	-1.64	0.74	4.72	0.20*
Avoidance	-0.36	0.32	1.27	0.70
Anxiety	0.23	0.30	0.58	0.45

Videos Portraying Neutral Conflict Interactions

 Note.
 Nagelkerke  $\mathbb{R}^2 = .118$  

 \*p < .05; \*\*p < .01; \*\*\*p < .001

# Multinomial Logistic Regression Coefficients for Exposure to Interparental Conflict on

# Detection Abilities in Videos Portraying Unhealthy Communication Patterns

	Detectio		lthy Com terns	munication
Predictor Variable	В	SE B	Wald	Exp(B)
Compared to Under Detection (=0)				
Intercept	-23.71***	3.41	48.28	
Ever Experienced a Romantic Relationship (=0)	19.63	4666.81	0.00	334404210.2
Ever Experienced Domestic Violence (=0)	17.18	0.00		28834418.63
Currently in a Romantic Relationship (=0)	-17.31	4666.81	0.00	3.05
Exposure	0.82	2.01	0.16	2.26
Threat	-0.92	2.19	0.18	0.40
Self-Blame	2.55	1.77	2.08	12.86
Compared to Partial Under Detection (=0.5)				
Intercept	-2.05	1.13	3.28	
Ever Experienced a Romantic Relationship (=0)	0.26	0.99	0.07	1.29
Ever Experienced Domestic Violence (=0)	-0.27	0.55	0.25	0.76
Currently in a Romantic Relationship (=0)	0.04	0.42	0.01	1.05
Exposure	0.22	0.65	0.11	1.24
Threat	-0.32	0.68	0.21	0.73
Self-Blame	1.25	0.59	4.55	3.49

*Note*. Nagelkerke R<sup>2</sup> = .170 \**p* < .05; \*\**p* < .01; \*\*\**p* < .001

# Multinomial Logistic Regression Coefficients for Exposure to Interparental Conflict on

# Detection Abilities in Videos Portraying Neutral Conflict Interactions

	Detection of Unhealthy Communica Patterns			
Predictor Variable	В	SE B	Wald	Exp(B)
Compared to Under Detection (=0)				
Intercept	5.32**	1.84	8.33	
Ever Experienced a Romantic Relationship (=0)	-0.19	1.04	0.03	0.83
Ever Experienced Domestic Violence (=0)	0.92	0.84	1.20	2.50
Currently in a Romantic Relationship (=0)	1.77	0.77	5.40	0.17
Exposure	-0.33	1.09	0.09	0.72
Threat	0.09	1.20	0.01	1.09
Self-Blame	-2.05	0.89	5.27	0.13*
Compared to Partial Under Detection (=0.5)				
Intercept	2.52	1.97	1.64	
Ever Experienced a Romantic Relationship (=0)	-0.86	1.34	0.42	0.42
Ever Experienced Domestic Violence (=0)	0.66	0.87	0.58	1.94
Currently in a Romantic Relationship (=0)	-1.92	0.79	5.90	0.15
Exposure	0.03	1.18	0.00	1.03
Threat	0.30	1.17	0.06	1.34
Self-Blame	-1.05	0.92	1.31	0.35

*Note.* Nagelkerke R<sup>2</sup> = .182 \**p* < .05; \*\**p* < .01; \*\*\**p* < .001

# Multinomial Logistic Regression Coefficients for Betrayal Trauma on Detection Abilities in

	Detection		Ithy Comm erns	Communication	
Predictor Variable	В	SE B	Wald	Exp(B)	
Compared to Under Detection (=0)					
Intercept	-2.30	1.36	2.87		
Ever Experienced a Romantic Relationship (=0)	2.66	1.58	2.84	14.25	
Ever Experienced Domestic Violence (=0)	-0.95	1.40	0.46	0.39	
Currently in a Romantic Relationship (=0)	-0.42	1.26	0.11	0.66	
Betrayal Trauma	-0.03	0.19	0.03	0.97	
Compared to Partial Under Detection (=0.5)					
Intercept	-0.10	0.59	0.03		
Ever Experienced a Romantic Relationship (=0)	-0.16	1.21	0.02	0.85	
Ever Experienced Domestic Violence (=0)	-0.59	0.58	1.04	0.55	
Currently in a Romantic Relationship (=0)	0.07	0.42	0.03	1.07	
Betrayal Trauma	-0.14	0.09	2.38	0.87	

# Videos Portraying Unhealthy Communication Patterns

 Note.
 Nagelkerke  $R^2 = .061$  

 \*p < .05; \*\*p < .01; \*\*\*p < .001

# Multinomial Logistic Regression Coefficients for Betrayal Trauma on Detection Abilities in

Detect		•	nmunication
В	SE B	Wald	Exp(B)
1.95*	0.89	4.80	
18.84	1.18	257.02	152417642.4
			***
0.77	0.81	0.90	2.16
-1.52	0.71	4.56	0.22*
0.02	0.10	0.04	1.02
1.57	0.95	2.74	
18.53	0.00		111739068.3
0.44	0.88	0.25	1.56
-1.91	0.77	6.19	0.15
0.03	0.12	0.06	1.03
	<i>B</i> 1.95* 18.84 0.77 -1.52 0.02 1.57 18.53 0.44 -1.91	BSE B $1.95^*$ $0.89$ $18.84$ $1.18$ $0.77$ $0.81$ $-1.52$ $0.71$ $0.02$ $0.10$ $1.57$ $0.95$ $18.53$ $0.00$ $0.44$ $0.88$ $-1.91$ $0.77$	1.95* $0.89$ $4.80$ $18.84$ $1.18$ $257.02$ $0.77$ $0.81$ $0.90$ $-1.52$ $0.71$ $4.56$ $0.02$ $0.10$ $0.04$ $1.57$ $0.95$ $2.74$ $18.53$ $0.00$ $0.44$ $0.88$ $0.25$ $-1.91$ $0.77$ $6.19$

# Videos Portraying Neutral Conflict Interactions

*Note*. Nagelkerke R<sup>2</sup> = .092 \**p* < .05; \*\**p* < .01; \*\*\**p* < .001

# Multinomial Logistic Regression Coefficients for Dissociation on Detection Abilities in Videos

	Detection of Unhealthy Commu Patterns			
Predictor Variable	В	SE B	Wald	Exp(B)
Compared to Under Detection (=0)				
Intercept	-3.54**	1.32	7.18	
Ever Experienced a Romantic Relationship (=0)	3.00	1.44	4.35	19.99*
Ever Experienced Domestic Violence (=0)	-0.19	1.22	0.02	0.83
Currently in a Romantic Relationship (=0)	-0.87	1.19	0.54	0.42
Dissociation	0.02	0.01	3.84	1.02*
Compared to Partial Under Detection (=0.5)				
Intercept	-1.16*	0.59	3.85	
Ever Experienced a Romantic Relationship (=0)	0.33	0.98	0.11	1.39
Ever Experienced Domestic Violence (=0)	-0.02	0.54	0.00	0.98
Currently in a Romantic Relationship (=0)	-0.08	0.41	0.04	0.93
Dissociation	0.01	0.01	3.26	1.01

Portraying Unhealthy Communication Patterns

*Note.* Nagelkerke R<sup>2</sup> = .109 \**p* < .05; \*\**p* < .01; \*\*\**p* < .001

# Multinomial Logistic Regression Coefficients for Dissociation on Detection Abilities in Videos

	Detection		lthy Comm terns	nunication	
Predictor Variable	В	SE B	Wald	Exp(B)	
Compared to Under Detection (=0)					
Intercept	2.58	0.92	7.79**		
Ever Experienced a Romantic Relationship (=0)	-0.25	0.99	0.07	0.78	
Ever Experienced Domestic Violence (=0)	0.34	0.78	0.19	1.40	
Currently in a Romantic Relationship (=0)	-1.25	0.65	3.70	0.29	
Dissociation	-0.01	0.01	2.41	0.99	
Compared to Partial Under Detection (=0.5)					
Intercept	1.83	0.97	3.55		
Ever Experienced a Romantic Relationship (=0)	-0.83	1.32	0.39	0.44	
Ever Experienced Domestic Violence (=0)	0.23	0.82	0.08	1.25	
Currently in a Romantic Relationship (=0)	-1.64	0.69	5.57	0.20	
Dissociation	-0.003	0.01	0.27	1.00	

Portraying Neutral Conflict Interactions

 Note.
 Nagelkerke  $R^2 = .103$  

 \*p < .05; \*\*p < .01; \*\*\*p < .001

# Multinomial Logistic Regression Coefficients for Mindfulness on Detection Abilities in Videos

	Detection of Unhealthy Communi Patterns			
Predictor Variable	В	SE B	Wald	Exp(B)
Compared to Under Detection (=0)				
Intercept	1.53	2.96	0.27	
Ever Experienced a Romantic Relationship (=0)	3.92	1.54	6.48	50.26*
Ever Experienced Domestic Violence (=0)	-0.72	1.28	0.31	0.49
Currently in a Romantic Relationship (=0)	-0.71	1.30	0.30	0.49
Mindfulness	-1.13	0.81	1.95	0.32
Compared to Partial Under Detection (=0.5)				
Intercept	0.57	1.10	0.26	
Ever Experienced a Romantic Relationship (=0)	0.62	0.98	0.40	1.86
Ever Experienced Domestic Violence (=0)	-0.21	0.53	0.16	0.81
Currently in a Romantic Relationship (=0)	0.02	0.42	0.00	1.02
Mindfulness	-0.33	0.27	1.52	0.72

# Portraying Unhealthy Communication Patterns

 Note.
 Nagelkerke  $R^2 = .100$  

 \*p < .05; \*\*p < .01; \*\*\*p < .001

# Multinomial Logistic Regression Coefficients for Mindfulness on Detection Abilities in Videos

	Detection		f Unhealthy Communic Patterns	
Predictor Variable	В	SE B	Wald	Exp(B)
Compared to Under Detection (=0)				
Intercept	0.85	1.58	0.29	
Ever Experienced a Romantic Relationship (=0)	63	0.97	0.43	0.53
Ever Experienced Domestic Violence (=0)	0.65	0.78	0.71	1.92
Currently in a Romantic Relationship (=0)	-1.54	0.72	4.64	0.21*
Mindfulness	0.34	0.38	0.81	1.40
Compared to Partial Under Detection (=0.5)				
Intercept	1.52	1.73	0.77	
Ever Experienced a Romantic Relationship (=0)	-0.96	1.31	0.54	0.38
Ever Experienced Domestic Violence (=0)	0.40	0.83	0.23	1.49
Currently in a Romantic Relationship (=0)	-1.84	0.76	5.80	0.16*
Mindfulness	0.05	0.42	0.01	1.05

Portraying Neutral Conflict Interactions

 Note.
 Nagelkerke  $R^2 = .105$  

 \*p < .05; \*\*p < .01; \*\*\*p < .001

# Binary Logistic Regression Coefficients for Attachment Style on Detection Abilities in Videos

	Detection of Unhealthy Communication Patterns				
Predictor Variable	В	SE B	Wald	Exp(B)	
Constant	-0.37	1.22	0.09	0.69	
Ever Experienced a Romantic Relationship	1.04	0.81	1.66	2.83	
Avoidance	0.05	0.18	0.07	1.05	
Anxiety	-0.03	0.18	0.02	0.98	

Portraying Unhealthy Communication Patterns

*Note*. Nagelkerke R<sup>2</sup> = .018 \**p* < .05; \*\**p* < .01; \*\*\**p* < .001

# Binary Logistic Regression Coefficients for Attachment Style on Detection Abilities in Videos

	Detection of Unhealthy Communication Patterns			
Predictor Variable	В	SE B	Wald	Exp(B)
Constant	-1.89	1.01	3.47	0.15
Currently in a Romantic Relationship	0.24	0.39	0.40	1.28
Avoidance	0.44	0.19	5.40	1.55*
Anxiety	0.01	0.18	0.00	1.01

Portraying Neutral Conflict Interactions

*Note.* Nagelkerke  $R^2 = .059$ \*p < .05; \*\*p < .01; \*\*\*p < .001

# Binary Logistic Regression Coefficients for Exposure to Interparental Conflict on Detection Abilities in Videos Portraying Unhealthy Communication Patterns

Predictor Variable	Detection of Unhealthy Communication Patterns				
	В	SE B	Wald	Exp(B)	
Constant	1.48	1.25	1.42	4.41	
Ever Experienced a Romantic Relationship	0.83	0.81	1.05	2.30	
Exposure	-0.17	0.63	0.08	0.84	
Threat	0.35	0.67	0.28	1.42	
Self-Blame	-1.41	0.56	6.28	0.24*	

*Note.* Nagelkerke  $R^2 = .091$ 

\**p* < .05; \*\**p* < .01; \*\*\**p* < .001

# Binary Logistic Regression Coefficients for Exposure to Interparental Conflict on Detection Abilities in Videos Portraying Neutral Conflict Interactions

	Detection of Unhealthy Communication Patterns				
Predictor Variable	В	SE B	Wald	Exp(B)	
Constant	-3.05	1.01	9.14	0.05**	
Currently in a Romantic Relationship	-0.24	0.39	0.38	0.79	
Exposure	0.33	0.65	0.25	1.39	
Threat	0.21	0.67	0.10	1.23	
Self-Blame	1.32	0.56	5.66	3.75*	

*Note.* Nagelkerke R<sup>2</sup> = .004 \**p* < .05; \*\**p* < .01; \*\*\**p* < .001

# Binary Logistic Regression Coefficients for Betrayal Trauma on Detection Abilities in Videos

	Detection of Unhealthy Communication Patterns			
Predictor Variable	В	SE B	Wald	Exp(B)
Constant	0.20	0.94	0.04	1.22
Ever Experienced a Romantic Relationship	0.40	0.94	0.18	1.50
Betrayal Trauma	0.08	0.07	1.25	1.09

# Portraying Unhealthy Communication Patterns

*Note.* Nagelkerke R<sup>2</sup> = .017 \**p* < .05; \*\**p* < .01; \*\*\**p* < .001

# Binary Logistic Regression Coefficients for Betrayal Trauma on Detection Abilities in Videos

	Detection of Unhealthy Communication Patterns			
Predictor Variable	В	SE B	Wald	Exp(B)
Constant	-0.53	0.31	2.91	0.59
Currently in a Romantic Relationship	0.06	0.37	0.02	1.06
Betrayal Trauma	0.02	0.06	0.06	1.02

Portraying Neutral Conflict Interactions

*Note.* Nagelkerke R<sup>2</sup> = .001 \**p* < .05; \*\**p* < .01; \*\*\**p* < .001

# Binary Logistic Regression Coefficients for Dissociation on Detection Abilities in Videos

	Detection of Unhealthy Communica Patterns			
Predictor Variable	В	SE B	Wald	Exp(B)
Constant	0.39	0.84	0.22	1.48
Ever Experienced a Romantic Relationship	0.81	0.82	0.99	2.25
Dissociation	-0.01	0.00	5.13	0.99*

# Portraying Unhealthy Communication Patterns

 Note. Nagelkerke  $R^2 = .070$  

 \*p < .05; \*\*p < .01; \*\*\*p < .001

# Binary Logistic Regression Coefficients for Dissociation on Detection Abilities in Videos

	Detection of Unhealthy Communication Patterns			
Predictor Variable	В	SE B	Wald	Exp(B)
Constant	-0.73	0.35	4.27	0.48*
Currently in a Romantic Relationship	0.00	0.36	0.00	1.00
Dissociation	0.01	0.00	3.41	1.01

Portraying Neutral Conflict Interactions

*Note.* Nagelkerke R<sup>2</sup> = .036 \**p* < .05; \*\**p* < .01; \*\*\**p* < .001

# Binary Logistic Regression Coefficients for Mindfulness on Detection Abilities in Videos

	Detection of Unhealthy Communication Patterns			
Predictor Variable	В	SE B	Wald	Exp(B)
Constant	-2.01	1.31	2.35	0.14
Ever Experienced a Romantic Relationship	1.21	0.81	2.25	3.36
Mindfulness	0.42	0.26	2.68	1.53

# Portraying Unhealthy Communication Patterns

*Note.* Nagelkerke R<sup>2</sup> = .049 \**p* < .05; \*\**p* < .01; \*\*\**p* < .001

# Binary Logistic Regression Coefficients for Mindfulness on Detection Abilities in Videos

	Detection of Unhealthy Commun Patterns			
Predictor Variable	В	SE B	Wald	Exp(B)
Constant	0.98	0.91	1.15	2.66
Currently in a Romantic Relationship	-0.12	0.37	0.11	0.88
Mindfulness	-0.35	0.24	2.10	0.71

Portraying Neutral Conflict Interactions

*Note.* Nagelkerke R<sup>2</sup> = .025 \**p* < .05; \*\**p* < .01; \*\*\**p* < .001

### **STUDY 2 DISCUSSION**

Results from this study indicate that there are individual differences in the ability to detect unhealthy communication patterns within romantic relationships. Self-blame related to interparental conflict and trait dissociation were found to predict variation in the ability to detect unhealthy communication patterns in romantic relationships. Specifically, both self-blame of interparental conflict and trait dissociation were related to greater levels of under detection of unhealthy communication patterns. Self-blame related to interparental conflict also predicted greater levels of over detection of unhealthy communication patterns at the trend level. The other predictors of attachment avoidance, attachment anxiety, betrayal trauma, and mindfulness were not significant predictors of detection abilities.

### **Early Childhood Experiences**

### Attachment

Contrary to the hypothesis, neither attachment anxiety nor attachment avoidance were significant predictors of either under- or over-detection. As attachment anxiety is related to a feeling of discomfort with emotional intimacy and a distancing from romantic partners (Bartholomew & Horowitz, 1991; Hazan & Shaver, 1987; Shaver & Mikulincer, 2009) it was predicted that avoidance would be related to under-detection of unhealthy communication patterns. Conversely, attachment anxiety was predicted to be associated with over-detection of unhealthy communication patterns due to the tendency to pay hyperattention to negative ques within their relationships (Bartholomew & Horowitz, 1991; Campbell et al., 2005; Hazan & Shaver, 1987; Shaver & Mikulincer, 2009).

However, the dynamics of adult attachment avoidance and anxiety specifically refer to the ways that individuals' function within their own relationships, not the ways in which they perceive others' relationships. It is possible that attachment did not predict variation in detection abilities because individuals were viewing the dynamics of relationships other than their own thus not activating their internal working models of attachment.

One way that this could be further explored is using attachment priming. Priming is a technique that uses directions or stimuli to target and activate specific mental representations, such as attachment, and examine the behavioral consequences of the priming (Maier et al., 2004). Through priming, researchers can evaluate the role that unconscious systems, such as the internal working model of attachment, influence behaviors (Maier et al., 2004). Attachment priming can involve a variety of methods such as exposing individuals to words or pictures related to attachment security or by asking individuals to recall or imaging instances where they were loved or supported by an attachment figure (Gillath et al., 2008). Both secure and insecure attachment priming has previously been found to influence the cognitive responses and attention to positive or negative stimuli (Bartz & Lyndon, 2004; Norman et al., 2015). Priming the attachment system prior to engaging in the video procedure may activate the attachment system and in turn allow for a better ability to detect the way that individuals may detect unhealthy communication patterns within their own romantic relationships. This area should be further investigated in future research.

#### **Betrayal Trauma**

Betrayal trauma was also not a significant predictor of detection abilities. This may be, in part, due to the relatively low endorsement of betrayal trauma in the given sample. To assess this limitation, this study should be replicated with a sample with higher endorsement of the

experience of betrayal trauma. This explanation seems particularly plausible given that betrayal trauma has previously been associated with difficulties in detection tasks related to violations in social contract (situations related to rules of social exchange) and precautionary situations (situations related to rules of safety) (DePrince, 2005).

Beyond methodological limitations, it is possible that betrayal trauma was not a significant predictor as the videos only portrayed unhealthy communication patterns vs more severe unhealthy relational dynamics such as physical violence. Though the measure of betrayal trauma asks about the experience of emotional and physiological abuse, most items focus on sexual or physical abuse or witnessing bodily harm of someone with whom they were close (Goldberg & Freyd, 2006). It is possible that betrayal trauma may trigger lack of detection of more severe unhealthy patterns within relationships but that the trauma was less associated with detection of more mild forms of unhealthy interactions.

### **Exposure to Interparental Conflict**

Self-blame related to interparental conflict was found to be a significant predictor of both under- and over-detection of unhealthy communication patterns within romantic relationships however neither exposure to the conflict or perceived threat were significant predictors. Selfblame related to interparental conflict has previously been found to be related to heighted attention to negative emotions, such as anger, and avoidance of positive emotions in emotional interactions and coping through overinvolvement in conflict (Lucas-Thompson et al., 2017; Shelton & Harold, 2008). This heighted attention to negative emotions and conflict is in line with the finding that self-blame predicted greater over-detection of unhealthy communication patterns as individuals may be hyper-focused on any subtle indicators of conflict.

Alternatively, the desensitization framework asserts that exposure to interparental conflict during childhood influences the development of stress responsiveness in such a way that stress responses to conflict are mitigated (Aloia & Solomon, 2014). This framework is rooted in work which has found that experiencing conflict or violence can desensitize individuals to conflict such that they report the violence becomes normal (Aloia, 2013; Dunlap et al., 2009; Guterman & Cameron, 1997). This framework may explain the association between self-blame for interparental conflict and under-detection of romantic relationships. In this study, under-detection was defined as reporting that a conflict interaction portraying unhealthy communication patterns did not include any such patterns. It may be that individuals who reported high levels of conflict perceived the unhealthy communication pattern videos to be normal and more consistent with their childhood experiences and thus did not report the interaction as unhealthy. This is consistent with research that has found that perceptions of conflict within a romantic contributes to the overall outcomes of relationship satisfaction (Segrin et al., 2009).

### **Directed Attention**

### Dissociation

Trait dissociation also predicted under detection of unhealthy communication patterns but did not predict over detection within the neutral videos. Dissociation is a symptom of many trauma related disorders (APA, 2013), and therefore may be triggered when individuals view potentially upsetting or threatening situations, such as watching a couple engage in unhealthy communication patterns, making it difficult for individuals to accurately view the situation, leading to under detection. The functioning of dissociation as a symptom of the experience of trauma is consistent with the previous literature, which found that women with high levels of trait dissociation were more likely to rate situations of rape scenarios as less dangerous compared to women with low levels of trait dissociation (Sandberg et al., 2001). In both situations, it is possible that the exposure to an adverse stimulus triggered dissociative symptoms, making it more likely for the individual to miss the unhealthy or unsafe patterns.

As dissociation may lead individuals to miss unhealthy communication patterns within their relationships, supporting positive coping skills, particularly for individuals who have experienced past trauma, may be a particularly important area of intervention. By reducing the experience of dissociation, the ability to detect unhealthy communication patterns may also be increased. Experiencing dissociation has not only been found to predict errors in detection and ratings of unsafe situation but also has been identified as a predictor of revictimization for individuals who have experienced prior interpersonal violence (Iverson et al., 2013). Thus, interventions targeting healthy coping skills and the reduction of dissociation symptoms may be able to help individuals improve their abilities to detect unhealthy patterns in romantic relationships and avoid outcomes such as revictimization. Though this hypothesis cannot be concluded based on the results of the current study, future research should investigate this line of inquiry.

### Mindfulness

Mindfulness was not significantly predictive of detection abilities in either the videos portraying unhealthy communication patterns or the neutral videos. It is possible that, though mindfulness includes an ability to notice feelings in the present moment, watching video interactions of couples did not trigger the same reactions within a person as they might experience in their personal relationships. The ability to notice the present moment may be more important when detecting unhealthy communication patterns within one's own relationship

compared to broadly detecting unhealthy communication studies. Though this cannot be evaluated given the methodology of the current studies, this provides a potential area for future research to examine.

Additionally, only mindful attention was assessed in the given study. Mindfulness also includes topics beyond attention to the present moment such as non-judgment and acceptance (Brantley, 2005; Siegel et al., 2009) which may differentially predict detection abilities compared to simply mindful attention. It may be that accuracy in detection would be supported not through only the ability to stay grounded in the present moment while watching the videos, but also to be able to accept the reactions that they have to the interactions with acceptance and non-judgment. This is supported as mindfulness has been found to reduce defensiveness and improve empathy (Brown et al., 2008; Wachs & Cordova, 2007) but these factors of mindfulness may be better assessed with a measure that tests more than only mindful attention. This should be further investigated in future research.

### Limitations

The findings related to variation in ability to detect unhealthy communication patterns must be understood within the context of the limitations of the current study. First, the sample is highly homogeneous being primarily female, in early adulthood, and Caucasian. This limitation related to gender and age are acceptable for the first study exploring present moment detection abilities, as the majority of violence within romantic relationships is committed against women and the ages of 18-24 are when intimate partner violence is first experienced by most women who experience such violence (Smith et al., 2017; Truman & Morgan, 2014). Thus, understanding detection abilities within this population may have important implications for

future intervention. Still, future studies should evaluate detection abilities utilizing more diverse samples.

Second, it is possible that some of the non-significant results were due to a lack of power. As previously noted, there was not adequate actual power to detect small effects given the sample size of this study. As the effect sizes in multiple, non-significant regression models indicated small effect sizes, it is possible that the lack of power led to Type 1 errors. Though this cannot be tested or concluded in the current study, future studies should utilize larger sample sizes capable of detecting small effect sizes. Additionally, some of the scales utilized in this study has Cronbach alphas < .07 which indicates some threats to internal validity of the measures.

Additionally, the current study relied on self-report and retrospective identification of childhood experiences. Such responses are susceptible to bias related to accuracy of remembering experiences and the social desirability bias and potential risk of disclosing adverse experiences. Though the anonymity of the data could help to mitigate the bias of willingness to disclose, the data may not fully represent the actual experiences of the participants. Relatedly, the design of this study was cross-sectional and therefore cannot report on the causal pathways that may lead to variation in detection abilities. Future studies should assess detection abilities longitudinally, collecting data of interpersonal relationships as they occur during childhood.

Lastly, the participants were highly accurate in their detection abilities in the videos. This may influence the ability to assess over or under detection as only limited amounts of either occurred. This may be due to the use of a highly educated sample related to romantic relationships. The sample was recruited from a survey pool within a Department of Human Development and Family Studies that contains curriculum related to healthy relationships within

various courses. As such, participants likely have had exposure to education about unhealthy communication patterns which could be a confounding variable. This study should be replicated within a higher risk population with less education related to unhealthy communication patterns.

Although there were no significant differences in detection abilities between the two unhealthy communication pattern videos, there were significant differences in detection between the two neutral videos. In Study 1, both the unhealthy communication pattern videos were validated at the level of showing moderate concern for the relationship and both neutral videos were validated at the level of no concern for the relationship. Order of the videos may have an influence on the reports of the videos. Video 4 (the neutral interaction video that was more frequently rated as having unhealthy communication patterns) was the first video showed. As the question following the videos asked participants to rate whether or not there were unhealthy communication patterns within the videos and the participants may have been more sensitive to picking up on subtle conflict dynamics that they would have reported as neutral if they had viewed an unhealthy communication pattern first. Future research should explore the potential influences of order of the videos on participant reports of the presence of unhealthy communication patterns.

### Implications

Despite these limitations, the current study provides several important implications to a relatively new area of research. First, this study established that individuals demonstrated variation in their ability to detect unhealthy communication patterns within the videos validated in Study 1. Furthermore, significant differences related to self-blame of interparental conflict and dissociation were found to predict both over- and under-detection of unhealthy communication patterns. This suggests that there may be areas to target with interventions to improve detection

abilities such as processing the experience of being the subject of interparental conflict and supporting positive coping skills to reduce the experience of dissociation.

#### STUDY 3 LITERATURE REVIEW

After establishing that variation in detection skills occur and exploring variables that predict this variation in Study 2, it is important to also evaluate what can be done to improve detection skills in a real-world setting. Interventions may be available to improve detection ability through providing education about the definition and forms of unhealthy communication patterns may improve detection. As relationship education programs seek to produce change in current or future relationships through providing psychoeducation about positive communication tools and awareness of unhealthy patterns (Arnold & Beelmann, 2019; Halford & Snyder, 2012; Stanley et al., 2019; Markman & Rhoades, 2012; Wadsworth & Markman, 2012), it is possible that such programs would improve detection ability. Including a mindfulness component within a relationship education program may further improve the ability to identify unhealthy communication patterns through increasing present moment focus.

Though Study 2 found that trait mindfulness did not predict variation in the objective ability to detect unhealthy communication patterns within relationships, the inclusion of a mindfulness component may still improve the effectiveness of relationship education programs related to the ability to improve detection of communication patterns and actual communication skills. Key elements of mindfulness include the ability to be focus on the present moment and to accept a perspective of openness and acceptance (Bishop et al., 2004). Currently there is a lack of consensus in the literature about how or why relationship education programs work (Commerford & Hunter, 2016; Stanley et al., 2019; Wadsworth & Markman, 2012). In this study, it is hypothesized that improving this ability of individuals to be open and accepting of the present moment (i.e. more mindful) may in turn help participants to become more open or

accepting towards the information presented during relationship education programs, thus improving the overall effectiveness of the intervention.

#### **Relationship Education**

Relationship education (RE) can be broadly defined as programs aimed to bolster heathy and stable romantic relationships through providing education, skills, and principles grounded in empirical research (Markman & Rhoades, 2012). Most RE programs focus on improving communications skills and reducing unhealthy communication patterns, although the specific skills may vary between programs (Arnold & Beelmann, 2019; Halford & Snyder, 2012; Stanley et al., 2019; Wadsworth & Markman, 2012). Many RE programs also provide participants with information about what healthy relationships look like, signs of unhealthy relationship dynamics, and expectations within intimate relationships (Commerford & Hunter, 2016; Stanley et al., 2019; Wadsworth & Markman, 2012). Multiple meta-analytic studies have found that RE programs produce improvements related to communication skills and relationship quality or satisfaction (Blanchard et al., 2009; Commerford & Hunter, 2016; Halford & Bodenmann, 2013; Hawkins et al., 2008; Hawkins & Erickson, 2015; Markman & Rhoades, 2012). However, there is also a lack of consensus in the effectiveness of RE, especially related to understanding how and why RE programs work (Commerford & Hunter, 2016; Stanley et al., 2019; Wadsworth & Markman, 2012)

#### Within My Reach

*Within My Reach* (WMR; Pearson et al., 2008) is a RE program designed for individuals (i.e., not couples), and individuals may or may not be currently involved in a romantic relationship. WMR aims to help individuals to maintain healthy, stable relationships, to help individuals in less healthy relationships leave safely, and to help individuals choose future

romantic partners in an educated manner (Pearson et al., 2008; Rhoades & Stanley, 2011). The curriculum for WMR contains 15 units covering topics related to understanding healthy relationships and learning about positive communication and conflict management techniques (Pearson et al., 2008; Rhoades & Stanley, 2011; Stanley et al., 2019).

#### **Anticipated Outcomes**

Based on the focus areas of the curriculum, it can be concluded that WMR is designed with the aim that participants in the program will exhibit improvements in their confidence of detecting warning signs of unhealthy relationship patterns, improvements in their confidence in making decisions in their relationships, improvements in communication skills, and improvements in overall relationship satisfaction (Pearson et al., 2008; Rhoades & Stanley, 2011). Participants are expected to report improvements in their confidence in detecting warning signs of unhealthy relationship patterns due to the focus of two units on raising participants' awareness of these unhealthy communication patterns. These two units (Healthy Relationships: What they Are and What They Aren't and Dangerous Patterns in Relationships) provide participants with information about types of safety in relationships and education specifically about the danger signs of escalation, invalidation, withdrawal, and negative interpretations (Pearson et al., 2008). This is further supported by prior research that found participants of WMR have reported increased knowledge related to healthy relationship dynamics and increased confidence in their ability to have healthy romantic relationships (Antle et al., 2013; Cottle et al., 2014; Burr et al., 2016; Visvanathan et al., 2014).

Similarly, participants are expected to demonstrate improvements in their confidence to make decisions in romantic relationships as two units (*Sliding vs Deciding* and *Making Your Own Decisions*) focus on the importance of making intentional decisions in their relationships

(Pearson et al., 2008). Topics of discussion include partner selection, stages of relationships, exploring reasonable versus unreasonable expectations, and how to make decisions based on that information. Prior research has also demonstrated improvements in healthy decision making in participants who engaged in the WMR program (Burr et al., 2016; Cottle et al., 2014; Holt et al., 2016).

Participants are expected to show improvements related to their positive communication skills as two units (*Smart Communication* and *The Speaker Listener Technique*) provide information about healthy communication to use during conflict (Pearson et al., 2008). Strategies for healthy communication during conflict, such as Time Outs, XYZ Statements, or statements that focus on feelings related to actions in specific instances, and the Speaker Listener Technique, are taught to participants with opportunities provided for practice within the session. Prior participants of WMR have reported improvements related to their communication and conflict resolution skills (Antle et al., 2013; Cottle et al., 2014; Visvanathan et al., 2014).

In addition to anticipated outcomes tied to specific units, participation in WMR will likely improve relationship satisfaction for individuals currently in a romantic relationship as the WMR curriculum targets improving relationship functioning, particularly related to areas which are predictive of poor relationship satisfaction, participation in this program may serve to help improve relationship satisfaction. The occurrence of unhealthy communication patterns in romantic relationships have been found to be associated with relationship dissatisfaction and distress (Bradbury et al., 2000; Christensen & Shenk, 1991; Gottman, 1994; Gottman & Levenson, 2000; Markman et al., 1994). The ability to make clear and thoughtful decisions in relationships has also been found to be related to higher levels of relationship satisfaction and dedication to the relationship (Owen et al., 2013). Further, prior participants of the program who

were currently in a romantic relationship reported increases in their relationship quality, confidence in their relationship, and lower levels of conflict in their relationship after participating in the program (Visvanathan et al., 2014).

Despite the promising findings related to WMR, research on RE is limited by a lack of consensus about the effectiveness of RE (Cowan & Cowan, 2014). Though results of studies on WMR and RE in general have shown improvements in confidence and skills, variation in the effectiveness of these programs explained by difficulties and inconsistencies in participants implementing skills they have learned. To target this limitation, adding an additional component, such as mindfulness, may help to improve the ability of individuals to not only learn skills but also to use the skills.

#### Mindfulness

Mindfulness involves two key elements of (1) regulation of one's attention so that it is focused on the immediate experience or present moment and (2) adopting a perspective of curiosity, openness, and acceptance towards one's experience in the present moment (Bishop et al., 2004). State mindfulness refers to a type of mindfulness that is actively practiced in meditation, whereas trait mindfulness refers to the general disposition towards mindfulness in daily life (Kiken et al., 2015). Though separate constructs, practicing state mindfulness over time is related to increases in trait mindfulness (Kiken et al., 2015; Ostafin & Kassman, 2012). State mindfulness is also associated with reductions in psychological distress, guilt, and conflict between one's desires and goals and greater levels of happiness, and better communication during conflict discussions with a romantic partner (Barnes et al., 2007; Kiken et al., 2015; Ostafin & Kassman, 2012). The practice of state mindfulness over time in the context of an intervention has been found to help improve trait mindfulness over time (Kiken et al., 2015).

This transition likely occurs as the practice of state mindfulness regularly activates neural pathways and the repetitious use of these neural pathways can lead to changes in brain structure and functioning supporting the development of higher trait mindfulness (Garland & Howard, 2009; Kiken et al., 2015). Thus, interventions which include an element of mindfulness practice may improve trait mindfulness through the introduction of a regular mindfulness practice.

Mindfulness-based relationship enhancement (MBRE) has been found to improve relationship satisfaction, acceptance of one's partner, autonomy and relatedness within the relationship, closeness with one's partner, and to decrease relationship and psychological distress (Carson et al., 2004). However, MBRE is focused on strengthening functioning for relatively positive relationships and is not intended for distressed couples or individuals (Carson et al., 2006). Recommendations have been made to explore the inclusion of mindfulness in systemic therapies due to the findings that mindfulness is associated with relationship satisfaction, skilled responsiveness to relational stress, and better perspective taking (Gambrel & Keeling, 2010). Adding a mindfulness component to a relationship education program may help to target this gap as relationship education is provided to both higher risk populations (Antle et al., 2011; Einhorn et al., 2008; Sparks, 2008; Stanley et al., 2010) and individuals (Antle et al., 2013; Burr et al., 2016; Cottle et al., 2014; Visvanathan et al., 2014). Yet, to the extent of our knowledge, there are no published studies comparing a mindfulness-based RE program to a standard RE program and the lack of inclusion of techniques to support stress coping, such as mindfulness, has been noted as a limitation of the Prevention and Relationship Education Program (PREP) curriculum, of which WMR is based (Carson et al., 2006). One study found that a mindfulness-based parent education program increased levels of awareness and acceptance and connection to their partner

during the transition to parenthood (Gambrel & Piercy, 2015) supporting the idea that mindfulness components can be successfully added to education programs.

In addition to personal and relational outcomes, state mindfulness is associated with improvements in problem solving. Specifically, practicing mindfulness has been found to improve the ability to solve insight problems, or problems where relying on past experiences lead to an impasse in solving the problem (Ren et al., 2011; Ostafin & Kassman, 2012). State mindfulness has also been found to be related to improvements in "wise self-regulation", meaning that those with higher state mindfulness are more likely to enjoy current desires without risking long-term goals (Friese & Hofmann, 2016). Theoretically, mindfulness may also help individuals make decisions in a more thoughtful and aware way throughout the decision-making process (Karelaia & Reb, 2015).

As state mindfulness is related to increases in self-awareness, better communication during conflict, and improved problem solving and decision-making skills, it is possible that including an element of mindful meditation a RE program could increase its educational benefits as well as improving overall trait mindfulness. By inducing a state of increased awareness of the present moment, individuals may be able to relate to the material presented in a more personal and accepting way, which in turn may make it easier to incorporate the material into everyday life.

#### **Study 3 Hypotheses**

Study 3 aims to explore the benefits a mindfulness ingredient version of Within My Reach compared to the benefits of participating in the standard Within My Reach program. Specifically, we hypothesize that participants will report improvements in areas that have previously been found to be impacted by relationship education, specifically in their reported awareness of romantic relationship unhealthy communication patterns (Hypothesis 1a), their confidence in their ability to make healthy decisions in romantic relationships (Hypothesis 1b), their positive communication skills (Hypothesis 1c), and their satisfaction with their current relationship (Hypothesis 1d). Additionally, we predict that individuals in the mindfulness condition will report significant improvements in their ability to detect unhealthy communication patterns (Hypothesis 2a), their ability to make healthy decisions in romantic relationships (Hypothesis 2b), their positive communication skills (Hypothesis 2c), their satisfaction with their current relationship (Hypothesis 2d) and level of mindfulness in romantic relationships (Hypothesis 2e) compared to the treatment as usual condition.

#### **STUDY 3 METHODS**

#### **Participants**

Participants were undergraduate students in a Spring 2019 course on prevention and intervention programs in the department of Human Development and Family Studies at a large western university. A university population was selected as a previous study found WMR to be successful in the context of a college course (Burr et al., 2016; Cottle et al., 2014). The course enrollment was 87 students; 54 students completed both the pre- and post-test surveys and provided consent for their data to be used for research. Participants ranged in age from 19-23 years-old (M = 20.83, SD = 0.86). Of this sample, 94.4% identified as female, 3.7% identified as male, and one participant identified as transgender. Most of the participants reported that they identified as heterosexual (94.4%). The majority identified as Caucasian/White (74.1%). 9.3% identified as multiracial, 7.4% identified as Latinx, 7.4% identified as Asian American/Pacific Islander, and 1.9% identified as African American/Black. Additionally, 64.8% of participants reported a current romantic relationship at the end of the study, with 92.6% reporting having been in a romantic relationship either currently or previously. See Table 3.1 for participant demographics.

#### Procedure

Completion of the Within My Reach (WMR) program and pre/post surveys was a course requirement, as it provided students with the opportunity to evaluate a prevention program using the standards they learned in the course. Participants were given the option for their data to be used for research with no penalty if they refused, and the instructor had no knowledge of which students provided data for research. Students were randomly assigned into one of two conditions:

WMR (43 students assigned to group; 28 participants in sample) and WMR-Mindfulness (44 students assigned to group; 26 students in sample) at the start of the semester. Participants completed the WMR program over the course of 10 sessions, with some topics (such as co-parenting) and activities being reduced in time to accommodate the structure of the course. Participants who did not complete the WMR-Mindfulness condition were provided with materials about mindfulness at the completion of the program/course.

Each group was facilitated by doctoral students with or working on a master's degree in marriage and family therapy who were trained WMR facilitators. Weekly meetings between the facilitators and course instructor ensured that each course progressed at approximately the same rate. Participants were instructed to complete a pre-survey prior to the first session and a post-survey in the week following the last session. Participants provided a unique identifier so that their pre- and post-test data could be connected. Institutional review board approval was obtained for all procedures.

The mindfulness component included a guided meditation focused on one principle of mindfulness at the beginning of each session. Psychoeducation regarding that topic was also provided at the beginning of the session. Mindfulness topics were selected to correspond with the relationship education content for that day. For example, the mindfulness topic of self-compassion was introduced on the day that the relationship education topic was exploring one's personality and values as self-compassion could help to promote acceptance of who the individual is and how that may show up in relationships. Similarly, the mindfulness component of present-centered awareness was presented on the day when the relationship education topic was on decision making as awareness of the present moment could help individuals to connect with the ways that they are feeling, supporting active decision making.

At the end of each session, participants in the mindfulness condition were asked to journal in response to a prompt which connected the mindfulness principle to the relationship education topic for the week. For example, in the week where individuals learned about selfcompassion, they were asked to journal about reasons why it can be difficult to extend selfcompassion to themselves and what they could do in the upcoming week to practice selfcompassion. In the week which focused on present-centered awareness, participants were asked to journal about what barriers may exist that keep themselves/others from being present within their relationships and what they could do to be more present-centered in their current relationships (romantic or not for those not in a current romantic relationship).

#### Measures

#### **Detection and Decision Making**

The Relationship Deciding Scale (RDS; Vennum & Fincham, 2011) is a 12-item measure with three subscales. Though self-report measures are susceptible to bias (Krumpal, 2013; Nederhof, 1985; Saunders, 1991), and Study 1 and Study 2 focused on the use of objective measures of detection of unhealthy communication patterns within romantic relationships, selfreports were utilized in this study to be consistent with prior research designs that did not have access to the novel procedure. Participants are asked to rate the degree to which they agree with a list of statements on a 7-point Likert scale from "strongly disagree" to "strongly agree". The *Warning Signs* subscale asks participants three questions about the degree to which they feel comfortable detecting unhealthy patterns in romantic relationships (e.g. "I am quickly able to see warning signals in a romantic relationship"). The *Deciding* subscale is comprised of five items related to intentional decision making in romantic relationship (e.g. "It is important to me to discuss with my partner each major step we take in the relationship") (Vennum & Fincham, 2011). In this study, the *Warning Signs* subscale was used to assess for self-reported ability to detect unhealthy patterns and the *Deciding* subscale was used to measure decision making in romantic relationships. The internal validity using Cronbach alpha for these subscales were .75 at Time 1 and .85 at Time 2 for the *Warning Signs* subscale and .76 at Time 1 and .66 at Time 2 for the *Deciding* subscale.

#### **Skillful Communication**

The Communication Skills Test-Short Form (CST-SF; Saiz & Jenkins, 1996) is an 11item measure used to assess communication skills. The measure has six items that ask about negative communication patterns (e.g. "we have arguments that erupt over minor events") and five items related to positive communication patterns (e.g. "when discussions threaten to boil over, we stop them and take a time out"). Participants were asked to rate the degree to which they agreed with each statement on a 7-point Likert scale ranging from "strongly disagree" to "strongly agree". This measure has been utilized in other studies on PREP relationship education programs (e.g. Einhorn et al., 2008; Owen et al., 2012; Quirk et al., 2014). The internal validity using Cronbach alphas for this sample were .82 at Time 1 and .81 at Time 2.

#### **Relationship Satisfaction**

The brief version of the Dyadic Adjustment Scale (DAS-4; Sabourin et al., 2005) was used to assess relationship satisfaction. Participants who were currently in a romantic relationship were asked to rate 4 items (e.g. "In general, how often do you think that things between you and your partner are going well?") on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from "not at all" to "a lot". Compared to the original 32-item version, the DAS-4 has demonstrated less contamination from social desirability bias and similar effectiveness for predicting relationship dissolution (Sabourin et al., 2005). A shortened, 3-item version was used in this study, with one item ("Do you confide in your mate") excluded from the original scale. The items used pertained to thoughts related to satisfaction of the relationship compared to behaviors (confiding). Internal validity was evaluated for the remaining 3-item scale with Chronbach alpha = .74 at Time 1 and .78 at Time 2.

#### **Mindful Partnering**

The Mindful Partnering questionnaire (Seiter et al., 2019) was used to assess changes in mindful relational behavior. Participants were asked to rate 33 statement (e.g. "I often get so busy thinking about other things that I realize I am not really listening to my partner") on a 5-point Likert scale from "never true" to "always true". The internal validity using Cronbach alphas for this sample were .60 at Time 1 and .85 for Time 2.

#### **Data Analysis**

To examine the hypotheses, repeated measures analyses of variance (ANOVAs) were used to examine differences between time points (pre-and post-test), differences between groups (mindfulness vs. control), and differences between the groups over time related to confidence in detecting warning signs for unhealthy relationships, confidence in making healthy relationship decisions, use of positive communication skills, relationship satisfaction, and mindfulness in partnering interactions.

According to *post hoc* power analyses using the GPower software (Faul et al., 2007), revealed that with the given sample size and data analytic plan, there was adequate power (actual power > .80) to detect medium (power = 1.0) and large (power = 0.95) effect sizes but not to detect small effect sizes (power = 0.30). Some measures (Skillful Communication and Relationship Satisfaction) asked questions specifically pertaining to a current romantic relationship and therefore were only asked to those participants who reported currently being in a romantic relationship (N = 35 at Time 1 for both, N = 33 at Time 2 for Skillful Communication, N = 34 at Time 2 for Relationship Satisfaction). For these questions, further *post hoc* power analyses revealed similar adequate power (actual power > .80) to detect large effect sizes (power = 0.99) but not to detect small effect sizes (power = .20) or medium (power = 0.79) effect sizes.

# Descriptive Statistic Tables for Study 3

Table 3.1

Key	Participant	Demograp	hics for	· Study 3
~	1	01	5	~

Female 94.4   Male 3.7   Transgender 1.9   Sexual Orientation 94.4   Gay/Lesbian 94.4   Gay/Lesbian 1.9   Bisexual 1.9   Other Sexual Orientation 1.9   Other Sexual Orientation 1.9   Caucasian/White 74.1   Multi-racial 9.3   Latinx 7.4   African American/Black 7.4   Asian/Pacific Islander 1.9   n A Current Romantic Relationship at T1 64.8	Demographic	М	SD	%
Female94.4Male3.7Transgender1.9Sexual Orientation94.4Gay/Lesbian94.4Gay/Lesbian1.9Bisexual1.9Other Sexual Orientation1.9Caucasian/White74.1Multi-racial9.3Latinx7.4African American/Black7.4Asian/Pacific Islander1.9a Current Romantic Relationship at T164.8n A Current Romantic Relationship at T263.0	Age	20.72	0.83	
Male3.7Transgender1.9Transgender94.4Gay/Lesbian94.4Gay/Lesbian1.9Bisexual1.9Other Sexual Orientation1.9Other Sexual Orientation1.9Caucasian/White74.1Multi-racial9.3Latinx7.4African American/Black7.4Asian/Pacific Islander1.9a Current Romantic Relationship at T164.8n A Current Romantic Relationship at T263.0	Gender			
Transgender1.9Iterosexual Orientation94.4Gay/Lesbian94.4Gay/Lesbian1.9Bisexual1.9Other Sexual Orientation1.9Race/Ethnicity1.9Caucasian/White74.1Multi-racial9.3Latinx7.4African American/Black7.4Asian/Pacific Islander1.9a Current Romantic Relationship at T164.8a Current Romantic Relationship at T263.0	Female			94.4
Heterosexual 94.4   Gay/Lesbian 1.9   Bisexual 1.9   Other Sexual Orientation 1.9   Other Sexual Orientation 1.9   Caucasian/White 74.1   Multi-racial 9.3   Latinx 7.4   African American/Black 7.4   Asian/Pacific Islander 1.9   n A Current Romantic Relationship at T1 64.8	Male			3.7
Heterosexual94.4Gay/Lesbian1.9Bisexual1.9Other Sexual Orientation1.9Race/Ethnicity1.9Caucasian/White74.1Multi-racial9.3Latinx7.4African American/Black7.4Asian/Pacific Islander1.9a Current Romantic Relationship at T164.8a A Current Romantic Relationship at T263.0	Transgender			1.9
Gay/Lesbian1.9Bisexual1.9Other Sexual Orientation1.9Race/Ethnicity1.9Race/Ethnicity74.1Multi-racial9.3Latinx7.4African American/Black7.4Asian/Pacific Islander1.9In A Current Romantic Relationship at T164.8In A Current Romantic Relationship at T263.0	Sexual Orientation			
Bisexual1.9Other Sexual Orientation1.9Caucasian/White74.1Multi-racial9.3Latinx7.4African American/Black7.4Asian/Pacific Islander1.9n A Current Romantic Relationship at T164.8n A Current Romantic Relationship at T263.0	Heterosexual			94.4
Other Sexual Orientation1.9Race/Ethnicity74.1Caucasian/White74.1Multi-racial9.3Latinx7.4African American/Black7.4Asian/Pacific Islander1.9n a Current Romantic Relationship at T164.8n A Current Romantic Relationship at T263.0	Gay/Lesbian			1.9
Race/Ethnicity74.1Caucasian/White74.1Multi-racial9.3Latinx7.4African American/Black7.4Asian/Pacific Islander1.9In a Current Romantic Relationship at T164.8In A Current Romantic Relationship at T263.0	Bisexual			1.9
Caucasian/White74.1Multi-racial9.3Latinx7.4African American/Black7.4Asian/Pacific Islander1.9a Current Romantic Relationship at T164.8n A Current Romantic Relationship at T263.0	Other Sexual Orientation			1.9
Multi-racial9.3Latinx7.4African American/Black7.4Asian/Pacific Islander1.9n a Current Romantic Relationship at T164.8n A Current Romantic Relationship at T263.0	Race/Ethnicity			
Latinx7.4African American/Black7.4Asian/Pacific Islander1.9n a Current Romantic Relationship at T164.8n A Current Romantic Relationship at T263.0	Caucasian/White			74.1
African American/Black7.4Asian/Pacific Islander1.9n a Current Romantic Relationship at T164.8n A Current Romantic Relationship at T263.0	Multi-racial			9.3
Asian/Pacific Islander1.9n a Current Romantic Relationship at T164.8n A Current Romantic Relationship at T263.0	Latinx			7.4
n a Current Romantic Relationship at T1 64.8 n A Current Romantic Relationship at T2 63.0	African American/Black			7.4
n A Current Romantic Relationship at T2 63.0	Asian/Pacific Islander			1.9
	In a Current Romantic Relationship at T1			64.8
Ever Been in a Romantic Relationship 92.6	In A Current Romantic Relationship at T2			63.0
	Ever Been in a Romantic Relationship			92.6

## Table 3.2

# Descriptive Statistics for Key Variables in Study 3 – Time 1

Variable	Ν	М	SD	Range	α
Detection of Warning Signs ( <i>RDS – Warning Signs</i> )	54	5.61	0.80	4.00-7.00	.75
Confidence in Decision Making ( <i>RDS</i> – <i>Deciding</i> )	54	5.56	0.81	4.00-7.00	.76
Communication Skills (CST-SF)	35	4.67	0.59	3.18-5.82	.82
Relationship Satisfaction (DAS-4)	35	3.33	0.36	2.25-3.50	.74
Mindfulness in Romantic Relationship ( <i>Mindful Partnering Scale</i> )	49	3.65	0.23	3.19-4.13	.60

## Table 3.3

Descriptive Statistics for Key Variables in Study 3 – Time 2

Variable	N	М	SD	Range	α
Detection of Warning Signs (RDS – Warning	54	5.96	0.82	3.33-7.00	.85
Signs)					
Confidence in Decision Making ( <i>RDS</i> – <i>Deciding</i> )	54	5.76	0.75	4.00-7.00	.66
Communication Skills (CST-SF)	33	5.00	0.96	3.45-6.45	.81
Relationship Satisfaction (DAS-4)	34	3.34	0.33	2.00-3.50	.78
Mindfulness in Romantic Relationship ( <i>Mindful Partnering Scale</i> )	48	3.64	0.32	2.87-4.39	.85

#### **STUDY 3 RESULTS**

#### Within Group Differences

A series of repeated measure ANOVAs revealed that hypothesis 1a was supported, as there were significant pre- and post-test differences in reported awareness of warning signs of unhealthy romantic relationships, F(1, 52) = 11.28, p = .001,  $\eta^2 = .18$ , such that individuals reported increased awareness of warning signs of unhealthy romantic relationships at the posttest as compared to the pre-test. Hypotheses 1b, 1c, 1d were not supported, as there were no significant pre- and post-test differences in confidence to make healthy decisions in romantic relationships, positive communication skills, or relationship satisfaction at the p < .05 level. Although not significant, the results for the ability to make healthy decisions in romantic relationships, F(1, 52) = 3.56, p = .07,  $\eta^2 = .06$  and positive communication skills, F(1, 29) =3.89, p = .06,  $\eta^2 = .12$ , were at the trend level of significance. The lack of statistical significance may be a result of lack of power as the analysis involving healthy decision making only had power to detect medium and large effects and the analysis involving communication skills only had adequate power to detect large effects.

#### **Between Group Differences**

Hypothesis 2 was not supported, as there were no significant differences between the WMR plus mindfulness and standard WMR conditions in reported awareness of warning signs of unhealthy romantic relationships, confidence to make healthy decisions in romantic relationships, positive communication skills, relationship satisfaction, or the degree of mindfulness in interactions with a partner at the p < .05 level. Additionally, there were no significant Time x Group interaction effects at the p < .05 level. See Table 3.4 for results.

## **Data Analytic Table for Study 3**

## Table 3.4

Means, Standard Deviations, and Repeated Measures ANOVA For Within My Reach Outcomes

Variable	Mindfulness				Control			ANOVA			
	N	М	SD	N	М	SD	Effect	F	df	$\eta^2$	
Warning Signs											
Time 1	26	5.67	0.83	28	5.58	0.79	Т	11.28***	52	.18	
Time 2	26	5.83	1.02	28	6.07	0.56	G	0.12	52	.002	
							T x G	2.92	52	.05	
Decision Making											
Time 1	26	5.45	0.84	28	5.66	0.78	Т	3.56^	52	.06	
Time 2	26	5.60	0.89	28	5.92	0.55	G	2.15	52	.04	
							T x G	0.35	52	.01	
Communication Skills											
Time 1	15	4.57	0.60	16	4.80	0.64	Т	3.89^	29	.12	
Time 2	15	4.73	1.02	16	5.16	0.92	G	1.60	29	.05	
							T x G	0.59	29	.02	
Relationship Satisfaction											
Time 1	15	3.33	0.35	17	3.31	0.41	Т	0.13	30	.004	
Time 2	15	3.32	0.31	17	3.37	0.37	G	0.01	30	.000	
							T x G	0.42	30	.01	

Variable	Mindfulness				Control			ANOVA			
	N	М	SD	N	М	SD	Effect	F	df	$\eta^2$	
Mindful Partnering											
Time 1	22	3.66	0.23	25	3.68	0.22	Т	0.59	45	.01	
Time 2	22	3.54	0.36	25	3.73	0.27	G	2.47	45	.05	
							T x G	3.31	45	.07	

*Note:* Mindfulness = Within My Reach with Mindfulness Condition, Control = Within My Reach Treatment as Usual Condition; G = Group, T = Time

\*\*\* $p = .001, \land = p \le .07$ 

#### **STUDY 3 DISCUSSION**

Contrary to the hypotheses and prior literature outlined in this paper, significant improvements between the pre- and post-tests were only found for reported awareness of warning signs of unhealthy relationships but not for reported confidence in the ability to make healthy decisions in relationships, communication skills, relationship satisfaction, or mindfulness in partnering interactions. Additionally, no significant differences were found between the experimental mindfulness condition and the treatment as usual control group.

### **Confidence in Detecting Warning Signs of Unhealthy Relationships**

The finding of significant improvements related to awareness of warning signs of unhealthy relationships after completion of a relationship education program is consistent with prior literature which found that participants in the program reported increased knowledge about healthy relationships and increased confidence that they could have a healthy relationship (Antle et al., 2013; Cottle et al., 2014; Burr et al., 2016; Visvanathan et al., 2014). Improving awareness of unhealthy communication patterns is a key focus of multiple units in the Within My Reach (WMR) curriculum (Pearson et al., 2008), and these chapters were emphasized in the ten-week format that this program was offered, thus the significant changes appear to be fit with the expectations for the program.

However, this study utilized self-report data, asking participants questions asking about the degree of confidence individuals have in their ability to assess warning signs of an unhealthy relationship (Vennum & Fincham, 2011). Confidence in detecting unhealthy patterns may be different than actual, objective abilities related to detection of unhealthy communication patterns. Meta-analytic research on relationship education has called to attention the lack of consensus

related to outcomes of relationship education programs, particularly highlighting the lack of long-term follow-up and drop-off of effects over time (Cowan & Cowan, 2014). Perhaps one factor that could contribute to this lack of consensus and reduced effectiveness over time is that studies are typically assessing the confidence in an ability instead of actual ability. As individuals just completed an intervention program, it is particularly possible that participants may experience self-deception social desirability bias in which individuals report what they believe to be accurate but is inflated (or deflated) from reality (Paulhus, 1984; Nederhof, 1985). In this case, participants may feel an inflated confidence in their detection abilities having just participated in a curriculum which heavily focuses on ways to improve the ability of individuals to pursue healthy relationships. Future research should investigate the ways in which relationship education programs influence actual detection abilities, potentially through procedures such as that validated in Study 1.

#### **Confidence in Decision Making and Positive Communication Skills**

Improvements in confidence in decision making and use of positive communication skills were trending towards significant. The lack of significance is contrary to prior research findings that relationship education programs are effective at increasing confidence in decision making and communication skills (Antle et al., 2013; Burr et al., 2016; Cottle et al, 2014; Holt et al., 2016; Visvanathan et al., 2014). It is possible that this trend level of significance could be, in part, due to a lack of statistical power. Small effect sizes are common to relationship education research (Hawkins et al., 2008; Hawkins & Fackrell, 2010). The *post hoc* power analyses revealed that the current study did not have adequate power to be able to detect small effect sizes. Therefore, it is plausible that the trend levels of significance are due to a lack of power in this study. This is particularly pertinent for the communication skills, as fewer participants

completed responses for this variable. Further, it is consistent with the results of prior studies which have reported small to medium effects for both variables (Burr et al., 2016; Holt et al., 2016; Visvanathan et al., 2014).

The lack of other significant results may be explained by the high level of education related to healthy relationship dynamics of the study sample. Across variables, participants reported mean levels of average or higher across all study variables suggesting that across the sample, individuals were reporting relatively high endorsement of the skills being assessed prior to the study thus leaving only limited room for improvement. This could be because the program was offered within an upper division course in a Human Development and Family Studies department. This department offers other courses related to romantic relationships which include some of the content that is offered in this program. As both groups would have been previously exposed to the same curriculum, it is possible that this education provided in this program did not provide new information or benefits to this sample. The insignificant findings related to improvement in confidence in making decisions and skillful communication are contrary to prior findings WMR implemented within a college course (Burr et al., 2016; Cottle et al., 2014). This suggests that further research is needed related to what types of college courses are most appropriate for the inclusion of relationship education.

#### **Relationship Satisfaction**

No significant differences were found in relationship satisfaction before and after the program. It is possible that this occurred as only one partner was participating the relationship education program, and they were participating in it as a part of a course requirement. As such, they may have been less motivated to apply the information learned into their own romantic relationships compared to individuals that had purposely elected to partake in the program to try

to help improve their relationship functioning. If the skills and techniques learned in the program were not actually applied in the current relationship, then changes in relationship satisfaction would not be expected. Though individuals in romantic relationships can attend this program, it was specifically designed for individuals, not couples, and much of the curriculum focuses on topics that are pre-relational such as partner selection and how to have healthy relationships more broadly (Pearson et al., 2008). Therefore, though research has previously found that WMR is effective at improving satisfaction with a romantic relationship (Visvanathan et al., 2014) it may be better suited at improving confidence in the ability to have a health relationship which was not assessed in the current study.

Additionally, the *post hoc* power analyses revealed that the current study did not have adequate power to be able to detect small or medium effect sizes in this analysis as only 35 participants were in a current relationship and completed the measure. As this program focuses on individual-level intervention (Pearson et al., 2008; Rhoades & Stanley, 2011) it is possible that any effects on relationship education would have a small effect size. Therefore, it is plausible that the trend levels of significance are due to a lack of power in this study. This is consistent with prior research which found small effect sizes related to relationship satisfaction as an outcome for WMR (Visvanathan et al., 2014). Though this cannot be evaluated in the current study, future studies should evaluate the degree to which the skills and information taught within a relationship education program are implemented within current romantic relationships.

#### Mindfulness

No significant differences related to the degree of mindfulness present in romantic relationships were found in the current study. It is possible that the mindfulness condition did not

produce greater changes as the participants may not have adopted the mindfulness practice outside of the intervention program thus limiting the possible positive effects of increased mindfulness. The portion of the program focused on teaching individuals about mindfulness included psychoeducation about mindfulness and a guided mindfulness practice each week. However, the program did not include teaching participants about ways in which they could engage in mindfulness practice between sessions. This was attempted through the journaling activities at the end of each session, but it may be that more concrete instruction was needed.

Additionally, though mindfulness-based relationship enhancement (MBRE) has been found to improve relationship satisfaction and decrease relational stress, among other positive relational outcomes, this program includes 8 weekly 150-minute group sessions and a full day retreat (Carson et al., 2004). It is possible that the dosage of mindfulness training in this program, which included once per week guided mindfulness practice, psychoeducation, and journaling activities, was not enough to change the way in which individuals were mindful throughout the week, thus leading to the lack of significant differences between the groups. Future studies should include more training about how to engage in regular mindfulness practice, such as homework assignments that encourage the practice of mindfulness, to increase the dosage of state mindfulness, thus hopefully translating to greater improvements in trait mindfulness at the end of the program.

#### Limitations

#### Power

As previously mentioned, *post hoc* power analyses revealed that the sample size for this study was not adequate to detect small effect sizes, and, for the measures only administered to the percentage of the sample currently in a romantic relationship. As most of the non-significant

results demonstrated effects smaller than medium ( $\eta^2 < .06$ ) and all were smaller than large effects ( $\eta^2 < .14$ ), it is possible that the lack of significant findings were due to a Type II error (or false negatives) due to lack of power. Although this possibility is not able to be evaluated based on the current data, a repeated study utilizing a larger sample size, particularly related to questions for individuals currently in a romantic relationship, would be able to provide further information related to the possibility of sample size and power limitations influencing the results. This potential explanation for these findings is supported, as while both the pre- and post-test differences related to confidence in making healthy relationship decisions and communication skills did not have significant findings, the *p* values were trending towards significance, further suggesting limitations related to power in this study.

#### **Characteristics of Sample**

In addition to the limitations of sample size and statistical power, characteristics of the sample in this study may also explain the lack of significant differences between groups and between pre- and post-tests. Though WMR has previously been found to be effective in undergraduate student samples (Burr et al., 2016) and relationship education in emerging adults more broadly (Simpson et al., 2018), the sample in this population were students enrolled in an upper division Human Development and Family Studies (HDFS) undergraduate class. Based on the curriculum progression for this major, it is likely that many students had already taken coursework about marriage and family relationships, which would include much of the information presented in the WMR curriculum. In contrast, the sample reported in the study by Burr and colleagues (2016) was implemented into a course on marriage, suggesting that these students may not have been exposed to the content of the intervention program to the same extent as students in this sample.

Additionally, the program in which the students were enrolled has a focus on mindfulness, suggesting that students may have previously been exposed to basic mindfulness principles and practices prior to participation. This is supported by the relatively high means for each group at the pre-test, suggesting that students may already possess the knowledge and skills, at least in part, that the intervention would aim to improve. As all students in the course would have had access to this prior knowledge before the random assignment into the experimental and control groups, this may also help to explain the lack of significant differences between groups. This suggest that relationship education may be better suited as a targeted versus universal intervention. This is somewhat in contrast to prior data supporting relationship education as a universal intervention, but these meta-analytic results were modest and produced mixed results (Blanchard et al., 2009; Halford et al., 2008). These findings highlight the need for future research exploring the relative effectiveness of relationship education as a targeted or universal intervention.

#### **Missing Data**

Another significant limitation to this study was the amount of missing data. From an overall course enrollment of 87, only 54 students completed the pre- and post-surveys and consented for their data to be used in research, meaning that only 62.07% of overall participants data was able to be used. Missing data, particularly if the missing data is not random, may bias the data and therefore the outcomes of a study (Kang, 2013). As much of the missing data included participants simply not completing the surveys or providing the unique identifier, it is difficult to determine whether the missing data was random or if there were characteristics of the students who did not complete the data which might bias the results. It is possible that the

complete the data and therefore may have demonstrated more change. However, it is not possible to test this explanation within the current study.

#### Implications

Despite these significant limitations to the current study, there are important implications in the given study. The first is that despite the limitations, significant pre- and post-test differences were found related to reported confidence in ability to detect unhealthy patterns in romantic relationships. This suggests that relationship education may be particularly effective for educating individuals and increasing awareness of unhealthy communication patterns in romantic relationships. However, this result should be interpreted with caution as it assesses only the confidence that individuals have in their ability to detect unhealthy patterns and not their actual ability to detect. Future studies should further explore this dynamic by utilizing the real time video detection procedure developed in Study 1 to examine whether relationship education programs are effective at producing change in observed detection abilities in addition to selfreported abilities.

Additionally, the possibility that the lack of significant results was due to an overeducated sample suggests that relationship education programs are most effective when administered to populations which higher risk. Relationship education programs are designed using a prevention science model, which focuses on intervening on risk factors that are associated with future negative outcomes and promoting protective factors that are associated with potential future positive outcomes (Coie et al., 1993; Markman & Rhoades, 2012; Markman et al., 2009). Given that the current sample likely already received much of the risk reduction and protective factors of relationship education would provide in prior courses, this suggests that relationship education may be more beneficial as a targeted intervention to populations with

more risk factors and fewer opportunities to gain protective factors. As such, the hypotheses of this study should be tested in a higher risk population to explore whether the addition of mindfulness to a relationship education curriculum may be more effective as an additional protective factor in individuals who have fewer protective factors at the start of the intervention.

#### CONCLUSION

Previous research has documented that verbal and non-verbal unhealthy communication patterns predict relationship distress (Bradbury et al., 2000; Christensen & Shenk, 1991; Gottman, 1994; Gottman & Levenson, 2000; Markman et al., 1994). Two sets of unhealthy communication patterns are commonly used: the "four horsemen of the apocalypse" (contempt, criticism, defensiveness, and stonewalling) (Gottman, 1994; Gottman et al., 1998; Gottman & Gottman, 2015; Gottman & Levenson, 2000) and the "danger signs" (escalation, invalidation, withdrawal, and negative interpretation on one's partner) (Markman et al., 1994; Stanley & Markman, 1997). Despite the negative implications of unhealthy communication patterns on the functioning of the romantic relationships, limited research has been conducted related to the ability to detect that these patterns are occurring within relationships. As conflict patterns has been found to escalate and worsen in severity over time (Winstock et al., 2008) the ability to detect these patterns early within a relationship may be critical for healthy relationship development, and the lack of investigation into this area is a substantial gap in the literature.

Study 1 provided the validation of the first procedure used to assess in-the-moment detection abilities of unhealthy communication patterns. The final set of 15 videos, 11 of which portrayed couples engaging in unhealthy communication patterns and four of which portray neutral conflict interactions, is a novel tool that can assess the ability to detect unhealthy communication. Specifically, the accuracy in detection abilities as well as the tendencies to over detect or under detect can be evaluated using this procedure. Through the validation of this procedure, objective detection abilities are now able to be assessed, moving beyond the previous reliance upon participant self-report. As prior measures of detection abilities have relied upon

self-report, they are also potentially susceptible to social desirability bias in which individuals either unconsciously (self-deception) or consciously (other-deception or impression management) rate responses to be more favorable about themselves than would be accurate (Palhus, 1984; Nederhof, 1985). Though there are many ways to control for and reduce social desirability bias and still use self-report measures, these methods are capable of entirely controlling for this potential bias in response (Krumpal, 2013; Saunders, 1991; Nederhof, 1985). The validation of this objective measure, in which individuals are not aware of the anticipated outcome or correct response, allows for a more objective assessment of detection abilities.

Study 2 was the first study to use the procedure developed and validated in Study 1 to explore predictors of variation in the ability of individuals to detect unhealthy communication patterns. The results revealed that the degree to which individuals blamed themselves for conflict between their parents predicted both over-detection and under-detection. Consistent with prior findings that self-blame related to interparental conflict is associated with increased attention to negative stimuli and coping via hyper-engagement in conflict (Lucas-Thompson et al., 2017; Shelton & Harold, 2008), individuals may be over-attuned to minor negative stimuli in conflict interactions leading to the identification of unhealthy patterns in neutral interactions. Conversely, but in line with the desensitization framework and prior literature that shows experiencing chronic violence can lead to the view that these events are normal (Aloia, 2013; Dunlap et al., 2009; Guterman & Cameron, 1997), individuals may perceive the conflict present in the unhealthy communication patterns as normal and therefore not report that it is unhealthy. This dynamic suggests that the ability to detect unhealthy communication patterns requires both the ability to see that an interaction is happening (as was missed in the cases of under-detection) and to interpret the interaction is unhealthy (as was missed in the case of over-detection).

Trait dissociation was also found to predict under-detection. This is consistent with prior findings that the experience of dissociative symptoms was associated in lower ratings of the danger in rape situations and of actual revictimization in individuals who had experienced interpersonal violence (Sandberg et al., 2001; Iverson et al., 2013). Together, the findings from this study and past studies related to dissociation suggest that interventions which support positive coping and reduction of dissociative symptoms may help to improve the ability of individuals to avoid unhealthy relational patterns. This should be further assessed in future research.

Study 3, utilized a relationship education program (Within My Reach) to attempt to improve the confidence that individuals had related to being able to detect the early warning signs of unhealthy patterns within their relationships. A mindfulness condition was also used to try to improve the outcomes of relationship education. Despite methodological problems related to the low levels of risk and high levels of relationship education of participants and power, relationship education was still found to predict improvements in confidence in the ability to detect early warning signs of romantic relationships. However, given the potential biases that may exist in over confidence after completing and intervention program, potentially leading to self-deception social desirability bias (Palhus, 1984; Nederhof, 1985), it is important to consider these implications with caution and not conclude that actual detection abilities were improved. This may give insight into the lack of consensus related to the effectiveness of relationship education programs as effects tend to drop-off over time (Cowan & Cowan, 2014) as the degree of confidence an individual feels may be stronger directly after receiving information than after a period of time has passed. This asserts the need for future studies to assess actual detection

abilities in studies on relationship education and whether there are objective differences in detection at post-test and at longer term follow-ups.

Though the mindfulness condition did not show significantly better improvements, it is possible that this was due to the way in which the mindfulness curriculum was implemented (i.e., not giving direct examples for how to practice mindfulness daily) and the low level of risk present in the sample. Mindfulness-based relationship enhancement (MBRE) has been found to improve relationship satisfaction, closeness to one's partner, and to decrease relational and psychological distress (Carson et al., 2004) however this program has a higher dosage compared to the relationship education program in this study. Additionally, the theoretical framework for how state mindfulness may increase trait mindfulness suggests that this process occurs in response to changes in brain structure and function as the result of increased usage of cognitive pathways in the practice of state mindfulness (Garland & Howard, 2009). An eight-week mindfulness intervention was found to be effective at improving trait mindfulness, however the entire focus of this intervention was on mindfulness and participants were emailed a link between sessions instructing them to partake in a 10-minute guided meditation (Kiken et al., 2015). Together, the theoretical basis and dosage of mindfulness curriculum in prior interventions suggests that a 10-session program that had a primary focus on relationship education may not be effective at producing changes in trait mindfulness.

#### **Future Directions**

Combined, these studies provide important implications for future research. First, the validation of the procedure to assess in-the-moment detection abilities fills the critical gap in the literature of having no established ways in which to measure detection beyond self-report. Further, the differences in individual detection abilities suggest that interventions which help

improve positive coping skills for those who have experienced adversity during childhood may help improve the ability of individuals to detect unhealthy communication patterns within their romantic relationships. Future research should assess the degree to which improved detection abilities are an outcome of programs designed to improve healthy coping skills.

Relationship education may be an effective form of intervention to support detection abilities as suggested by the finding that participating in the program improved confidence in the ability to detect early warning signs, even for a population that was relatively low risk. Future studies should replicate the mindfulness-based relationship education program, focusing the mindfulness curriculum more on how to practice mindfulness regularly and with a higher risk population. One population could be individuals who have experienced childhood adversity and experienced negative coping strategies such as dissociation. Further, the outcomes of relationship education should be addressed using the video protocol to explore whether relationship education programs influence detection abilities as well as confidence in detection abilities.

#### REFERENCES

- Ainsworth, M. D. S., Blehar, M. C., Waters, E., & Wall, S. (1978). Patterns of attachment: A psychological study of the strange situation. Erlbaum.
- Aloia, L. S. (2013). Childhood exposure to verbal aggression and desensitization to conflict in young adulthood (Publication No. 3730386). [Doctoral dissertation, The Pennsylvania State University]. ProQuest Dissertations Publishing.
- Aloia, L. S. (2017). Verbal aggression in romantic relationships: The influence of family history, destructive beliefs about conflict and conflict goals. *Communication Quarterly, 66,* 308-324. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01463373.2017.1381626</u>
- Aloia, L. S., & Solomon, D. H. (2014). Conflict intensity, family history, and physiological stress reactions to conflict within romantic relationships. *Human Communication Research*, 41, 367-389. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hcre.12049</u>
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5<sup>th</sup> ed.). <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.books.9780890425596</u>
- Antle, B. F., Karam, E., Christensen, D. N., Barbee, A. P., & Bibhuti, K. S. (2011). An evaluation of healthy relationship education to reduce intimate partner violence. *Journal* of Family Social Work, 14, 387-406. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10522158.2011.616482</u>
- Antle, B., Sar, B., Christensen, D., Karam, E., Ellers, F., Barbee, A., & van Zyl, M. (2013). The impact of the Within My Reach relationship training on relationship skills and outcomes for low-income individuals. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy, 39*, 346-357. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-0606.2012.00314.x

- Arnold, L. S., & Beelmann, A. (2019). The effects of relationship education in low-income couples: A meta-analysis of randomized-controlled evaluation studies. *Family Relations*, 68, 22-38. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/fare.12325</u>
- Aviram, I., & Amichai-Hamburger, Y. (2017). Online infidelity: Aspects of dyadic satisfaction, self-disclosure, and narcissism. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 10. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1083-6101-2005.tb00249.x

Bandura, A. (1977). Social learning theory. Prentice-Hall.

- Bandura, A., Ross, D., & Ross, S. A. (1961). Transmission of aggression through imitation of aggressive models. *Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology*, 63, 575-582. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/h0045925
- Bandura, A., Ross, D., & Ross, S. A. (1963). Vicarious reinforcement and imitative learning. Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology, 67, 601-607. http://dx.doi.10.1037/h0045550
- Baptist, J. A., Thopson, D. E., Norton, A M., Hardy, N. R., & Link, C. D. (2012). The effects of intergenerational transmission of family emotional responses on conflict styles: The moderating role of attachment. *The American Journal of Family Therapy, 40,* 56-73. https://doi.org/10.1080/01926187.2011.575030
- Barnes, S., Brown, K. W., Krusemark, E., Campbell, W. K., & Rogge, R. D. (2007). The role of mindfulness in romantic relationship satisfaction and responses to relationship stress. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 33, 482-500. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-0606.2007.00033.x</u>

- Bartholomew, K., & Horoqitz, L. M. (1991). Attachment styles among young adults: A test of a four-category model. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *61*, 226-244. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.61.2.226</u>
- Bartz, J. A., & Lyndon, J. E. (2004). Close relationships and the working self-concept: Implicit and explicit effects of priming attachment on agency and communion. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 30,* 1389-1401. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167204264245</u>
- Beach, S. R. H., Hurt, T. R., Franklin, K. J., Fincham, F. D., NcMair, L. M., & Stanley, S. M. (2011). Enhancing marital enrichment through spirituality: Efficacy data for prayer focused relationship enhancement. *Psychology of Religion and Spirituality, 3*, 201-216. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0022207
- Bernstein, E. M., & Putnam, F. W. (1986). Development, reliability, and validity of a dissociation scale. *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 174, 727-735. http://dx.doi.10.1097/00005053-198612000-00004
- Bickham, N. L., & Fiese, B. H. (1997). Extension of the children's perceptions of interparental conflict scale for use with late adolescents. *Journal of Family Psychology, 2*, 246-250.
- Bishop, S. R., Lau, M., Shapiro, S., Carlson, L., Anderson, N. D., Carmody, J., Segal, Z. V., Abbey, S., Speca, M., Velting, D., & Devins, G. (2004). Mindfulness: A proposed operational definition. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice*, 11, 230-241. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/clipsy.bph077</u>
- Blanchard, V. L., Hawkings, A. J., Baldwin, S. A., & Fawcett, E. B. (2009). Investigating the effects of marriage and relationship education on couples' communication skills: A meta-analytic study. *Journal of Family Psychology, 23,* 203-214.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/s15211">https://doi.org/10.1037/s15211</a>

Bowlby, J. (1969). Attachment and loss: Vol. 1 Attachment. Basic Books.

- Bowlby, J. (1982). Attachment and loss; Retrospect and prospect. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 52, 644-678. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1939-0025.1982.tb01456.x</u>
- Bowlby, J. (1988). Developmental psychiatry comes of age. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 145, 1-10. http://dx.doi.org/10.1176/ajp.145.1.1
- Bradbury, T. N., Fincham, F. D., & Beach, S. R. H. (2000). Research on the nature and determinants of marital satisfaction: A decade in review. *Journal of Marriage and Family Therapy*, 62, 964-980. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3737.2000.00964.x</u>
- Braithwaite, S. R., Doxey, R. A., Dowdle, K. K., & Fincham, F. D. (2016). The unique influences of parental divorce and parental conflict on emerging adults in romantic relationships. *Journal of Adolescent Development, 23,* 204-225.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10804-016-9237-6

- Braithwaite, S. R., & Fincham, F. D. (2014). Computer-based prevention of intimate partner violence. *Behaviour, Research, and Therapy, 54*, 12-21. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2013.12.006
- Brantley, J. (2005). Mindfulness-based stress reduction. In S. M. Orsillo & L. Roemer (Eds.) Acceptance and mindfulness-based approaches to anxiety: Conceptualization and treatment (pp. 131-146). Springer.
- Brennan, K., A., Clark, C. L., & Shaver, P. R. (1998). Self-report measurement of adult attachment: An integrative overview. In J. A. Simpson & W. S. Rholes (Eds.), *Attachment theory and close relationships* (pp. 46-76). Guilford Press.

- Brennan, K. A., & Shaver, P. R. (1995). Dimensions of adult attachment, affect regulation, and romantic relationship functioning. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 21,* 267-283. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/01467295213008</u>
- Brown, K. W., & Ryan, M. R. (2003). The benefits of being present: Mindfulness and its role in psychological well-being. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 84, 822-848. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/022-3514.84.4.822</u>
- Brown, K. W., Ryan, M. R., Creswell, J. D., & Niemiec, C. P. (2008). Beyond me: Mindful responses to social threat. In H. A. Wayment & J. J. Bauer (Eds.), *Decade of behavior: Transcending self-interest: Psychological explorations of the quiet ego* (pp. 75-84). American Psychological Association.
- Burr, B. K., Kuns, J. B., Bertram, A. G., & Cottle, N. R. (2016). Incorporating relationship education into a college class on marriage. *Family Science Review*, *21*, 23-41.
- Campbell, L., Simpson, J. A., Boldry, J., & Kashy, D. A. (2005). Perceptions of conflict and support in romantic relationships: The role of attachment anxiety. *Journal of Personality* and Social Psychology, 88, 510-531. <u>http://doi.org/10.1037/002-351488.3.510</u>
- Capaldi, D. M., & Gordman-Smith, D. (2003). The development of aggression in young male/female couples. In P. Florsheim (Ed.) Adolescent romantic relations and sexual behavior: Theory, research, and practical implications (pp. 243-278). Erlbaum.
- Carson, J. W., Carson, K. M., Gil, K. M., & Baucom, D. H. (2004). Mindfulness-based relationship enhancement. *Behavior Therapy*, 35, 471-494. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0005-7894(04)80028-5</u>
- Carson, J. W., Carson, K. M., Gil, K. M., & Baucom, D. H. (2006). Mindfulness-based relationship enhancement (MBRE) in couples. In R. A. Baer (Ed.) *Mindfulness-based*

*treatment approaches: Clinician's guide to evidence base and applications* (pp. 309-332). Elsevier.

Choi, H., & Marks, N. F. (2008). Marital conflict, depressive symptoms, and functional impairment. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 70, 377-390. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3737.2008.00488.x

- Christensen, A., & Shenk, J. L. (1991). Communication, conflict, and psychological distance in nondistressed, clinic, and divorcing couples. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 59, 458-463. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.59.3.458</u>
- Classen, C. C., Palesh, O. G, & Aggarwal, R. (2005). Sexual revictimization: A review of the empirical literature. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 6*, 103-129. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838005275987</u>
- Coie, J. D., Watt, N. F., West, S. G., Hawkins, J. D., Asarnow, J. R., Markman, H. J., Ramey, S. L., Shure, M. B., & Long, B. (1993). The science of prevention. A conceptual framework and some directions for a national research program. *American Psychologist, 48,* 1013-1022.
- Commerford, J., & Hunter, C. (2016). Marriage and relationship education: Recent research findings. *Family Matters*, *97*, 55-66.
- Conger, R. D., Cui, M., Bryant, C. M., & Elder, G. H., Jr. (2000). Competence in early adult romantic relationships: A developmental perspective on family influences. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 79, 224-237. <u>https://doi.org/10.1047//0022-154.79.2.224</u>

- Cornelius, T. L., Shorey, R. C., & Beebe, S. M. (2010). Self-reported communication variables and dating violence: Using Gottman's marital communication conceptualization. *Journal* of Family Violence, 24, 439-448. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-010-9305-9</u>
- Cottle, N. R., Thompson, A. K., Burr, B. K., & Hubler, D. S. (2014). The effectiveness of relationship education in the college classroom. *Journal of Couple and Relationship Therapy*, 13, 267-283. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15332691.2014.956357</u>
- Cowan, P. A., & Cowan, C. P. (2014). Controversies in couple relationship education (CRE):
   Overlooked evidence and implications for research and policy. *Psychology, Public Policy, and Law (20),* 361-383. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/law0000025</u>
- Craig, M. E., Robyak, J., Torosian, E. J., & Hummer, J. (2006). A study of male veterans' beliefs forwards domestic violence in a betterers intervention program. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence, 21,* 1111-1128. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260506294018
- Crowne, D. P., & Marlowe, D. (1960). A new scale of social desirability independent of psychopathology. *Journal of Consulting Psychology*, 24, 349-354. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/h0047358</u>
- Cui, M., Durtschi, J. A., Donnellan, M. B., Lorenz, F. O., & Conger, R. D. (2010).
   Intergenerational transmission of relationship aggression: A prospective longitudinal study. *Journal of Family Psychology, 24*, 688-697. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0021675</u>
- Cui, M., & Fincham, F. D. (2010). The differential effects of parental divorce and marital conflict on young adult romantic relationships. *Personal Relationships*, 17, 331-343. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-6811.2010.01279.x</u>

- Cui, M., Fincham, F. D., & Pasley, B. K. (2008). Young adult romantic relationships: The role of parents' marital problems and relationship efficacy. *Personality and Social Psychology, Bulletin, 34*, 1226-1235. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/014616708319693</u>
- Cusimano, A. M. & Riggs, S. A. (2013). Perceptions of interparental conflict, romantic attachment, and psychological distress in college students. *Couple and Family Psychology: Research and Practice, 2.* 45-59. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0031657</u>
- Cummings, E. M., Gocke-Morey, M. C., & Papp, L. M. (2003). Children's responses to everyday marital conflict tactics in the home. *Child Development*, 74, 1918-1929. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1467-8624.2003.00646.x</u>
- Dainton, M., & Gross, J. (2008). The use of negative behaviors to maintain relationships. *Communication Research Reports, 25,* 179-191. https://doi.org/10.1080/08824090802237600
- Davies, P. T., Sturge-Apple, M. L., Cicchetti, D., & Cummings, E. M. (2008). Adrenocortical underpinnings of children's psychological reactivity to interparental conflict. *Child Development*, 79, 1693-1706. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2008.01219.x</u>
- Deniz, M. E. (2011). An investigation of decision-making styles and the five-factor personality traits with respect to attachment styles. *Kuram ve Uygulamada Eqitim Bilimleri*, *11*, 105-113.
- DePrince, A. P. (2005). Social cognition and revictimization risk. *Journal of Trauma and Dissociation, 6*, 125-141. <u>https://doi.org/10.1300/J229v006n01\_08</u>
- DePrince, A. P, Brown, L. S., Cheit, R. E., Freyd, J. J., Gold, S. N., Pezdek, K., & Quina, K. (2012). Motivated forgetting and misremembering: Perspectives from betrayal trauma theory. In *True and false recovered memories* (pp. 193-242). Springer.

- Diseth, T. H. (2005). Dissociation in children and adolescents as reaction to trauma an overview of conceptual issues and neurobiological factors. *Nordic Journal of Psychiatry*, 59, 79-91. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/2039480510022963</u>
- Dorahy, M. J. (2010). The impact of dissociation, shame, and guilt on interpersonal relationships in chronically traumatized individuals: A pilot study. *Journal of Traumatic Stress, 23*, 653-656. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.20564</u>
- Dorahy, M. J., Corry, M., Shannon, M., Webb, K., McDermott, B., Ryan, M., & Dyer, K. F. W. (2013). Complex trauma and intimate relationships: The impact of shame, guilt and dissociation. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 147, 72-29.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2012.10.010

- Dorahy, M. J., Middleton, W., Seager, L., McGurrin, P., Williams, M., & Chambers, R. (2015).
   Dissociation, shame, complex PTSD, child maltreatment and intimate relationship selfconcept in dissociative disorder, chronic PTSD and mixed psychiatric groups. *Journal of Affective Disorder, 172,* 195-203. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016.j.jad.2014.10.008</u>
- Dunlap, E., Golub, A., Johnson, B. D., & Benoit, E. (2009). Normalization of violence:
   Experiences of childhood abuse by inner-city crack users. *Journal of Ethnicity in Substance Abuse, 8*, 15-34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15332640802683359</u>
- Ehrensaft, M. K, Cohen, P., Brown, J., Smailes, E., Chen, H., & Johnson, J. G. (2003).
  Intergenerational transmission of partner violence: A 20-year prospective study. *Journal* of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 71, 741-753. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.71.4.741</u>

- Ehrensaft, M. K., Knous-Westfall, H. M., & Cohen, P. (2011). Direct and indirect transmission of relationship functioning across generations. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 25, 942-952. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0025606</u>
- Einhorn, L., Williams, T., Stanley, S., Wunderlin, N., Markman, H., & Eason, J. (2008). PREP inside and out: Marriage education for inmates. *Family Process*, 47, 341-356. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1545-5300.2008.00257.x</u>
- Eisinga, R., Grotenhuis, M., & Pelzer, B. (2013). The reliability of a two-item scale: Pearson, Cronbach, or Spearman-Brown? *International Journal of Public Health*, *58*, *637-642*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00038-012-0416-3</u>
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A. G., & Buchner, A. (2007). G\*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behavior Research Methods*, 39, 175-191. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03193146</u>
- Feeney, J. A., & Noller, P. (1990). Attachment style as a predictor of adult romantic relationships. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *58*, 281-291.
- Fincham, F. D., & Beach, S. R. H. (2010). Marriage in a new millennium: A decade in review. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 72, 630-649. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j/1741-</u> 3737.2010.00722.x
- Fincham, F. D., Cui, M., Braithwaite, S., & Palsey, K. (2008). Attitudes toward intimate partner violence in dating relationships. *Psychological Assessment*, 20, 260-260. <u>https://doi.org/10/1037/1040-3590.20.3.260</u>
- Fowler, C., & Dillow, M. R. (2011). Attachment dimensions and the four horsemen of the apocalypse. *Communication Research Reports*, 27, 16-26. https://doi.org/10.1080.08824096.2010.518910

- Freyd, J. J. (1994). Betrayal trauma: Traumatic amnesia as an adaptive response to childhood abuse. *Ethics and Behavior*, 4, 307-329. <u>http://dx/doi.org/10.1207/s15327019eb0404\_1</u>
- Freyd, J. J., Klest, B., & Allard, C. B. (2005). Betrayal trauma: Relationship to physical health, psychological distress and a written disclosure intervention. *Journal of Trauma and Dissociation*, ,83-104. <u>https://doi.org/10.1300/J22v06n03\_04</u>
- Friese, M., & Hofmann, W. (2016). State mindfulness, self-regulation, and emotional experience in everyday life. *Motivation Science*, 2, 1-14. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/mot0000027</u>
- Gambrel, L. E., & Keeling, M. L. (2010). Relational aspects of mindfulness: Implications for the practice of marriage and family therapy. *Contemporary Family Therapy*, 32, 412-426. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10591-010-9129-z</u>
- Gambrel, L. E., & Piercy, F. P. (2015). Mindfulness-based relationship education for couples expecting their first child-Part 2: Phenomenological findings. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 41, 25-41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jmft.1.2065</u>
- Garland, E. L., & Howard, M. O. (2009). Neuroplasticity, psychosocial genomics, and the biopsychosocial paradigm in the 21<sup>st</sup> century. *Health and Social Work, 34*, 191-199. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/hsw/34.3.191</u>
- Gillath, O., Selcuk, E., & Shaver, P. R. (2008). Moving toward a secure attachment style: Can repeated security priming help? *Social and Personality Psychology Compass, 2,* 1651-1666. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-9004.2008.00120.x</u>
- Gobin, R. L., & Freyd, J. J. (2009). Betrayal and revictimization: Preliminary findings.
   *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy, 1*, 242-257.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1037/a0017469">https://doi.org/10.1037/a0017469</a>

- Goldberg, L. R., & Freyd, J. J. (2006). Self-reports of potentially traumatic experiences in an adult community sample: Gender differences and test-retest stabilities of the items in a brief betrayal-trauma survey. *Journal of Trauma and Dissociation*, *7*, 39-63.
  https://doi.org/10,1300/J229v07n03\_04
- Goldsmith, R. E., Freyd, J. J., & DePrince, A. P. (2012). Betrayal trauma: Associations with psychological and physical symptoms in young adults. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 27, 547-467. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260511421672</u>
- Gottman, J. M. (1994). What predicts divorce?: The relationship between marital processes and marital outcomes. Erlbaum.
- Gottman, J. M., Coan, J., Carrere, S., & Swanson, C. (1998). Predicting marital happiness and stability from newlywed interactions. *Journal of Marriage and the Family, 60,* 5-22. <u>http://dx/doi.org/10.2307/353438</u>
- Gottman, J. S., & Gottman, J. M. (2015). 10 principles for doing effective couples therapy. W.W. Norton & Company.
- Gottman, J. M., & Levenson, R. W. (2000). The timing of divorce: Predicting when a couple will divorce over a 14-year period. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 62, 737-735. http://dx/doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3737.2000.00737.x
- Gottman, J. M., McCoy, K., Coan, J., & Collier, H. (1995). *The Specific Affect Coding System* (SPAFF) for observing emotional communication in marital and family interaction. Erlbaum.
- Grych, J. H., & Fincham, F. D. (1990). Marital conflict and children's adjustment: A cognitivecontextual framework. *Psychological Bulletin*, 108, 267-290. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.108.2.267

- Grych, J. H., & Fincham, F. D. (1993). Children's appraisals of marital conflict: Initial investigations of the cognitive-contextual framework. *Child Development*, 64, 215-230. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j/1467-8624.1993.tb02905.x</u>
- Grych, J. H., Fincham, F. D. Jouriles, E. N., & McDonald, R. (2000). Interparental conflict and child adjustment: Testing the mediational role of appraisals in the cognitive-contextual framework. *Child Development*, 71, 1648-1661. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.00255</u>
- Grych, J. H., Seid, M., & Fincham, F. D. (1992). Assessing marital conflict from the child's perspective: The children's perception of interparental conflict scale. *Child Development*, 63, 558-572. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.1991.tb01646.x</u>
- Guterman, N. B., & Cameron, M. (1997). Assessing the impact of community violence on children and youths. *Social Work, 42,* 495-505. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/sw/42.5.495</u>
- Hadden, B. W., Smith, C. V., & Webster, G. D. (2014). Relationship duration moderates associations between attachment and relationship quality: Meta-analytic support for the temporal adult romantic attachment model. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 18, 42-58. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1088868313501885</u>
- Halford, W. K., & Bodenmann, G. (2013). Effects of relationship education on maintenance of couple relationship satisfaction. *Clinical Psychological Review*, 33, 512-525. <u>http://dx.doi/10.1016/j.cpr.2013.02.001</u>
- Halford, W. K., Markman, H. J., & Stanley, S. (2008). Strengthening couples' relationships with education: Social policy and public health perspectives. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 22, 497-505. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0012789</u>

- Halford, W. K., & Snyder, D. K. (2012). Universal processes and common factors in couple therapy and relationship education. *Behaviour Therapy*, 43, 1-12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2011.01.007</u>
- Harms, P. D. (2011). Adult attachment styles in the workplace. *Human Resource Management Review, 21,* 285-296. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hrmr.2010.10.006</u>
- Hawkins, A. J., Blanchard, V. L., Baldwin, S. A., & Fawcett, E. B. (2008). Does marriage and relationship education work? A meta-analytic study. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 76, 723-734. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037//a0012584</u>
- Hawkins, A. J., & Erickson, S. E. (2015). Is couple and relationship education effective for lower income participants? A meta-analytic study. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 29, 59-68. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037fam0000045</u>
- Hawkins, A. J., & Fackrell, T. A. (2010). Does relationship and marriage education work for lower-income couples work? A meta-analytic study of emerging research. *Journal of Couple and Relationship Therapy, 9*, 181-191.

https://doi.org/10.1080/15332691003694927

- Hays, R. D., Hayashi, R., & Stewart, A. L. (1989). A five-item measure of socially desirable response set. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 49, 629-636. https://doi.org/10.1177/001316338904900315
- Hazan, C., & Shaver, P. (1987). Romantic love conceptualized as an attachment process. *Personality and Social Psychology*, 52, 511-524. <u>http://dx/doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.52.3.511</u>
- Hill, C. L. M., & Updegraff, J. A. (2012). Mindfulness and its relationship to emotional regulation. *Emotion*, 12, 81-90. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0026355</u>

- Holland, A. S., & Roisman, G. I. (2010). Adult attachment security and young adults' dating relationships over time: Self-reported, observational, and physiological evidence.
   Developmental Psychology, 552-557. <u>http://dx.doi.10.1037/a0018542</u>
- Holman, T. B., & Jarvis, M. O. (2003). Hostile, volatile, avoiding, and validating couple-conflict types: An investigation of Gottman's couple-conflict types. *Personal Relationships*, 10, 267-282. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6811.00049</u>
- Holt, L. J., Mattanah, J. F., Schmidt, C. K., Daks, J. S., Brophy, E. N., Minnarr, P. Y., Rorer, K. (2016). Effects of relationship education on emerging adults' relationship beliefs and behaviors. *Personal Relationships, 23,* 723-741. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/pere.12147</u>
- Iverson, K. M., Litwack, S. D., Pineles, S. L., Suvack, M. K., Vaughn, R. A., & Resick, P. A. (2013). Predictors of intimate partner violence revictimization: The relative impact of distinct PTSD symptoms, dissociation, and coping strategies. *Journal of Traumatic Stress, 26*, 102-110. <u>https://doi.org/10.1300/J229v06n01\_08</u>
- Jensen, M. S., Yao, R., Street, W. N., & Simons, D. J. (2011). Change blindness and inattentional bias. *Cognitive Science*, *2*, 529-546. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/wcs.130</u>
- Julien, D., Chartrand, E., Simard, M., Bouthillies, D., & Begin, J. (2003). Conflict, social support, and relationship quality: An observational study of heterosexual, gay male, and lesbian couples' communication. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 17, 419-428. https://doi.org/10.1037/0893-3200.17.3.419
- Kang, H. (2013). The prevention and handling of the missing data. *Korean Journal of Anesthesiology*, *64*, 402-406 https://doi.org/10.4097/kjae.2013.64.5.402

Karelaia, N., & Reb, J. (2015). Improving decision making through mindfulness. In J. Reb & P.W. B. Atkins (eds.), *Mindfulness in organizations: Foundations, research, and applications*. Cambridge University Press.

- Karreman, A., & Vingerhoets, J. J. M. (2012). Attachment and well-being: The mediating role of emotion regulation and resilience. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 52, 821-826. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2012.06.014</u>
- Kiecolt-Glaser, J. K., & Newton, T. L. (2001). Marriage and health: His and hers. *Psychological Bulletin, 127,* 472-503. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.127.4.472</u>
- Kiken, L. G., Garland, E. L., Bluth, K., Palsson, O. S, & Gaylord, S. A. (2015). From a state to a trait: Trajectories of state mindfulness in meditation during intervention predict changes in trait mindfulness. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 81, 41-46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid,2014.12.004
- Kinsfogel, K. M., & Grych, J. H. (2004). Interparental conflict and adolescent dating relationships: Integrating cognitive, emotional, and peer influences. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 18, 505-515. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0893-320.18.3.505</u>
- Kozlowski, A. (2013). Mindful mating: Exploring the connection between mindfulness and relationship satisfaction. *Sexual and Relationship Therapy*, 28, 92-104. https://doi.org/10.1080/14681994.2012.748889
- Krumpal, I. (2013). Determinants of social desirability bias in sensitive surveys: A literature review. *Quality and Quantity, 47,* 2025-2047. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s1135-011-9640-9</u>
- Laurent, H. K., Hertz, R., Nelson, B., & Laurent, S. M. (2016). Mindfulness during romantic conflict moderates the impact of negative partner behaviors on cortisol responses. *Hormones and Behavior*, 79, 45-51. <u>https://doi.org10.1016/j.ybej.2016.01.005</u>

- Lehnart, J., Neyer, F. J., & Eccles, J. (2010). Long-term effects of social investment: The case of partnering in young adulthood. *Journal of Personality*, 78, 636-669 <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.2010.00629.x</u>
- Lee, J. H., & Lee, J. H. (2012). Attentional bias to violent images in survivors of dating violence. *Cognition and Emotion, 26,* 1124-1133. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02699931.2011.638906</u>

Lee J. H., & Lee, J. H. (2014). Attentional bias towards emotional facial expressions in survivors of dating violence, *Cognition and Emotion*, 28, 1127-1136. https://doi.org/10.1080/02699931.2013.867834

 Li, T., & Chan, D. K. (2012). How anxious and avoidant attachment affect romantic relationship quality differently: A meta-analytic review. *European Journal of Social Psychology, 42,* 406-419. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ejsp.1842</u>

Lucas-Thompson, R. G., Dumitrache, A., & Sparks, A. Q. (2017). Appraisals of interparental conflict and change in attention emotion after exposure to marital conflict. *Journal of Child and Family Studies, 26,* 2175-2181. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-017-0721-9</u>

Lucas-Thompson, R. G., & Hostinar, C. E. (2013). Family income and appraisals of parental conflict as predictors of psychological adjustment and diurnal cortisol in emerging adults. *Journal of Family Psychology, 27,* 784-794. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0034373</u>Mack, A., & Rock, I. (1998). *Inattentional blindness*. MIT Press.

MacKillop, J., & Anderson, E. J. (2007). Further psychometric validation of the mindful attention awareness scale (MAAS). *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment, 29, 289-293.* <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10862-007-9045-1</u>

- Maier, M. A., Bernier, A., Pekrun, R., Zimmermann, P., & Grossman, K. E. (2004). Attachment working models as unconscious structures: An experimental test. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 28, 180-189. httpps://doi.org/10.1080/01650250344000398
- Markman, H. J., Floyd, F. J., Stanley, S. M., & Storaasli, R. D. (1988). Prevention of marital distress: A longitudinal investigation. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Pyschology*, 56, 2, 210-217. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.56.2.210</u>
- Markman, H. J., Stanley, S., & Blumberg, S. L. (1994). *Fighting for your marriage: Positive steps for preventing divorce and preserving a lasting love.* Jossey-Bass.
- Markman, H. J., & Rhoades, G. K. (2012). Relationship education research: Current status and future directions. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 38, 169-200. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-0606.2011.00237.x</u>
- Markman, H. J., Rhoades, G. K., Delaney, R., White, L., & Pacific, C. (2009). Extending the reach of research-based couples interventions: The role of relationship education. In K. Halweg, M. Grawe, & D. H. Baucom (Eds.), *Enhancing couples: The shape of couple therapy to come*. Hogrefe.
- McCoy, D. C., Raver, C. C., & Sharkey, P. (2015). Children's cognitive performance and selective attention following recent community violence. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior, 56*, 19-36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0022146514567576</u>
- Markman, H.J., Rhoades, G. K., Stanley, S. M., & Ragan, E. P. (2010). The premarital communication roots of marital distress and divorce: The first five years of marriage. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 24, 289-298. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0019481</u>
- Mesmer-Magnus, J., Manapragada, A., Viswesvaran, C., & Allen, J. W. (2017). Trait mindfulness at work: A meta-analysis of the personal and professional correlates of trait

mindfulness. Human Performance, 30, 79-98.

https://doi.org/10.1080/08959285.2017.1307842

- Mickelson, K. D., & Kessler, R. C. (1997). Adult attachment in a nationally representative sample. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 73, 1092-1106. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514735092
- Moura, O., dos Santos, R. A., Rocha, M., & Matos, P. M. (2010). Children's perception of interparental conflict scale (CPIC): Factor structure and invariance across adolescents and emerging adults. *International Journal of Testing*, 10, 364-382. d https://doi.org/10.1080/15308058.2010.487964
- Nederhof, A. J. (1985). Methods of coping with social desirability bias. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 15, 263-280. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ejsp.2420150303</u>
- Neisser, U. (1979). The control of information pickup in selective looking. In A. D. Pick (Ed.)
   Perceptions and its Development: A Tribute to Eleanor J. Gibson (pp 201-219).
   Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Nishith, P., Mechanic, M. B., & Resick, P. A. (2010). Prior interpersonal trauma: The contribution to current PTSD symptoms in female rape victims. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 109, 20-25. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-843X.109.1.20
- Norman, L., Lawrence, N., Iles, A., Benattayallah, A., & Karl, A. (2015). Attachment-security priming attenuates amygdala activation to social and linguistic threat. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, *10*, 832-839. https://doi.org/102093/scan/nsu127
- Olmstead, S. B., Pasley, K., & Fincham, F. D. (2013). Hooking up and penetrative Hookups: Correlates that differentiate college men. *Archives of Sexual Behavior*, *42*, 573-583. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-012-9907-9</u>

- Ostafin, B. D., & Kassman, K. T. (2012). Stepping out of history: Mindfulness improves insight problem solving. *Consciousness and Cognition, 21,* 1031-1036. <u>http://dx/doi.org/10.1016/j.concog.2012.02.014</u>
- Owen, J., Antle, B., & Barbee, A. (2013). Alliance and group cohesion in relationship education. *Family Process, 52,* 465-476. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/famp.12039</u>
- Owen, J., Chapman, L. K., Quirk, K., Inch, L. J., France, T., & Bergen, C. (2012). Processes of change in relationship education for lower-income African American couples. *Journal of Couple and Relationship Therapy*, 11, 51-68.

https://doi.org.1080/15332691.2012.639704

- Owen, J., Quirk, K., & Manthos, M. (2012). I get no respect: The relationship between betrayal trauma and romantic relationship functioning. *Journal of Trauma and Dissociation*, 13, 175-189. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/15299732.2012.642760</u>
- Paulhus, D. L. (1984). Two-component models of socially desirable responding. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 46, 598-609. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.46.3.598</u>
- Pearson, M., Stanley, S. M., & Rhoades, G. K. (2008) *Within My Reach instructor manual*. PREP, Inc.
- Peplau, L. A., & Fingerhut, A. W. (2006). The close relationships of lesbians and gay men. Annual Review of Psychology, 58, 405-424. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.58.110405.085701</u>
- Plattner, B., Silbermann, M. A., Redlich, A. D., Carrion, V. G., Feucht, M., Friedrich, M. H., & Stiener, H. (2003). Pathways to dissociation: Intrafamilial versus extrafamilial trauma in

juvenile delinquents. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease, 191,* 781-788. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.nmd.0000105372.88982.54

- Proulx, C. M., Helms, H. M., & Buehler, C. (2007). Marital quality and personal well-being: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 69, 576-596. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3737.2007.00393.x
- Quirk, K., Weingstein, M., Smith, A. D., Owen, J., & Fincham, F. D. (2020). Awareness of Romantic Relationship Danger Signs: Measurement, Validity, and Findings. Colorado State University, Fort Collins, CO: Unpublished manuscript.
- Quirk, K., Strokoff, J., Owen, J. J., France, T., & Bergen, C. (2014). Relationship education in community settings: Effectiveness with distressed and non-distressed low-income racial minority couples. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 40, 442-453. https://doi.org/10.1111/jmft.12080
- Reese-Weber, M., & Hesson-McInnis, M. (2008). The children's perception of interparental conflict scale: Comparing factor structures between developmental periods. *Educational* and Psychological Measurement, 68, 1008-1023.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0013164408318765

Ren, J., Huang, Z. H., Wei, G. X., Ying, X. P., Ding, Z. G., Wu, Y. B., & Lyo, F. (2011). Meditation promotes insightful problem-solving by keeping people in a mindful and alert conscious state. *Science China: Life Sciences, 54*, 961-965.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s11427-001-7233-3

Rensink, R. A., O'Regan, J. O., & Clark, J. J. (1997). To see or not to see: The need for attention to perceive changes in scenes. *Psychosocial Science*, *8*, 368-373. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9280.1997.tb0427.x

- Reynolds, W. M. (1982). Development of reliable and valid short forms of the Marlowe-Crowne social desirability scale. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 38, 119-125. https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-4679(198201)38:1<119::AID-JCLP2270380118>3.0.CO;2-
- Rhoades, G. K., & Stanley, S. M. (2011). Using individual-oriented relationship education to prevent family violence. *Journal of Couple and Relationship Therapy*, 10, 185-200. https://doi.org/10.1080/15332691.2011.562844
- Rhoades, G. K., Stanley, S. M., Markman, H. J., & Ragan, E. P. (2012). Parents' marital status, conflict, and role modeling: Links with adult romantic relationship quality. *Journal of Divorce and Remarriage, 53*, 348-367. <u>https://doi.10.1080/10502556.2012.675838</u>
- Robles, T. F., & Kiecolt-Glaser, J. K (2003). The physiology of marriage: Pathways to health. *Physiology and Behavior*, *79*, 409-416. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0031-9384(03)00160-4</u>
- Robles, T. F., Slatcher, R. B., Trombello, J. T., & McGinn, M. M. (2014). Marital quality and health: A meta-analytic review. *Psychological Bulletin*, 140, 140-187. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0031859</u>
- Sabourin, S., Valois, P., Lussier, Y. (2005). Development and validation of a brief version of the dyadic adjustment scale with a nonparametric item analysis model. *Psychological Assessment, 17,* 15-27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/1040-3590.17.1.15</u>
- Sackeim, H. A., & Gur, R. C. (1979). Self-deception, other-deception, and self-reported psychopathology. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 47, 213-215. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.47.1.213</u>
- Saiz, C. C., & Jenkins, N. (1996). *The communication skills test*. University of Denver, Denver, CO: Unpublished measure.

- Sandberg, D. A., Lynn, S. J., & Matorin, A. I. (2001). Information processing of an acquaintance rape scenario among high- and low- dissociating college women. *Journal of Traumatic Stress, 14,* 585-603. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1023/A:10.11168808683</u>
- Saunders, D. G. (1991). Procedures for adjusting self-reports of violence for social desirability bias. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 6, 336-344. https://doi.org/10.1177/088626091006003006
- Seelau, E. P., Seelau, S. M., Poorman, P. B. (2003). Gender and role-based perceptions of domestic abuse: Does sexual orientation matter? *Behavioral Sciences and Law, 21*, 199-214. http://doi.org/10.1002/bsl.524
- Segrin, C., Hanzal, A., & Domschke, T. J. (2009). Accuracy and bias in newlywed couples' perceptions of conflict styles and the association with marital satisfaction. *Communication Monographs*, 76, 207-233. https://doi.org/10.1080/036377509028282404
- Seiter, N., Lucas-Thompson, R. G., & Prince, M. A. (2019). Testing the psychometric properties of the mindful partnering questionnaire. Colorado State University, Fort Collins, CO: Unpublished manuscript.
- Shackman, J. E., Shackman, A. J., & Pollak, S. D. (2007). Physical abuse amplifies attention to threat and increases anxiety in children. *Emotion*, 7, 838-852.

https://doi.org/10.1037/1528-3542.7.4.838

Shaver, P. R., & Mikulincer, M. (2009). An overview of adult attachment theory. In J. H. Obegi& E. Berant (Eds.), *Attachment theory and research in clinical work with adults*. Guilford Press.

- Shelton, K. H., & Harold, G. T. (2008). Pathways between interparental conflict and adolescent psychological adjustment. *Journal of Early Adolescence*, 28, 555-582. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0272431608317610</u>
- Shi, L. (2003). The association between adult attachment styles and conflict resolution in romantic relationships. *American Journal of Family Therapy*, 31, 132-157. https://doi.org/10.1080/01926180301120
- Siegel, R. D., Germer, C. K., & Olendzki, A. (2009). Mindfulness: What is it? Where did it come from? In F. Didonna (ed.), *Clinical handbook of mindfulness* (pp. 17-35) Springer.
- Simon, V. A., & Furman, W. (2010). Interparental conflict and adolescents' romantic relationship conflict. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*. 29, 188-209. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-7795.2009.00635.x</u>
- Simons, D. J., & Chabris, C. F. (1999). Gorillas in our midst: Sustained inattentional blindness for dynamic events. *Perception*, 28, 1059-1074 <u>https://doi.org/10.1068/p281059</u>
- Simons, D. J., & Levin, D. T. (1998). Failure to detect changes to people in real-world interaction. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03208840</u>
- Simpson, D. M., Leonhardt, N. D., & Hawkins, A. J. (2018). Learning about love: A metaanalytic study of individually-oriented relationship education programs for adolescents and emerging adults. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence, 47,* 477-489. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-017-0725-1

Simpson, J. A. (1990). Influence of attachment styles on romantic relationships. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 59, 971-980. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.59.5.071</u>

- Smith, S. G., Chen, J., Basile, K. C., Gilbert, L. K., Merrick, M. T., Patel, N., Walling, M., & Jain, A. (2017). *The National Intimate Partner and Sexual Violence Survey (NISVS):* 2010-2012 state report. National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.
- Sommer, J., Iyican, S., & Babcock, J. (2019). The relation between contempt, anger, and intimate partner violence: A dyadic approach. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence, 34*, 3059-3079. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260516665107
- Sparks, A. (2008). Implementation of 'Within My Reach': Providing a relationship awareness and communication skills program to TANF recipients in Oklahoma. National Poverty Center Working Paper Series #08-11. Retrieved from http://www.npc.umich.edu/publications/working\_papers/
- Stanley, S. M., Allen, E. S., Markman, H. J., Saiz, C. C., Bloomstrom, G., Thomas, R., Schumm,
  W. R., & Bailey, A. E. (2005). Dissemination and evaluation of marriage education in the
  Army. *Family Process*, 44, 187-201. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1545-530.2005.00053.x</u>
- Stanley, S. M., Allen, E. S., Markman, H. J., & Rhoades, G. K. (2010). Decreasing divorce in Arm couples: Results from controlled trial using PREP for Strong Bonds. *Journal of Couple and Relationship Therapy*, 9, 149-160.

https://doi.org/10.1080/15332691003694901

- Stanley, S. M., Carlson, R. G., Rhoades, G. K., Markman, H. J., Ritchie, L. L., & Hawkins, A. J. (2019). Best practices in relationship education focused on intimate relationships. *Family Relations*, 1-23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/fare.12419</u>
- Stanley, S. M., & Markman, H. J. (1997). *Marriage in the 90s: A nationwide random phone survey*. PREP.

- Stanley, S. M., Markman, H. J., & Whitton, S. W. (2004). Communication, conflict, and commitment: Insights on the foundations of relationship success from a national survey. *Family Process*, 41, 659-675. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1545-5300.2002.00659.x</u>
- Stocker, C. M. & Richmond, M. K. (2007). Longitudinal associations between hostility in adolescents' family relationships and friendships and hostility in their romantic relationships. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 21, 490-497. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0893-3200.21.3.490</u>
- Stober, J. (2001). The Social Desirability Scale-17 (SDS-17): Convergent validity, discriminant validity, and relationship with age. *European Journal of Psychological Assessment*, 17, 222-232. <u>https://doi.org/10.1027//1015-5759.17.3.222</u>
- Story, L. B., Karney, B. R., Lawrence, E., & Bradbury, T. N. (2004). Interpersonal mediators in the intergenerational transmission of marital dysfunction. *Journal of Family Psychology*, *18*, 519-529. <u>https://doi.org10.1037/0893-3200.18.3.519</u>
- Strahan, R., & Gerbasi, K. C. (1972). Short, homogeneous versions of the Marlowe-Crowne Social Desirability Scale. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 28, 191-193. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-4679</u>
- Tougas, C., Peloquim, K., & Mondor, J. (2016). Romantic attachment and perception of partner support to explain psychological aggression perpetrated in couples seeking couples therapy. *Couple and Family Psychology: Research and Practice, 5,* 197-211. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/cfr0000068</u>
- Truman, J. L., & Morgan, R. E. (2014). Nonfatal domestic violence, 2003-2012. U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs.

- van IJzendoorn, M. H., & Schuengel, C. (1996). The measurement of dissociation in normal and clinical populations: Meta-analytic validation of the dissociative experiences scale (DES). *Clinical Psychology Review*, 16, 365-382. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0272-7358(96)00006-2</u>
- Vennum, A., & Fincham, F. D. (2011). Assessing decision making in young adult romantic relationships. *Psychological Assessment*, 23, 739-751. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0023287</u>
- Visvanathan, P. D., Richmond, M., Winder, C., & Koenck, C. H. (2014). Individual-oriented relationship education: An evaluation study in community-based settings. *Family Process, 54*, 686-702. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/famp.12116</u>
- Wachs, K., & Cordova, J. V. (2007). Mindful relating: Exploring mindfulness and emotion repertoires in intimate relationships. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 4, 464-481. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-0606.2007.00032.x</u>
- Wadsworth, M. E., & Markman, H. J. (2012). Where's the action? Understanding what works and why in relationship education. *Behavior Therapy*, 43, 99-12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.betj.2011.01.006</u>
- Wei, M., Russel, D. W., Mallinckrodt, B., & Vogel, D. L. (2007). The experiences in close relationships scale (ECR)-short form: Reliability, validity, and factor structure. *Journal of Personality Assessment, 88,* 187-204. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00223890701268041</u>
- Whitton, S. W., Waldinger, R. J., Schulz, M. S., Allen, J. P., Crowell, J. A., & Hauser, S. T. (2008). Prospective associations from family-of-origin interactions to adult marital interactions and relationship adjustment. *Journal of Family Psychology, 22*, 274-286. https://doi.org/10.1037/0893-3200.22.2.274

- Wieland, S. (2015). Dissociation in children and adolescents: What it is, how it presents, and how we can understand it. In S. Wieland (ed.) *Dissociation in traumatized children and adolescents: Theory and clinical interventions* (pp. 1-40). Routledge.
- Williams, C., Richardson, D. S., Hammock, G. S., & Adrian, S. J. (2012). Perceptions of physical and psychological and psychological aggression in close relationships. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 17, 489-494.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2012.06.005

Winstock, Z. (2008). Conflict escalation to violence and escalation of violent conflicts. *Children* and Youth Services Review, 30, 297-310.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2007.10.007

Young, A. M., & Acitelli, L. K. (1998). The role of attachment style and relationship satus of the perceiver in the perceptions of romantic partner. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 15, 161-173. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0265407598152002</u>